
Hamilton County Board of County Commissioners

Commissioner Boyd

AGENDA July 01, 2015

ROLL CALL

INVOCATION -

PLEDGE TO THE FLAG - Commissioner Boyd

Minutes Recessed Meeting - June 10, 2015

Minutes Agenda Session - June 10, 2015

Minutes Regular Meeting - June 17, 2015

Report Trustee Excess Fee Report May 2015

Report Trustee Monthly Report May 2015

Report Juvenile Court Clerk's Report - March and April 2015

Res. No. 715-1 A Resolution to approve and accept applications for notary public positions, the bonds and oaths
of notaries previously elected, the bond of the Superintendent of schools, and the bond of
Deputy Sheriff.

Res. No. 715-2 A Resolution to confirm the appointment by the County Mayor of one member to the Hamilton
County Water & Wastewater Treatment Authority Board of Commissioners for term ending June
2, 2020.

Res. No. 715-3 A Resolution to appoint four (4) members to the Hamilton County Health & Safety Board as
designated herein and for terms as indicated.

Res. No. 715-4 A Resolution to re-appoint four (4) members to the Hamilton County Board of Zoning Appeals as
designated herein and for terms as indicated.

Res. No. 715-5 A Resolution accepting the bids of Sam Tell & Son, Inc., Pasco Brokerage, Inc., Thompson &
Little, Inc. and Calico Industries, Inc. for unit pricing for small kitchen items and equipment for
the East Brainerd Elementary School for the Department of Education and authorizing the
County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 715-6 Resolution Number Not Used

Res. No. 715-7 A Resolution accepting the unit price bid of ABC Promos & Gifts for Primex Wireless Clocks for
the period beginning July 3, 2015 through July 2, 2016, with the option to renew for one (1)
additional one year term, for the Telecommunications Department and to authorize the County
Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 715-8 A Resolution authorizing the County Mayor to sign a lease agreement in the amount of
$9,445.00 annually with Chattanooga Church Ministries, Inc. d.b.a., Chattanooga Community
Kitchen for space for use by Hamilton County, Tennessee, the Health Services Division,
operating as the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health Department’s Homeless Health Care
Center, for the period of January 1, 2015 through December 31, 2015.

Res. No. 715-9 A Resolution authorizing the County Mayor on behalf of Hamilton County Tennessee, the Health
Services Division, operating as the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health Department to
continue an agreement beginning July 1, 2015 and ending June 30, 2016, between Hamilton
County and the Tennessee Department of Human Services to provide Adult Daycare and
Homemaker Services for eligible individuals and families amounting to $338,037.00.

Res. No. 715-10 A Resolution authorizing the County Mayor on behalf of Hamilton County Tennessee, the Health
Services Division, operating as the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health Department to accept
an agreement beginning July 1, 2015 and ending on June 30, 2016, between Hamilton County
and the City of Chattanooga in the amount of $30,000.00 to provide financial assistance to
families and individuals to prevent those families and individuals from becoming homeless.

Res. No. 715-11 A Resolution to authorize the County Mayor to enter into and execute an agreement with S&ME
for geoenvironmental services for inspection and testing necessary for construction of the Dallas
Bay Fire Hall for an amount not to exceed $25,000.00.



Res. No. 715-12 A Resolution to authorize the County Mayor to enter into and execute an agreement with S&ME
for geoenvironmental services for inspection and testing necessary for construction of the
Tri-Community Fire Hall for an amount not to exceed $25,522.00.

Res. No. 715-13 A Resolution to authorize the County Mayor to enter into and execute an agreement with
Moreland Altobelli Associates, Inc. for Construction Engineering Inspection necessary for the
construction of the signalization at Hixson Pike (SR-319) and Thrasher Pike for an amount not to
exceed $13,415.00.

Res. No. 715-14 A Resolution authorizing the County Mayor to enter into and execute an "Offer to Purchase"
relative to Tracts 19-C (revised) and 19-D of the Enterprise South Industrial Park, and
authorizing the County Mayor to execute ancillary easements, a deed, and other necessary
closing documents conveying said property to Gestamp Chattanooga, LLC, or assigns.

Res. No. 715-15 A Resolution to make certain findings relating to the 1400 Chestnut, LLC Project, to delegate
certain authority to the Health, Educational, and Housing Facility Board of the City of
Chattanooga, Tennessee, and to authorize the County Mayor to enter into and execute  an
agreement for payments in lieu of ad valorum taxes.

Res. No. 715-16 A Resolution (I) to make certain findings relating to the expansion of a manufacturing facility
project to be constructed, equipped and operated by Gestamp Chattanooga, LLC ("Gestamp") in
the Enterprise South Industrial Park (The "Project"). (II) To authorize the Mayor to enter into and
execute an agreement for payments in lieu of ad valorem taxes with the Industrial Development
Board of the County of Hamilton, Tennessee (the "Board") and Gestamp and the City of
Chattanooga with respect to the Project (The "Pilot Agreement), and an Amendment to the
existing pilot agreement with Gestamp, and (III) to delegate certain authority to the Board
relating to the Pilot Agreement and Amendment.

Res. No. 715-17 A Resolution (I) to make certain findings relating to the new manufacturing facility project to be
constructed, equipped and operated by a to-be-formed subsidiary of Gestamp North America,
Inc. ("Gestamp Subsidiary") in the Enterprise South Industrial Park (The "Project"), and  (II) to
authorize the Mayor to enter into and execute an agreement for Payments in Lieu of Ad Valorem
Taxes with the Industrial Development Board of the City of Chattanooga (The "Board"), The
Gestamp subsidiary, and the City of Chattanoga, Tennessee with respect to the Project (The
"Pilot Agreement").

ANNOUNCEMENTS

DELEGATIONS ON MATTERS OTHER THAN ZONING

Any invocation that may be offered before the official start of the Commission
meeting shall be the voluntary offering of a private citizen, to and for the
benefit of the Commission.  The views or beliefs expressed by the invocation
speaker have not been previously reviewed or approved by the Commission
and do not necessarily represent the religious beliefs or views of the
Commission in part or as a whole.  No member of the community is required to
attend or participate in the invocation and such decision will have no impact on
their right to actively participate in the business of the Commission.



RECESSED MEETING 
HAMILTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

JUNE 10, 2015 
 

1 
 

STATE OF TENNESSEE  )  Recessed Meeting 

COUNTY OF HAMILTON  )  June 10, 2015 

 

 BE IT REMEMBERED, that on this 10th day of June, 2015, a Recessed Meeting 

of the Hamilton County Board of Commissioners was begun and held at the 

Courthouse, in the City of Chattanooga, in the County Commission Room, when the 

following proceedings were held, to wit:-- 

 

 Present and presiding was the Honorable Jim Fields, Chairman, Chief Deputy 

Clerk Debbie Rollins called the roll of the County Commission and the following, 

constituting a quorum, answered to their names:  Commissioner Bankston, 

Commissioner Beck, Commissioner Boyd, Commissioner Fairbanks, Commissioner 

Graham, Commissioner Haynes, Commissioner Mackey, Commissioner Smedley, and 

Chairman Fields. Total present – 9.  Total absent -0. 

 

 Also in attendance were County Mayor Jim Coppinger, members of his 

administrative staff, County Attorney Rheubin Taylor, and County Auditor Bill McGriff. 

 

 Commissioner Bankston introduced Pastor Bruce Sloan, Ridgeview Baptist 

Church, who gave the invocation.  Commissioner Bankston led in the pledge to the flag. 



RECESSED MEETING 
HAMILTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

JUNE 10, 2015 
 

2 
 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 615-16A  A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR 

TO ENTER INTO AND EXECUTE A "MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING" WITH 

THE RIVERCITY COMPANY RELATIVE TO PROPERTY OWNED BY HAMILTON 

COUNTY.  

 

 This resolution, previously known as Resolution No. 615-16, was heard by the 

Committee of the Whole during the May 27, 2015 Agenda Session.  Resolution No. 

615-16 was heard at the June 3, 2015 Regular Meeting and no action was taken. It was 

questioned whether the law required that a licensed real estate broker be involved in 

this effort.  

  

ON MOTION of Commissioner Graham, seconded by Commissioner Beck, to 

adopt Resolution No. 615-16A.  

 

Chairman Fields asked if there was any discussion. 

 

In response to Commissioner Graham’s question, Mayor Coppinger reported that 

The County has requested River City Company as their agent for purposes of 

redevelopment of the property which will include contracting for an appraisal, marketing 

of the Property, development and issuance of a Request for Proposals (RFP) for the 

sale of the property, review of responses to the RFP, and making recommendations to 



RECESSED MEETING 
HAMILTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

JUNE 10, 2015 
 

3 
 

the County for the most appropriate redevelopment proposal. River City will not be paid 

any fees.  

Attorney Taylor clarified that River City is not receiving any compensation for 

their services. A licensed real estate broker is not needed for the transaction and Paul 

Parker will represent the county during the closing process. Attorney Taylor explained 

that it is no different than a property owner marketing their own property, the County is 

simply marketing their own property and a real estate broker is not required by state law 

to do so.  

The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the 

following members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Bankston, “Aye”, Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman 

Fields, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 9. Total “Nay” 

votes – 0. 

  



RECESSED MEETING 
HAMILTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

JUNE 10, 2015 
 

4 
 

 

 Being no further business Chairman Fields declared the recessed meeting 

adjourned. 

 

 
     Respectfully submitted: 
 
 
 
 
      
     _______________________________ 
     William F. (Bill) Knowles, County Clerk 
 

 

 

 

 

 
Approved: 
 
 
______ 
Date  Clerk’s Initials 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

JUNE 10, 2015 
 
 

 1

STATE OF TENNESSEE  )  Agenda Preparation Session 

COUNTY OF HAMILTON  )  June 10, 2015 

 

BE IT REMEMBERED, that on this 10th day of June, 2015, an Agenda 

Preparation Session of the Hamilton County Board of Commissioners was begun and 

held at the Courthouse, in the City of Chattanooga, in the County Commission Room, 

when the following proceedings were held, to wit:-- 

 

Present and presiding was the Honorable Jim Fields, Chairman. Chief Deputy 

Clerk Debbie Rollins called the roll of the County Commission and the following, 

constituting a quorum, answered to their names:  Commissioner Bankston, 

Commissioner Beck, Commissioner Boyd, Commissioner Fairbanks, Commissioner 

Graham, Commissioner Haynes, Commissioner Mackey, Commissioner Smedley, and 

Chairman Fields.  Total present - 9.  Total absent – 0. 

 

Also in attendance were County Mayor Jim Coppinger, members of his 

administrative staff, County Attorney Rheubin Taylor, and County Auditor Bill McGriff. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

JUNE 10, 2015 
 
 

 2

COMMITTEE ASSIGNMENTS 

 

Chairman Fields indicated the upcoming agenda items would be considered as 

follows: 

 The Criminal Court Clerk’s Reports for March and April 2015 would be submitted 
for the record. 

 An Order of Designation to the Planning Commission would be submitted as a 
matter of record. 

 Resolution No. 615-17 was the usual County Clerk item regarding notaries, etc.  
This required no committee assignment. 

 Resolution Nos. 615-21, 615-22, 615-27, 615-29 through 615-31, 615-33, 615-
34, and 615-37 through 615-43 were assigned to the Finance Committee, 
chaired by Commissioner Graham. 

 Resolution Nos. 615-23, 615-24A, 615-24B, 615-26 were assigned to the Zoning 
Committee, chaired by Commissioner Haynes. 

 Resolution No. 615-32 was assigned to the Roads Committee, chaired by 
Commissioner Haynes. 

 Resolution Nos. 615-18 through 615-20, 615-28, 615-35, and 615-36 were heard 
by a Committee of the Whole. 

 Resolution No. 615-25 was not used. 
 

Commissioner Graham, Chairman of the Finance Committee announced that the 

Finance Committee would be meeting in the Commission Room immediately after the 

Agenda Session. 

 

Commissioner Haynes, Chairman of the Roads and Zoning Committee, 

announced that the Roads and Zoning Committee would meet in the adjacent 

conference room following today’s meeting. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

JUNE 10, 2015 
 
 

 3

 

Chairman Fields stated that Resolution Nos. 615-18 through 615-20, 615-28, 

615-35, and 615-36 would now be heard by the Committee of the Whole. 

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 615-18 

 

Mayor Coppinger spoke regarding this item, which reappoints Terry Steele, Mary 

K. Roberts, and Bill Tittle to the Hamilton County Community Corrections Advisory 

Board for a term ending June 30, 2017 and appoints Sam Blakemore for a term ending 

June 30, 2018. . 

 

There were no questions from Commissioners. 

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 615-19 

 

Mayor Coppinger spoke regarding this item, which reappoints Gary Neil to the 

County Board of Electrical Examiners for a term ending June 20, 2019. 

  

There were no questions from Commissioners. 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

JUNE 10, 2015 
 
 

 4

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 615-20 

  

Christie Jordan, Director of Hamilton County Department of Education 

Accounting and Budgeting spoke regarding this item, which amends the schools federal 

projects fund budget by adding $146,420 to the FY 2014–2015 revenue and 

expenditure budget. This resolution also amends the self-funded projects fund budget 

by adding $3,031,840 to the FY 2014-2015 revenue and expenditure budget and 

amends the general purpose fund budget by adding $2,557,955 to the FY 2014-2015 

revenue and expenditures budget. She noted that this was a yearly housekeeping item. 

 

Ms. Jordan presented to the Commission, the first annual Citizens Guide to 

Understanding the Budget. The guide can also be viewed by visiting www.hcde.org. 

This guide will help citizens understand where the school systems funding comes from, 

what it pays for, and how the school system uses it. The guide also helps citizens 

understand why some funding must be used to pay for certain programs and why other 

funding sources are more flexible.  

  

 Commissioner Boyd made comments regarding the guide’s student teacher ratio 

and inflation. He noted that when inflation rates are calculated using the past sixteen 

years versus using the past six, funding has actually outpaced inflation.   

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

JUNE 10, 2015 
 
 

 5

 Commissioner Mackey also made comments about the school system’s inflation 

rate. In response to comments made about a recent study done by Offices of Research 

and Education Accountability, he requested that a copy of the letter revealing that the 

school system’s central office administration was the lowest among all of the large 

school systems in the state be provided to the commission.  

 

 Commissioner Graham stated that the Average Daily Membership (ADM) 

spreadsheet that was provided to the commission reported how the state of Tennessee 

calculated student enrollment (average daily membership), which is the primary driver of 

the Basic Education Program (BEP) funding formula.  

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 615-28 

  

Alecia Poe, Human Resources Director spoke regarding this item, which accepts 

the proposal of ASI Cobra, LLC for COBRA administration services, beginning July 1, 

2015, through June 30, 2018, with the option to renew for three additional one year 

periods. It was low bid and $24,000 will be saved over the next three years.   

 

 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

JUNE 10, 2015 
 
 

 6

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 615-35 

 

Administrator of Finance, Albert Kiser spoke regarding this resolution, which 

would adopt a budget for the fiscal year 2015-2016 and set the County’s tax levy at 

2.7652 for the year 2015. He noted that Mayor Coppinger presented his budget at a 

public meeting held on June 2 at the County’s McDaniel Building and also during the 

June 3, 2015 regular meeting of the Board of Commissioners held at the Courthouse. 

The Commission meeting was advertised by public notice as required by law.  

 

Budget Items highlighted in the meeting included across the board employee 

raises of 1.5 percent, ($750 minimum), the Humane Educational Society (HES) budget 

proposal and intended fund expenditures, and the Bridge Retirement Plan (BRP) sought 

by Sheriff Jim Hammond  

 

Although BRP funding was not included in the budget, Mayor Coppinger 

elaborated on the request and several commissioners spoke in favor of the plan.  Mayor 

Coppinger said a number of meetings pertaining to BRP have been held and another is 

set for Friday afternoon, several commissioners requested that a member of their body 

be included in the Friday deliberation. Chairman Fields indicated he would attend.  

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

JUNE 10, 2015 
 
 

 7

Mayor Coppinger noted that it is difficult to define BRP costs. The initial cost 

would be from $600,000 to $1 million, but over a short period of time the costs could 

multiply. He stated that without raising property taxes, it would be impossible to fund a 

BRP.  He concluded that while he supports the idea of such a program, the revenue 

source is not available.   

 

Upon questioning by Commissioner Boyd regarding the next item pertaining to 

budgets for nonprofit agencies, Chairman Fields asked that the title of that resolution be 

read and joint discussions of the Resolutions No. 615-35 and 615-36 could occur. 

 

At this time, Chairman Fields asked that Resolution No. 615-36 be read into the 

record.  

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 615-36 

  

 Director of Finance, Albert Kiser spoke regarding this resolution, which would 

make appropriations to nonprofit charitable and civic organizations in the county for the 

fiscal year 2015 – 2016. 

 

Commissioner Boyd made comments concerning the three percent of 

uncollectible property taxes, how supporting agencies are funded, increase in hotel 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

JUNE 10, 2015 
 
 

 8

motel tax revenue, the Wastewater Treatment Authority’s (WWTA) budget, decrease in 

insurance expenses, and an increase in land improvements. 

 

In response to questions about WWTA’s budget and whether it included 

additional employees, Mr. Kiser agreed to e-mail an answer to each Commissioner. 

 

 Commissioner Haynes noted that first responders and Volunteer Fire 

Departments are included in the appropriations to nonprofit charitable and civic 

organizations.  

 

ANNOUNCEMENTS 

 

Chairman Fields asked for announcements from members of the Commission.  

 

Commissioner Boyd thanked all the first responders that responded to Monday’s 

storm. A strong storm system traveled through East Ridge Monday afternoon and left 

behind severe damage to homes and families near Altamaha Street. Eight homes were 

damaged by strong winds and downed trees, three of those homes were destroyed.  

 

Commissioner Graham recognized his family in the audience and noted that 

today was his 26th wedding anniversary. He acknowledged Pam Sohn, Editorial Page 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

JUNE 10, 2015 
 
 

 9

Editor for the Chattanooga Times, presence in the audience and thanked her for joining 

his family at son Luke’s birthday dinner.  

 

In an attempt to find additional funds for the budget, Commissioner Mackey 

suggested consideration of delaying new school construction and using some of the 

lower occupancy schools to consolidate schools within the system.  

 

Commissioner Haynes recognized Bob Mullin, Chairman of the Dallas Bay Fire 

Department Board and Mark Fritts, Dallas Bay Volunteer Fire Department Chief who 

were present in today’s audience. 

 

 Commissioner Beck expressed his desire to find a way to fund the Bridge 

Retirement Plan.  

 

 Commissioner Smedley wished Commissioner Bankston a happy birthday and 

encouraged everyone to attend the Riverbend Festival.  

 

 In response to Commissioner Fairbanks concerns about the progress on 

Veterans Treatment Court, Attorney Taylor and Mayor Coppinger both stated that 

discussions are taking place but a start date has yet to be decided. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

JUNE 10, 2015 
 
 

 10

 Mayor Coppinger also wished Commissioner Bankston a happy birthday.  

 

DELEGATIONS 

 

Chairman Fields asked for delegations on matters other than zoning.  

 

Joseph Seibel residing at 1349 Britt Lauren Way addressed the commission 

about his neighbor’s long term placement of storage containers on the road right-of-way 

rather than on his own property. Mr. Seibel’s neighbors were also present in the 

audience.  He indicated there was a petition in opposition signed by a number of 

residents of the neighborhood. Todd Leamon, Administrator of Public Works and 

County Engineer asked for the property address and stated the property owner was not 

in compliance. He indicated a letter will be sent to the property owner and the company 

who owns the storage container. If the issue is not resolved, the storage container will 

be removed.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

JUNE 10, 2015 
 
 

 11

 

Being no further business, Chairman Fields declared the meeting adjourned until 

Wednesday, June 17th at 9:30 AM. 

 

 

 

 

Respectfully submitted: 

      

      _________________________________   
      William F. (Bill) Knowles, County Clerk 
 
 
 
 
Approved: 
           

__________  
Date      Clerk’s Initials 
 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

JUNE 17, 2015 
 

1 

 

STATE OF TENNESSEE  )  Regular Meeting 

COUNTY OF HAMILTON  )  June 17, 2015 
 

BE IT REMEMBERED, that on this 17th day of June, 2015, a Regular Meeting of 

the Hamilton County Board of Commissioners was begun and held at the Courthouse, 

in the City of Chattanooga, in the County Commission Room, when the following 

proceedings were held, to wit:-- 

 

Present and presiding was the Honorable Jim Fields, Chairman. County Clerk Bill 

Knowles called the roll of the County Commission and the following, constituting a 

quorum, answered to their names: Commissioner Bankston, Commissioner Beck, 

Commissioner Boyd, Commissioner Fairbanks, Commissioner Graham, Commissioner 

Haynes, Commissioner Mackey, Commissioner Smedley, and Chairman Fields. Total 

present – 9. Total absent – 0. 

 

Also in attendance were County Mayor Jim Coppinger, members of his 

administrative staff, County Attorney Rheubin Taylor, and County Auditor Bill McGriff. 

 

Attached hereto is a copy of the Public Notice of this meeting, which was 

published in a local newspaper and made a matter of record of this meeting. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

JUNE 17, 2015 
 

2 

 

Commissioner Bankston introduced Pastor Gary L. Hathaway, Tucker Missionary 

Baptist Church, who gave the invocation. Commissioner Bankston led in the pledge to 

the flag.  

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Mackey, seconded by Commissioner Haynes, 

that the minutes of the Recessed Meeting of May 27, 2015, the Agenda Preparation 

Session of May 27, 2015, and the Regular Meeting of June 3, 2015, be approved, treat 

same as read, made a matter of record and filed.  

 

Chairman Fields asked if there was any discussion. There was none.  

 

The foregoing Motion was unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the 

following members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Bankston, “Aye”, Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman 

Fields, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 9.  Total “Nay” 

votes – 0. 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

JUNE 17, 2015 
 

3 

 

ORDER OF DESIGNATION 

 

 An order was submitted for the record designating Todd Leamon to sit as the 

County Mayor’s representative on the Planning Commission for the meeting June 8, 

2015. 

 

CRIMINAL COURT CLERK REPORTS 

  

The Criminal Court Clerk reports for March and April 2015 were submitted and 

made a matter of record. 

 

Chairman Fields asked that Resolution Nos. 615-18 through 615-20, 615-28, 

615-35, and 615-36 be considered at this time. He reported they were heard by a 

Committee of the Whole.  

 

RESOLUTION NO. 615-17  A RESOLUTION TO APPROVE AND ACCEPT 

APPLICATIONS FOR NOTARY PUBLIC POSITIONS, THE BONDS AND OATHS OF 

NOTARIES PREVIOUSLY ELECTED, AND OATHS OF DEPUTY SHERIFFS. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Graham, seconded by Commissioner Haynes, to 

adopt Resolution No. 615-17.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

JUNE 17, 2015 
 

4 

 

 

Chairman Fields asked if there was any discussion. There was none.  

 

The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the 

following members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Bankston, “Aye”, Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman 

Fields, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 9. Total “Nay” 

votes – 0. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 615-18  A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE APPOINTMENT 

AND/OR REAPPOINTMENT OF REPRESENTATIVES TO THE HAMILTON COUNTY 

COMMUNITY CORRECTIONS ADVISORY BOARD. 

 

 This resolution appoints Sam Blakemore to serve a three-year term beginning 

July 1, 2015 and ending June 30, 2018 and reappoints Terry Steele, Mary K. Roberts, 

and Bill Tittle to serve a two-year term beginning July 1, 2015 and ending June 30, 

2017. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Graham, seconded by Commissioner Haynes, to 

adopt Resolution No. 615-18.  



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

JUNE 17, 2015 
 

5 

 

 

Chairman Fields asked if there was any discussion. There was none.  

 

The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the 

following members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Bankston, “Aye”, Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman 

Fields, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 9. Total “Nay” 

votes – 0. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 615-19  A RESOLUTION CONFIRMING THE REAPPOINTMENT 

BY THE COUNTY MAYOR OF ONE MEMBER TO THE HAMILTON COUNTY BOARD 

OF ELECTRICAL EXAMINERS, TERM ENDING JUNE 20, 2019. 

 

 This resolution reappoints Gary Neil to serve a four year term beginning June 20, 

2015 and ending June 20, 2019. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Bankston, seconded by Commissioner Smedley, 

to adopt Resolution No. 615-19.  

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

JUNE 17, 2015 
 

6 

 

Chairman Fields asked if there was any discussion. There was none.  

 

The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the 

following members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Bankston, “Aye”, Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman 

Fields, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 9. Total “Nay” 

votes – 0. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 615-20  A RESOLUTION TO AMEND THE SCHOOLS FEDERAL 

PROJECTS FUND BUDGET BY ADDING $146,240 TO THE FY 2014-2015 REVENUE 

AND EXPENDITURE BUDGET; TO AMEND THE SELF-FUNDED PROJECTS FUND 

BUDGET BY ADDING $3,031,840 TO THE FY 2014-2015 REVENUE AND 

EXPENDITURE BUDGET; TO AMEND THE GENERAL PURPOSE FUND BUDGET 

BY ADDING $2,557,955 TO THE FY 2014-2015 REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE 

BUDGET. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Graham, seconded by Commissioner Haynes, to 

adopt Resolution No. 615-20.  

 

Chairman Fields asked if there was any discussion. There was none.  



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

JUNE 17, 2015 
 

7 

 

The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the 

following members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Bankston, “Aye”, Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman 

Fields, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 9. Total “Nay” 

votes – 0. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 615-28  A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE PROPOSAL OF ASI 

COBRA, LLC FOR COBRA ADMINISTRATION SERVICES, BEGINNING JULY 1, 

2015, THROUGH JUNE 30, 2018, WITH THE OPTION TO RENEW FOR THREE (3) 

ADDITIONAL ONE (1) YEAR PERIODS, FOR THE HUMAN RESOURCES 

DEPARTMENT AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY 

CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Graham, seconded by Commissioner Smedley, to 

adopt Resolution No. 615-28.  

 

Chairman Fields asked if there was any discussion. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

JUNE 17, 2015 
 

8 

 

Commissioner Graham acknowledged that this was a low bid and $24,000 will be 

saved over the next three years. He thanked the Human Resources Department for 

their hard work and diligence in saving taxpayer dollars. 

 

The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the 

following members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Bankston, “Aye”, Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman 

Fields, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 9. Total “Nay” 

votes – 0. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 615-35  A RESOLUTION ADOPTING A BUDGET FOR THE 

FISCAL YEAR 2015-2016 AND SETTING THE TAX LEVY FOR THE YEAR 2015 FOR 

HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Haynes, seconded by Commissioner Beck, to 

adopt Resolution No. 615-35.  

 

Chairman Fields asked if there was any discussion. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

JUNE 17, 2015 
 

9 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Bankston, seconded by Commissioner Boyd, to 

amend Resolution No. 615-35 to add $900,000 to the County Commission’s budget for 

discretionary funding. These funds are to be taken out of the general fund balance, or 

rainy day fund, and divided equally between all nine districts.  

 

Chairman Fields asked if there was any discussion on the Motion to amend 

Resolution No. 615-35. 

 

Mayor Coppinger urged commissioners not to support including discretionary 

funds because it was not fiscally conservative or responsible. He made several 

comments regarding the strenuous efforts it took to balance the budget without a 

property tax increase over the last eight years. He pointed out that millions of dollars of 

requests were trimmed from the budget including areas of public safety and education.  

The County has seen continued need for increased funds for economic development 

efforts such as the expansions at Volkswagen.  He concluded that the financial experts 

have worked diligently to streamline this budget while assuring that expenditure of rainy 

day funds would not adversely impact the county’s AAA bond rating. 

 

In response to Commissioner Haynes question regarding voting procedures, 

Chairman Fields stated that the motion to amend the budget will be voted on first.  If it 

passes, the motion to adopt the budget will include the amendment. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

JUNE 17, 2015 
 

10 

 

Chairman Fields and Commissioner Smedley spoke in favor of discretionary 

funding. It was noted that discretionary spending funds help address immediate needs 

in one’s district. Commissioner Smedley specifically mentioned the purchase of 

defibrillators for multiple schools in her district after one was used by school officials to 

revive a student at East Hamilton Middle High School last year. 

 

Commissioner Fields related a positive personal conversation he had with Mayor 

Coppinger on this subject when the Mayor was serving as a member of the 

Commission. 

 

Chairman Fields asked if there was any further discussion. There was none. 

 

 At this time Chairman Fields asked for a roll call on the Motion to amend 

Resolution No. 651-35. 

 

The foregoing motion to amend Resolution No. 615-35 was adopted on a Roll 

Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and 

voting as follows: Commissioner Bankston, “Aye”, Commissioner Beck, “Nay”, 

Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Graham, 

“Nay”, Commissioner Haynes, “Nay”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Fields, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. Total 

“Aye” votes – 6. Total “Nay” votes – 3. 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

JUNE 17, 2015 
 

11 

 

 

Chairman Fields indicated the Motion to amend Resolution No. 615-35 passed 

and asked if there was any further discussion on the budget as amended. 

 

Commissioner Boyd spoke regarding Resolution No. 615-35 and asked the 

Chairman for consent to call Robert Citrullo, Executive Director of the Humane 

Educational Society (HES) to the podium. Commissioner Boyd stated that he and 

several other commissioners received numerous emails insinuating that the 

Commission was not supportive of HES funding. To clear up any misunderstandings or 

speculation it was noted that the Commission never questioned HES funding.  

 

In closing Commissioner Boyd made it known that HES is accountable to the 

Commission and they will be held accountable. It is the responsibility of the HES 

Executive Director to provide to the public and the Commission a detailed accounting of 

how HES spends funds they receive from Hamilton County.  

 

It was noted that Commissioner Fairbanks, Commissioner Smedley, and 

Commissioner Beck toured HES facilities and they each reported that it was apparent 

that emergency repairs were needed. 

  

During last week’s Agenda Session Commissioner Graham requested that a list 

detailing the repairs HES planned to make to their facilities during the 2015–16 fiscal 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

JUNE 17, 2015 
 

12 

 

year be provided to the Commission. While the list was provided, it was noted that an 

itemized break down of the dollar amount of each repair was not included. The list 

appeared generic and Commissioner Graham asked that an estimate of each repair be 

included in the itemized list.  

 

A copy of the above mentioned list was submitted for the record to be attached to 

Resolution No. 615-35. 

 

Mr. Citrullo responded to the Commission’s concerns and agreed to provide an 

estimate for each repair.  . 

 

In response to HES being held accountable, Mr. Citrullo noted that HES is a 

nonprofit 501c3 organization and their financials are open to the public. Nonprofit 

charitable and civic organizations are required by law to submit a copy of their annual 

report detailing business affairs, transactions, and the proposed use of the County’s 

funds to the County Clerk and Administrator of Finance. 

 

In response to Commissioner Graham’s question, Chairman Fields stated that 

asking County Auditor Bill McGriff to provide a financial review of HES was allowed. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

JUNE 17, 2015 
 

13 

 

In response to Commissioner Mackey’s comments, Chairman Fields reported 

that the Sheriff’s proposed Bridge Retirement Plan (BRP) was not in the FY 2015 – 

2016 budget. 

 

In response to Commissioner Fairbanks request, Chairman Fields provided 

details about the BRP meeting that took place last Friday at the Sheriff’s Department. A 

representative from Tennessee Consolidated Retirement System (TCRS), Sheriff Jim 

Hammond and several members of his staff, and a representative from the County 

Technical Assistance Service attended the meeting. Discussions in the meeting 

included hiring an actuarial firm to study the feasibility of adopting a BRP with an 

insurance component.  

 

Albert Kiser, Finance Director reported that the proposed BRP plan includes a 

TCRS component of $250,000 plus an insurance component estimated at $275,000. An 

actuarial firm would be used to further study the insurance component of the BRP plan.  

 

Chairman Fields clarified that the budget for fiscal year 2015-16 doesn’t include 

funding for the Sheriff’s proposed BRP. A resolution hiring an actuarial firm will be 

presented to the Commission at a later date. 

 

Chairman Fields called for a roll call vote on the main Motion to adopt Resolution 

No. 615-35 as amended. 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

JUNE 17, 2015 
 

14 

 

 

The foregoing motion to approve Resolution No. 615-35 as amended was 

adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission 

being present and voting as follows: Commissioner Bankston, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Graham, “Nay”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Fields, “Aye”. Total present – 9. 

Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 8. Total “Nay” votes – 1. 

 

At this time the Chairman paused proceedings while a large group from the 

Sheriff’s Department exited the room.  

 

RESOLUTION NO. 615-36  A RESOLUTION MAKING APPROPRIATIONS TO 

NONPROFIT CHARITABLE AND CIVIC ORGANIZATIONS OF HAMILTON COUNTY, 

TENNESSEE, FOR THE FISCAL YEAR BEGINNING JULY 1, 2015 AND ENDING 

JUNE 30, 2016. 

 
 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Graham, seconded by Commissioner Boyd, to 

adopt Resolution No. 615-36.  

 

Chairman Fields asked if there was any discussion. There was none. 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

JUNE 17, 2015 
 

15 

 

 

The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the 

following members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Bankston, “Aye”, Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman 

Fields, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 9. Total “Nay” 

votes – 0. 

 

Chairman Fields asked that Resolution Nos. 615-23, 615-24A, 615-24B, 615-26, 

and 615-26A be considered together at this time. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 615-23  A RESOLUTION LIFTING THE CONDITION FROM 

RESOLUTION 813-27B OF PREVIOUS ZONING CASE NUMBER 2013-077 ON 

PROPERTY LOCATED AT 8440 PROVIDENCE ROAD. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 615-24A  RESOLUTION TO REZONE FROM A-1 

AGRICULTURAL DISTRICT TO R-1 RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT, PROPERTIES 

LOCATED AT 8217 AND 8219 OOLTEWAH GEORGETOWN ROAD. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

JUNE 17, 2015 
 

16 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 615-24B  A RESOLUTION TO REZONE FROM A-1 

AGRICULTURAL DISTRICT TO R-1 RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT, PROPERTIES 

LOCATED AT 8217 AND 8219 OOLTEWAH GEORGETOWN ROAD. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 615-25 WAS NOT USED. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 615-26  A RESOLUTION GRANTING A SPECIAL PERMIT FOR A 

RESIDENTIAL PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT FOR PROPERTIES LOCATED AT 

8217 AND 8219 OOLTEWAH-GEORGETOWN ROAD. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 615-26A  A RESOLUTION GRANTING A SPECIAL PERMIT FOR 

A RESIDENTIAL PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT FOR PROPERTIES LOCATED 

AT 8217 AND 8219 OOLTEWAH-GEORGETOWN ROAD. 

 

It was noted that Resolution No. 615-26A was a late item added to the agenda. 

 

Commissioner Haynes asked that each resolution be considered separately.  

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Haynes, seconded by Commissioner Beck, to 

adopt Resolution Nos. 615-23.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

JUNE 17, 2015 
 

17 

 

Chairman Fields asked if there was any discussion. 

 

Commissioner Haynes, Chairman of the Zoning Committee provided details 

regarding Resolution Nos. 615-23 and stated the Zoning Committee reviewed and 

recommended approval.  

 

Commissioner Mackey questioned whether Commissioner Bankston favored the 

resolution as the rezoning was in District 9.  Commissioner Bankston indicated he did 

support the resolution. 

 

The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the 

following members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Bankston, “Aye”, Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman 

Fields, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 9. Total “Nay” 

votes – 0. 

 

Commissioner Haynes, Chairman of the Zoning Committee provided details 

regarding Resolution Nos. 615-24A, 615-24B, 615-26, and 615-26A and stated that all 

four resolutions are for the same piece of property located at 8217 and 8219 Ooltewah 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

JUNE 17, 2015 
 

18 

 

Georgetown Road. The Zoning Committee reviewed Resolution No 615-26 and 

recommended approval with a condition requiring a left hand turn lane.  

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Haynes, seconded by Commissioner Boyd, to 

adopt Resolution No. 615-26A.  

 

Chairman Fields asked if there was any discussion.  

 

Commissioner Haynes noted that in the beginning there was public opposition 

from residents residing in the Georgetown Landing Subdivision. Mike Price, MAP 

Engineers reported that Georgetown Landing Subdivision residents were in opposition 

until it was a agreed upon that a north bound left hand turn lane would be installed on 

Ooltewah Georgetown Road into the new development. The proposed lot sizes were 

also opposed by neighboring developments. In response Mr. Price handed out plat 

drawings of Seven Lakes Subdivision, Kings Valley Subdivision, and Providence Pointe 

Subdivisions. He noted that the three subdivisions are located within a two miles radius 

and were all built within the last seven to eight years.  He added that all three 

subdivisions have varying lot sizes and the proposed sixty foot lot size meets the R-1 

residential district zoning regulations. In closing he noted the large amount of open 

space and pointed out that the proposed development included an equestrian center.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

JUNE 17, 2015 
 

19 

 

Greg Haynes, Director of Development Services for the Regional Planning 

Agency noted that Residential Planned Unit Developments (PUD) classified as R-1 

zoning do not allow one to operate a business. Further discussion about reclassifying 

the equestrian center portion of the PUD to A-1 took place between County Engineer 

Todd Leamon, Mr. Haynes, Commissioner Boyd, and Commissioner Haynes. It was 

decided that further time was needed. 

  

ON MOTION of Commissioner Haynes, seconded by Commissioner Boyd, to 

postpone Resolution No. 615-26A until the June 24, 2015 Recessed Meeting.  

 

The foregoing Motion to postpone was unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, 

with the following members of the County Commission being present and voting as 

follows: Commissioner Bankston, “Aye”, Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, 

“Aye”, and Chairman Fields, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” 

votes – 9. Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

Commissioner Haynes, Chairman of the Zoning Committee noted that Resolution 

No. 615-24A was reviewed and recommended by the Zoning Committee with conditions 

that the overall density not exceed three dwellings per acre. Resolution No. 615-24B 

includes those conditions. 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

JUNE 17, 2015 
 

20 

 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Haynes, seconded by Commissioner Bankston, to 

adopt Resolution No. 615-24B.  

 

Chairman Fields asked if there was any discussion.  Commissioner Haynes 

indicated this resolution pertained to the previous item requiring changes to allow for an 

equestrian area.  He felt it should also be postponed. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Haynes, seconded by Commissioner Bankston, to 

postpone Resolution No. 615-24B until the June 24, 2015 Recessed Meeting.  

 

Chairman Fields asked if there was any discussion. There was none. 

 

The foregoing Motion to postpone was unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, 

with the following members of the County Commission being present and voting as 

follows: Commissioner Bankston, “Aye”, Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, 

“Aye”, and Chairman Fields, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” 

votes – 9. Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

NO ACTION WAS TAKEN ON RESOLUTION NOS. 615-24A AND 615-26. 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

JUNE 17, 2015 
 

21 

 

 

Chairman Fields asked that Resolution No. 615-32 be considered at this time. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 615-32  A RESOLUTION TO AMEND THE "MASTER LIST OF 

ROADS AND SPEED LIMITS" SO AS TO CHANGE THE ROADWAY NAME FOR 

THE FOLLOWING DISTRICT ROAD: WINNEPEG COURT TO WINNIPEG COURT. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Haynes, seconded by Commissioner Bankston, to 

adopt Resolution No. 615-32.  

 

Chairman Fields asked if there was any discussion. 

 

Commissioner Haynes noted that this item was simply correcting the spelling of 

the road name. 

 

The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the 

following members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Bankston, “Aye”, Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman 

Fields, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 9. Total “Nay” 

votes – 0. 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

JUNE 17, 2015 
 

22 

 

 

Chairman Fields asked that Resolution Nos. 615-21, 615-22, 615-27, 615-29, 

through 615-31, 615-33, 615-34, 615-37, 615-38 through 615-40, 615-42, and 615-43 

be considered together at this time. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 615-21  A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF ROLL-AID 

INDUSTRIAL FOR APPLIANCES FOR EAST BRAINERD ELEMENTARY SCHOOL 

AMOUNTING TO $17,524.83 FOR THE DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION AND 

AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY 

TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 615-22  A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF VISIONS OF 

VIDEO FOR TELEVISIONS AND WALL MOUNTS FOR EAST BRAINERD 

ELEMENTARY SCHOOL AMOUNTING TO $105,095.00 FOR THE DEPARTMENT OF 

EDUCATION AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY 

CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 615-27  A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF FORD OF 

MURFREESBORO FOR ONE (1) 4X4 UTILITY VEHICLE AMOUNTING TO 

$27,239.00 FOR EMERGENCY SERVICES AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY 

MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS 

RESOLUTION. 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

JUNE 17, 2015 
 

23 

 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 615-29  A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR 

ON BEHALF OF HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE, THE HEALTH SERVICES 

DIVISION, OPERATING AS THE CHATTANOOGA-HAMILTON COUNTY HEALTH 

DEPARTMENT TO SIGN A CONTINUATION CONTRACT WITH THE TENNESSEE 

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH IN THE AMOUNT OF $116,220.00 TO PROVIDE 

HEALTH CARE SAFETY NET PRIMARY CARE SERVICES TO UNINSURED 

ADULTS IN HAMILTON COUNTY AT THE HOMELESS HEALTH CARE CENTER 

FOR THE TIME PERIOD JULY 1, 2015 THROUGH JUNE 30, 2016. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 615-30  A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR 

ON BEHALF OF HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE, THE HEALTH SERVICES 

DIVISION, OPERATING AS THE CHATTANOOGA-HAMILTON COUNTY HEALTH 

DEPARTMENT TO ENTER INTO AND EXECUTE A CONTINUATION CONTRACT 

FOR $616,300.00 WITH THE TENNESSEE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH FOR THE 

PROVISION OF BIOTERRORISM PREPAREDNESS ACTIVITIES FOR THE 12 

MONTH TIME PERIOD BEGINNING JULY 1, 2015 - JUNE 30, 2016 AND TO AMEND 

THE HOMELAND SECURITY AND HOMELAND STATE SECURITY-STATE APPR 

BUDGETS FOR FY 2016 BY ADDING $79,300.00 TO THE REVENUE AND 

EXPENDITURE BUDGET. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

JUNE 17, 2015 
 

24 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 615-31  A RESOLUTION TO AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY MAYOR 

TO ENTER INTO AND EXECUTE AN AGREEMENT WITH THOMPSON 

ENGINEERING FOR GEOENVIRONMENTAL INSPECTION NECESSARY FOR 

CONSTRUCTION OF THE SALE CREEK VOLUNTEER FIRE HALL 

HEADQUARTERS FOR AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $167,680.00 OF 

PREVIOUSLY BUDGETED FUNDS. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 615-33  A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF J&J 

CONTRACTORS, INC. FOR CONSTRUCTION OF THE DALLAS BAY FIRE HALL #2 

RENOVATIONS AND ADDITIONS AMOUNTING TO $2, 756,200 AND AUTHORIZING 

THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT 

THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 615-34  A RESOLUTION RATIFYING THE PURCHASE OF 

GASOLINE AND DIESEL FUEL FOR THE PERIOD OF MAY 1, 2015, THROUGH 

MAY 31, 2015, AND TO AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY 

CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 615-37  A RESOLUTION TO AUTHORIZE THE EXPENDITURE 

OF SIX MILLION TWO HUNDRED FIFTY THOUSAND DOLLARS ($6,250,000), TO 

COMPLETE HAMILTON COUNTY'S OBLIGATION TO THE INDUSTRIAL 

DEVELOPMENT BOARD OF CHATTANOOGA FOR THE EXPANSION OF THE 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

JUNE 17, 2015 
 

25 

 

VOLKSWAGEN AUTOMOBILE ASSEMBLY PLANT AND TO AMEND THE 

GENERAL FUND EXPENDITURE BUDGET ACCORDINGLY. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 615-38  A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR 

TO SIGN A GRANT AGREEMENT WITH A TERM ENDING JUNE 30, 2016 WITH THE 

TENNESSEE DEPARTMENT OF MENTAL HEALTH AND SUBSTANCE ABUSE 

SERVICES AND AMENDING THE RECOVERY COURT FUND BY ADDING $425,000 

TO THE REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE BUDGETS. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 615-39  A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR 

TO EXECUTE A CONTRACT WITH A TERM OF JULY 1, 2015 TO JUNE 30, 2016 

WITH MS. ELAINE KELLY TO SERVE AS COORDINATOR OF THE HAMILTON 

COUNTY RECOVERY COURT PROGRAM. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 615-40  A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR 

TO EXECUTE A CONTRACT WITH A TERM OF JULY 1, 2015 TO JUNE 30, 2016 

WITH MR. JEFF S. HILL TO SERVE AS CASE MANAGER FOR THE HAMILTON 

COUNTY RECOVERY COURT PROGRAM. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 615-42  A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR 

TO EXECUTE A CONTRACT WITH A TERM OF JULY 1, 2015 TO JUNE 30, 2016 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

JUNE 17, 2015 
 

26 

 

WITH MR. JOHN ROBERT COOPER TO SERVE AS A CASE MANAGER FOR THE 

HAMILTON COUNTY RECOVERY COURT PROGRAM. 

 
RESOLUTION NO. 615-43  A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR 

TO SUBMIT A JOINT APPLICATION WITH THE CITY OF CHATTANOOGA FOR A 

2015 JUSTICE ASSISTANCE GRANT AND APPROVING THE USE OF THIS GRANT 

BY THE HAMILTON COUNTY SHERIFF'S OFFICE. 

 

Commissioner Graham, Chairman of the Finance Committee provided details 

regarding Resolution Nos. 615-21, 615-22, 615-27, 615-29, through 615-31, 615-33, 

615-34, 615-37, 615-38 through 615-40, 615-42, and 615-43 and stated that the 

Finance Committee reviewed and recommended approval. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 615-41 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR 

TO EXECUTE A CONTRACT WITH A TERM OF JULY 1, 2015 TO JUNE 30, 2016, 

WITH MS. CRYSTAL COUCH TO SERVE AS A PROGRAM ASSISTANT FOR THE 

HAMILTON COUNTY RECOVERY COURT PROGRAM. 

 

For the record, Chairman Fields clarified that Resolution No. 615-41 was pulled 

after being heard in finance committee after last week’s agenda session.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

JUNE 17, 2015 
 

27 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Graham, seconded by Commissioner Mackey, to 

adopt Resolution Nos. 615-21, 615-22, 615-27, 615-29, through 615-31, 615-33, 615-

34, 615-37, 615-38 through 615-40, 615-42, and 615-43.  

 

Chairman Fields asked if there was any discussion. 

 

Commissioner Mackey spoke regarding Resolution No. 615-37 and requested a 

list detailing the new hires once the Volkswagen Plant expansion is complete. He is 

interested in seeing how many of the new hires are from Hamilton County.  

 

Commissioner Boyd spoke regarding Resolution No. 615-30 and asked Becky 

Barnes, Health Department Administrator to supply a list detailing the duties of the 

seven employees who work in the Bioterrorism Department for Hamilton County. Ms. 

Barnes added that the seven fulltime positions are required by the Centers for Disease 

Control and Prevention (CDC). She agreed to provide the requested information. 

 

Commissioner Boyd spoke regarding Resolution No. 615-33 and asked the 

project’s architect David Hudson, Artech Design Group to approach the podium. In 

response to Commissioner Boyd’s question, Mr. Hudson explained that this particular 

volunteer fire station is being built out of brick and mortar because it sits between two 

county owned public schools and is also used as a community center. In addition he 

added that this project is an expansion and remodel of the current building. The 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

JUNE 17, 2015 
 

28 

 

apparatus bay expansion is going to be primarily a metal building. Commissioner Boyd 

thanked Mr. Hudson for pointing out that Hamilton County engages in construction 

projects that are built for long term usage.  

 

The foregoing Resolutions were unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with 

the following members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Bankston, “Aye”, Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman 

Fields, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 9. Total “Nay” 

votes – 0. 

 

ANNOUNCEMENTS 

 

Chairman Fields asked for announcements from members of the Commission. 

 

Commissioner Graham spoke regarding his choice to vote against the fiscal year 

2015 -2016 Budget Resolution No. 615-35. He noted that he was not against the HES 

budget. He noted that his decision was for other reasons and thanked everyone for 

today’s public discussions. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

JUNE 17, 2015 
 

29 

 

Commissioner Mackey reported that he did not favor putting the needs of 

animals ahead of the Sheriff’s Department needs.  

 

Mayor Coppinger thanked members of the staff and administrators for their hard 

work and assistance in putting the budget together for fiscal year 2015-16. He 

expressed his appreciation to the Commission for their input during this process. 

  

In response to Clerk Knowles pointing out a Rule adopted in the Commission 

Order of Proceedings Attorney Taylor stated that the amendment to the budget will be 

prepared in writing and attached to Resolution No. 615-35. 

 

Commissioner Smedley, Commissioner Fairbanks and Chairman Fields 

recognized that their spouses were in today’s audience. Chairman Fields stated that 

tomorrow will be his 33rd wedding anniversary.  

 

Commissioner Smedley stated that she looked forward to receiving concentrated 

figures for the Sheriff’s proposed BRP.  

 

DELEGATIONS 

Chairman Fields asked for delegations on matters other than zoning.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

JUNE 17, 2015 
 

30 

 

Rick Carpenter, a resident at 3119 Chicalilly Avenue, who has addressed the 

Commission many times relating to his conflict with the Water and Wastewater 

Treatment Authority (WWTA), approached the podium. He requested an itemized billing 

statement from the attorney representing the WWTA for all his work over the past year. 

Chairman Fields reminded Mr. Carpenter that WWTA operates under a separate board 

and all concerns should be addressed by their board. He indicated this portion of the 

agenda was for the public to make announcements and not to ask questions of the 

Commission.  In closing Mr. Carpenter added that the Tennessee Local Development 

Review Board doesn’t recognize the unassigned agency status that has been assigned 

to WWTA.  

There being no further business, Chairman Fields declared the meeting in recess 

until Wednesday, June 24, 2015 at 9:30 AM. 

 

 

      Respectfully submitted: 

 

 

      _____________________________________ 
      William F. (Bill) Knowles, County Clerk 
Approved: 
 
   

________  
Date  Clerk’s Initials 

































No. 715-1 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
July 1, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
   A RESOLUTION TO APPROVE AND ACCEPT APPLICATIONS FOR 

NOTARY PUBLIC POSITIONS, THE BONDS AND OATHS OF 
NOTARIES PREVIOUSLY ELECTED, THE BOND OF THE 
SUPERINTENDENT OF SCHOOLS, AND THE BOND OF DEPUTY 
SHERIFF.  

 
   
WHEREAS, William F. (Bill) Knowles, Hamilton County Clerk, has certified according to the 

records of his office that the persons named on the attached listing labeled 
“HAMILTON COUNTY NOTARY PUBLIC APPLICATIONS” have duly 
applied for the positions so sought; and 

 
WHEREAS,  said Bill Knowles has certified according to the records of his office that the 

persons named on the attached listing labeled “REPORT FROM THE OFFICE 
OF THE COUNTY CLERK” have given approved bonds for the office of 
Notary Public and have taken the oath of office; and 

 
WHEREAS,  said Bill Knowles has certified according to the records of his office that the 

person named on the attached listing labeled “BOND OF THE 
SUPERINTENDENT OF SCHOOLS” has presented the bond of office; and 

 
WHEREAS,  said Bill Knowles has certified according to the records of his office that the 

person named on the attached listing labeled "THE BOND OF DEPUTY 
SHERIFF'' has presented the bond of office.  

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY BOARD OF 
COMMISSIONERS: 
 

1. That the persons named on the listing labeled “HAMILTON COUNTY 
NOTARY PUBLIC APPLICATIONS” are hereby approved as applicants to be 
submitted to the Secretary of State; and 



 

 

 
2.  That persons listed on the “REPORT FROM THE OFFICE OF THE 

 COUNTY CLERK” relative to bonds given for the position of Notary Public 
 are hereby approved for such and the bonds are accepted and the oaths 
 therefor are approved as taken; and 

 
3.  That the person named on the listing labeled “THE BOND OF THE 

 SUPERINTENDENT OF SCHOOLS” is accepted and the bond therefore is 
 approved as taken; and 

 
4.  That the person named on the listing labeled “THE BOND OF DEPUTY 

 SHERIFF” is accepted and the bond therefore is approved as taken; and 
 

5.  That each such person named on any listing hereinabove mentioned (which listing 
 is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference) is hereby deemed to  have 
 been individually considered according to the particular matter relating 
 thereto. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM 
AND AFTER PASSAGE. 
 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

July 1, 2015 

  
Date 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY NOTARY PUBLIC APPLICATIONS 
JULY 1, 2015 

NAME RESIDENCE BUSINESS 

 1

 
Michelle Apps 9309 Mtn. Shadows Drive R & R Outdoor 
 Chattanooga, TN 37421 3146 St. Elmo Avenue 
 423-702-5191 Chattanooga, TN 37408 
  423-752-2277 
 
Lisa A. Atherton 2636 Churchhill Downs Circle SunTrust Bank 
 Chattanooga, TN 37421 736 Market Street 
 423-954-1172 Chattanooga, TN 37402 
  423-757-3486 
 
Carol L. Ballard 1091 Pointed Rock Lane Horton, Ballard, & Pemerton 
 Hixson, TN 37343 735 Broad St., Ste. 306 
 423-842-6946 Chattanooga, TN 37402 
  423-826-2640 
 
Nick Barnett 1709 Long Street Steam Logistics, LLC 
 Chattanooga, TN 37408 835 Georgia Ave., Ste. 400 
 423-385-5775 Chattanooga, TN 37402 
  855-671-9885 
 
Sandra Blaylock 18 Woody Terrace American Alternator 
 Rossville, GA 30741 3208 Rossville Blvd. 
 706-820-6679 Chattanooga, TN 37407 
  423-622-1992 
 
Michael Bogardus 221 Promise Heights Drive Ham Co Juvenile Court 
 Ringgold, GA 30736 1600 E. 3rd St. 
 706-409-3009 Chattanooga, TN 37404 
  423-209-5158 
 
Neocia N. Bolton 1509 E. 28th Street ARB Enterprises 
 Chattanooga, TN 37404 Same 
 423-298-6721 Same 
  423-624-4429 
 
Julie Brown 145 Cleve Street BB&T 
 Ringgold, GA 30736 2120 Gunbarrel Rd. 
 404-857-5292 Chattanooga, TN 37421 
  423-892-3686 
 
Ranece Brown 3937 Allgood Court UTC 
 Chattanooga, TN 37406 615 McCallie Ave. 
 901-494-1649 Chattanooga, TN 37403 
  423-425-5346 
 
Lisa Carstens 6397 Lee Highway, Suite 100 Miller Motte Technical College 
 Chattanooga, TN 37421 6397 Lee Highway, Suite 100 
 423-463-5604 Chattanooga, TN 37421 
  423-510-2777 



HAMILTON COUNTY NOTARY PUBLIC APPLICATIONS 
JULY 1, 2015 

NAME RESIDENCE BUSINESS 

 2

 
Freida Carter 2918 Addison Road City of Chattanooga 
 Chattanooga, TN 37406 1250 Market St., Ste. 1000 
 423-653-8338 Chattanooga, TN 37402 
  423-643-5800 
 
Angela M. Carter 6400 Nicklaus Court Stein Construction Company 
 Hixson, TN 37343 3611 Amnicola Highway 
 423-593-0884 Chattanooga, TN 37406 
  423-698-0271 
 
Sherie Carter 2818 Cloud Springs Road Carmax 
 Rossville, GA 30741 2211 Overnite Drive 
 912-515-8232 Chattanooga, TN 37421 
  423-414-3500 
 
L. Cast 1313 Hixson Pike, #3 Chambliss, Bahner, & Stophel, P.C. 
 Chattanooga, TN 37405 605 Chesnut St., Ste. 1700 
 951-775-6379 Chattanooga, TN 37450 
  423-321-0407 
 
Kimberly Chapman 11277 McGill Road McMahan Law Firm 
 Soddy Daisy, TN 37379 323 High Street 
 423-805-4576 Chattanooga, TN 37403 
  423-265-1100 
 
Christina M. Coleman 12200 Plow Lane Comtrust Federal Credit Union 
 Soddy Daisy, TN 37379 5587 Highway 153 
 423-827-5895 Hixson, TN 37373 
  423-870-0001 
 
Hannah Courtney 6370 Frankfurt Road Carmax 
 Ooltewah, TN 37363 2211 Overnite Drive 
 586-719-8884 Chattanooga, TN 37421 
  423-414-3500 
 
Valda S. Cowan 3535 Mtn Creek Rd., Apt. 1202 Hamilton County Govt. 
 Chattanooga, TN 37415 6215 Dayton Blvd. 
 423-304-4485 Hixson, TN 37343 
  423-847-4835 
 
Cathie G. Cox 1903 Bowen Road I.U.O.E Local Union No. 917 
 Chattanooga, TN 37412 9830 Lee Parkway West 
 423-867-9148 Chattanooga, TN 37421 
  423-893-6176 
 
Jada W. Creech 510 Gordon Street The Covenant Group Insurance 
 Chickamauga, GA 30707 951 Eastgate Loop, Suite 102 
 423-645-5133 Chattanooga, TN 37411 
  423-855-8484 



HAMILTON COUNTY NOTARY PUBLIC APPLICATIONS 
JULY 1, 2015 

NAME RESIDENCE BUSINESS 

 3

 
Kathy Cresswell 608 Browns Ferry Road Keefe Plumbing 
 Chattanooga, TN 37419 1820 E. 23rd St. 
 423-821-6376 Chattanooga, TN 37404 
  423-622-3178 
 
Paul E. Crosby 9303 Seasons Drive City of Collegedale 
 Chattanooga, TN 37421 P.O. Box 1880 
 423-503-6533 Collegedale, TN 37315 
  423-396-3135 
 
Lori S. Cross 4715 Bonny Oaks Drive, #1103 ProX Powersports, Inc. 
 Chattanooga, TN 37416 6101 Mountain View Road 
 256-309-9668 Ooltewah, TN 37363 
  423-238-4321 
 
William B. Cummings 5750 Lake Resort Dr., Apt. B103 Steam Logistics, LLC 
 Chattanooga, TN 37415 835 Georgia Ave., Ste. 400 
 423-509-9333 Chattanooga, TN 37402 
  855-671-9885 
 
Susan M. Davidson 2320 Red Hill Valley Rd. SE UTC 
 Cleveland, TN 37323 615 McCallie Ave., 109 Race Hall 
 423-473-2903 Chattanooga, TN 37403 
  423-425-4416 
 
Vince Dean 1633 John Ross Road Hamilton County Govt 
 East Ridge, TN 37412 600 Market St., Suite 102 
 423-867-2857 Chattanooga, TN 37402 
  423-209-7540 
 
Debra B. Engholm 843 Shell Road Ham. Co. Community Corrections 
 Dunlap, TN 37327 6215 Dayton Blvd. 
 423-949-6752 Hixson, TN 37343 
  423-843-4780 
 
Katelynn Fuentes 4111 E. Freedom Circle Massey & Associates 
 Ooltewah, TN 37363 1024 E. M L King Blvd. 
 904-521-8757 Chattanooga, TN 37403 
  423-697-4529 
 
Erin Fuller 193 Hunter Run PL NW First Tennessee Bank 
 Cleveland, TN 37312 1 Cherokee Blvd. 
 423-650-0828 Chattanooga, TN 37405 
  423-209-2640 
 
Becky Ginder 300 W 6th St., Apt. 702 Hutton 
 Chattanooga, TN 37402 736 Cherry St. 
 423-834-6512 Chattanooga, TN 37402 
  423-756-9267 



HAMILTON COUNTY NOTARY PUBLIC APPLICATIONS 
JULY 1, 2015 

NAME RESIDENCE BUSINESS 

 4

 
Julie A. Goodwin 68 Winter Lane Unum 
 Ringgold, GA 30736 1 Fountain Square 
 706-937-2802 Chattanooga, TN 37402 
  423-294-8444 
 
Donald A. Gorman, Jr. 12218 Macon Way Ham. Co. Sheriff's Office 
 Soddy Daisy, TN 37379 600 Market St. 
 423-332-0688 Chattanooga, TN 37402 
  423-209-7011 
 
Teresa Griffin 204 Sunrise Drive EPB 
 Rossville, GA 30741 P.O. Box 182255 
 423-877-2572 Chattanooga, TN 37422 
  423-648-1485 
 
Deonte Grimes 7089 Buttercup Lane LoanMax 
 Ooltewah, TN 37363 5522 Brainerd Road 
 423-305-4320 Chattanooga, TN 37411 
  423-499-6088 
 
Bruce H. Guthrie, II 7316 Brookside Drive Self-Employed 
 Chattanooga, TN 37421 Same 
 423-991-4953 Same 
  Same 
 
Jessica Hand 6207 Hidden Hill Road Unum 
 Harrison, TN 37341 1 Fountain Square 
 423-847-7870 Chattanooga, TN 37402 
  423-294-9322 
 
Thomas Harris 1349 Moore Road Carmax 
 Charleston, TN 37310 2211 Overnite Drive 
 423-596-2394 Chattanooga, TN 37421 
  423-414-3500 
 
Robin Hastings 8411 Denison Lane First Volunteer Bank 
 Oolewah, TN 37363 1834 Gunbarrel Road 
 423-227-3341 Chattanooga, TN 37421 
  423-668-4652 
 
C. Holcombe 1005 Wren Circle Regions Private Wealth Mgmt. 
 Chattanooga, TN 37421 601 Market St., 2nd Floor 
 423-424-8741 Chattanooga, TN 37402 
  423-752-1532 
 
Angela F. Holman 13717 County Road 91 McCallie School 
 Bryant, AL 35958 500 Dodds Avenue 
 423-309-2420 Chattanooga, TN 37404 
  423-493-5785 



HAMILTON COUNTY NOTARY PUBLIC APPLICATIONS 
JULY 1, 2015 

NAME RESIDENCE BUSINESS 

 5

 
Rita Lorraine Hubbard 311 N. Moore Road N/A 
 Chattanooga, TN 37411 N/A 
 423-490-0964 N/A 
  N/A 
 
Susan R. Humphreys 2923 Nurick Drive Humphreys & Associates, et al 
 Chattanooga, TN 37415 535 Chesnut St., Ste. 237 
 423-443-0724 Chattanooga, TN 37402 
  423-664-8992 
 
Charlotte Humphries 7700 Runyan Road Wallace Tile, Inc. 
 Georgetown, TN 37336 1205 Latta Street 
 423-304-5763 Chattanooga, TN 37406 
  423-698-4452 
 
Emmanuel B. Jackson 7123 Holland Lane Carmax 
 Chattanooga, TN 37421 2211 Overnite Drive 
 423-635-4644 Chattanooga, TN 37421 
  423-414-3500 
 
Aimee Johnson 350 Cornerstone Drive Belfor Property Restoration 
 Ringgold, GA 30736 4317 North Creek Road 
 423-255-1505 Chattanooga, TN 37406 
  423-486-1980 
 
Julie Junge 5748 Courtyard Circle Lawrence & Lawrence, PLLC 
 Chattanooga, TN 37415 200 E. 8th Street 
 423-876-1103 Chattanooga, TN 37402 
  423-756-5031 
 
April D. Lovelady 713 Belle Vista Avenue Cash Express, LLC 
 Chattanooga, TN 37411 4927 Brainerd Road 
 931-259-7173 Chattanooga, TN 37411 
  423-899-6808 
 
Neekos Lowery 145 Hendricks Blvd. UPS Store 
 Chattanooga, TN 37405 2288 Gunbarrel Rd., Ste. 154 
 423-503-6071 Chattanooga, TN 37412 
  423-499-4440 
 
William McInnis 7603 Maplehurst Drive Erlanger Southside, et al 
 Ooltewah, TN 37363 1200 Dodson Avenue 
 423-910-1856 Chattanooga, TN 37406 
  423-778-2805 
 
Lorraine Monroe 2114 Dallas Lake Road Ashland Terrace Animal Hospital 
 Soddy Daisy, TN 37379 907 Ashland Terrace 
 423-842-6051 Chattanooga, TN 37415 
  423-877-4576 



HAMILTON COUNTY NOTARY PUBLIC APPLICATIONS 
JULY 1, 2015 

NAME RESIDENCE BUSINESS 

 6

 
Debbie S. Morrison 6815 Buck Tail Drive Belfor Property Restoration 
 Harrison, TN 37341 4317 North Creek Road 
 423-344-9458 Chattanooga, TN 37406 
  423-486-1980 
 
Dorothy A. Morton 401 Glenwood Drive HCDE 
 Chattanooga, TN 37404 3074 Hickory Valley Road 
 423-629-9874 Chattanooga, TN 37421 
  423-209-8600 
 
Amy Nabors 8193 Kaitlin Lane Bank of America 
 Ooltewah, TN 37363 3620 Tennessee Avenue 
 423-314-7889 Chattanooga, TN 37409 
  423-752-1225 
 
Krastio Nikolaev 729 Gentry Road SunTrust 
 Chattanooga, TN 37421 2020 Gunbarrel Road 
 423-667-4075 Chattanooga, TN 37421 
  423-591-6536 
 
David J. Otto 2010 Hickory Valley Road Regions Bank 
 Chattanooga, TN 37421 3401 Dayton Blvd. 
 863-899-6561 Chattanooga, TN 37415 
  423-321-6559 
 
Carla R. Park 6432 Forest Meade Drive McCallie School 
 Hixson, TN 37343 500 Dodds Avenue 
 423-619-4156 Chattanooga, TN 37404 
  423-624-8300 
 
Sara D. Patterson 2327 Chimney Hill Drive International Equipment Co., Inc. 
 Soddy Daisy, TN 37379 915 Pineville Road 
 423-385-4391 Chattanooga, TN 37405 
  423-267-6613 
 
Jacqueline Quinonez 1214 Maple Street SunTrust 
 Dalton, GA 30720 2020 Gunbarrel Road 
 706-618-6707 Chattanooga, TN 37421 
  423-591-6536 
 
Latasha Rice 1984 Acer Circle PK Management 
 Chattanooga, TN 37406 1 E. 11th Street 
 423-320-5883 Chattanooga, TN 37402 
  423-266-2334 
 
Tracy K. Rooks 1013 Debbie Lane Raines Brothers, Inc. 
 Ringgold, GA 30736 1040 E. Main Street 
 706-866-5443 Chattanooga, TN 37408 
  423-265-0467 



HAMILTON COUNTY NOTARY PUBLIC APPLICATIONS 
JULY 1, 2015 

NAME RESIDENCE BUSINESS 

 7

 
Brittany Rowe 1177 Pendall Lane City of Chattanooga 
 Soddy Daisy, TN 37379 1250 Market Street 
 315-767-4133 Chattanooga, TN 37402 
  423-643-5807 
 
Amanda Ryburn 2016 Emma Kate Drive Knight & Hooper, PLLC 
 Chattanooga, TN 37406 701 Market St., Ste. 700 
 423-414-7252 Chattanooga, TN 37401 
  423-267-1158 
 
Tyler Sanford 1106 Indian Avenue Carmax 
 Rossville, GA 30741 2211 Overnite Drive 
 423-991-5212 Chattanooga, TN 37421 
  423-414-3500 
 
Robin Shuptrine 6810 Sierra Lane R & R Hospitality, LLC 
 Ooltewah, TN 37363 3146 St. Elmo Avenue 
 423-326-0384 Chattanooga, TN 37408 
  423-752-2277 
 
Timothy Sisemore 99 Lake Howard Court SunTrust 
 Lafayette, GA 30728 2020 Gunbarrel Road 
 423-298-4539 Chattanooga, TN 37421 
  423-591-6555 
 
Alee M. Smith 6158 Hunter Road Amazon 
 Ooltewah, TN 37363 7200 Discovery Drive 
 423-320-1086 Chattanooga, TN 37421 
  423-954-6123 
 
Roxanne Vance 1524 Leighton Drive Boilmakers District 57 
 Soddy Daisy, TN 37379 206 Delmont St. 
 423-883-4288 Soddy Daisy, TN 37379 
  423-756-6000 
 
Thessela White 8453 Summit Hill Court Comcast 
 Ooltewah, TN 37363 1948 Northpoint Blvd. 
 423-356-0896 Hixson, TN 37343 
  423-468-4655 
 
Heather K. Whitfield 963 Union Fork Road Hixson Presbyterian Church 
 Soddy Daisy, TN 37379 1005 Gadd Road 
 423-580-8336 Hixson, TN 37343 
  423-875-0616 
 
Patricia Wright 4110 Mtn Creek Rd., Apt. 11 N/A 
 Chattanooga, TN 37415 N/A 
 423-413-5926 N/A 
  N/A 



 1

REPORT FROM THE OFFICE OF THE COUNTY CLERK 

TO THE HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 

NOTARY PUBLIC BONDS AND OATHS 

JULY 1, 2015 
 

The following Notaries Public elect of Hamilton County appeared in the County Clerk’s 
Office to receive their Commissions duly signed by the Governor of the State of 
Tennessee and countersigned by Honorable Tre Hargett, Secretary of State, bearing the 
date shown.  They gave approved bonds of ten thousand dollars and qualified as by law 
required. 

 
NAME COMMISSION DATE DATE QUALIFIED

Barbara Stone May 11, 2015 June 4, 2015 
Anne H. Fricker May 11, 2015 June 4, 2015 
Karen Elaine Gouger March 23, 2015 June 4, 2015 
Beverly McCurdy May 11, 2015 June 4, 2015 
Susan C. Sissom May 11, 2015 June 4, 2015 
Alexandria Hickman May 11, 2015 June 5, 2015 
Sally Gagliardi May 11, 2015 June 5, 2015 
Sheila Caylor May 26, 2015 June 5, 2015 
Mark Jolley May 11, 2015 June 5, 2015 
Zack LeQuire May 11, 2015 June 5, 2015 
Oswaldo Saucedo April 20, 2015 June 8, 2015 
Esai Rodriguez April 20, 2015 June 8, 2015 
Xiomara Morales April 20, 2015 June 8, 2015 
Kathy Smith May 26, 2015 June 9, 2015 
Judy D. James May 26, 2015 June 9, 2015 
David Mullins April 9, 2015 June 9, 2015 
Maya Patel May 11, 2015 June 9, 2015 
Patricia Rodriguez February 5, 2015 June 9, 2015 
Laura Herren April 9, 2015 June 10, 2015 
Donna Gillespie Ensminger April 9, 2015 June 10, 2015 
Laura Davis May 26, 2015 June 10, 2015 
B. B. Guthrie May 11, 2015 June 10, 2015 
Beth L. Mize May 26, 2015 June 11, 2015 
Denise Thompson May 11, 2015 June 11, 2015 
Sheila K. Bates April 9, 2015 June 11, 2015 
Tedra Deshea Hodge November 10, 2014 June 11, 2015 
Sheila K. White May 26, 2015 June 12, 2015 
Veronica E. Walker May 11, 2015 June 12, 2015 
Shauntae Hughes Fluellen May 26, 2015 June 12, 2015 
Pamela Cooke March 23, 2015 June 12, 2015 
Wendy S. Tipton May 11, 2015 June 12, 2015 
Susan B. Mullinax May 26, 2015 June 12, 2015 
Natasha Y. Butler May 26, 2015 June 15, 2015 
Anthony Magaraci May 11, 2015 June 16, 2015 
Ann Shutters May 11, 2015 June 16, 2015 
Lynn E. Seeger May 26, 2015 June 16, 2015 



 2

   

REPORT FROM THE OFFICE OF THE COUNTY CLERK 

TO THE HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 

NOTARY PUBLIC BONDS AND OATHS 

JULY 1, 2015 
 
 

NAME COMMISSION DATE DATE QUALIFIED

D. Annette Kenney May 26, 2015 June 16, 2015 
Carisa Gasaway May 11, 2015 June 16, 2015 
J. Raschke May 26, 2015 June 16, 2015 
Danette Higdon May 26, 2015 June 16, 2015 
J. Estes Cooke May 26, 2015 June 16, 2015 
Jennifer D. Pierce May 26, 2015 June 16, 2015 
Antonio Dewayne McMath May 26, 2015 June 17, 2015 
D. Vanessa Lowery May 26, 2015 June 17, 2015 
Christine Ridge May 11, 2015 June 17, 2015 
Corina E. Ross June 10, 2015 June 17, 2015 
Ashley D. Bice May 26, 2015 June 17, 2015 
Mariela Cruz May 11, 2015 June 17, 2015 
Carla Morgan February 23, 2015 June 17, 2015 
Lynn Taylor Beatty May 26, 2015 June 17, 2015 
Angie Davis November 10, 2014 June 17, 2015 
Deborah Erickson May 26, 2015 June 18, 2015 

 
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   



 REPORT FROM THE OFFICE OF THE COUNTY CLERK 
 TO THE HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
 BOND OF THE SUPERINTENDENT OF SCHOOLS 
 JULY 1, 2015 
 
  The individual presented the bond of office as prescribed by law. 
 
 Name Date 
 
 Rick Smith June 2, 2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
   MB________ 
   PAGE______ 
 



SURETY'S BOND NO. 71177070 STATE OF TENNESSEE 

COUNTY OF_,H=a=m= i =l -=t -=o"'"n"-------
OFFICIAL STATUTORY BOND 

FOR 
COUNTY PUBLIC OFFICIALS 

OFFICE OF Superintendent Hamilton County School 

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS: 

That ...,,.u..1>....M!J.LU~~----------------------------------------
of Chattanooga (City or Town), County of ~H...,,.a .... m ... i .... l.._t""""'o""n.__ _ _ ___ _ _ _ ____ _ _ 
Tennessee, as Principal, and WESTERN SURETY COMPANY 

as Surety, are held and firmly bound unto THE STATE OF TENNESSEE in the full amount of 
One H1mdred Thousand and 00/100 Dollars($100.000.00 ) 
lawful money of the United States of America for the full and prompt payment whereof we bind ourselves, our representatives, 
successors and assigns, each jointly and severally, firmly and unequivocally by these presents. 

Superintendent Hamilton 
WHEREAS, The said Principal was duly ___ elected _X __ appointed to the office o.._f ,,.C..,o""u..,n ....... tc.1Y-'---'S"'"c,.,_..h..,,,o"'o,..,l..._ _______ _ 

County for the ___ 2 ___ year term beginning on the __ l_s~t~ day of of and for Hami l ton 
July -~2~0~1=5~_ and ending on the ls t day of ____ _,J,,_u,,,,_,,,l,.:zy:____ _ 201 7 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CONDITION OF THIS OBLIGATION IS SUCH: 

, Principal, shall: 
of Hamilton 

SURETY: 

NOT NEEDED 
Tennessee Resident Agent 

(Attach evidence of authority to execute bond) 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF PRINCIPAL 

Before me, a Notary Public, of the State and County aforesaid, personally appeared __ L>,,µ""1-"'-...=i'--=:....:..:..!..!.---':....:...--

to me known (or proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence) to be the individual descn ed in the foregoing bond as 
the foregoing bond as such individual's free act and 

:2.~16 

CT-0467 (Rev 07-13) RDA903 



ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF SURETY 

STATE OF South Dakota 
COUNTY OF Minnehaha 

Before me, a Notary Public, of the State and County aforesaid, personally appeared Paul T. Bruflat 
with whom I am personally acquainted and, who, upon oath, acknowledged himself/herself to be the individual who executed the 
foregoing bond on behalf of WESTERN SUEETY COMPANY , the within named Surety, a corporation duly licensed 
to do business in the State of Tennessee, and that he/she as such individual being authorized so to do, executed the foregoing bond 
on behalf of the Surety, by signing the name of the corporation by himself/herself as such individual. 
WITNESS my hand and seal this 2nd day of June 
My Commission Expires: 

August 11 

APPROVAL AND CERTIFICATION 

SECTION I. (Applicable to all County Officials except Clerks of all Courts) 

Bond and Sureties approved by ---------------------------- , County Executive/Mayor 
of ___________________ County, on this ______ day of ----------

Signed: 

County ExecutivefMayor 

CERTIFICATION: 

I, , County Clerk of _________________ County, 

hereby certify that the foregoing bond was approved by the Legislative Body of said county, in open session on the --------
day of , and entered upon the minutes thereof. 

Signed: 

County Clerk 

SECTION II. (Applicable to all Clerks of all Courts) 

CERTIFICATION: 
This is to certify that I have examined the foregoing bo.nd and found the same to be sufficient aud in conformity to law, that the 
sureties on the sa1ne"'a~~ goo.d a.nd worth ,the penalty the teof and that the same has been entered upon the minutes of said court. 

SECTION III. (Applicable to all County Officials' Bonds) 
FOR USE BY REGISTER OF DEEDS 

\ ' 
SECTION IV. (Applicable to all Coimty Officials Bonds) 

ENDORSEMENT: 

Signed: 

Judge of the __________ Court of and for said County on 
this ______ day of ________ _ 

',. . ~ . 

Filed \Yith the Office of the County Clerk, County of ________ , this ____ day of __________ ------

: . 
Signed: 

Form Prescribed by the Comptroller of the Treasury, State of Tennessee 
Form Approved by the Attorney General, State of Tennessee 

CT-0467 (Rev 07-13) 

County Clerk 

WESTERN SURETY COMPANY 
101 S. Reid St., Ste. 300 
Sioux Falls, SD 57103-7046 
605-336-0850 



Western Surety Company 
POWER OF ATTORNEY 

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS: 
That WESTERN SURETY COMPANY, a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of South Dakota, and 

authorized and licensed to do business in the States of Alabama, Alaska, Arizona, Arkansas, California, Colorado, Connecticut, 
Delaware, District of Columbia, Florida, Georgia, Hawaii, Idaho, Illinois, Indiana, Iowa, Kansas, Kentucky, Louisiana, Maine, 
Maryland, Massachusetts, Michigan, Minnesota, Mississippi, Missouri, Montana, Nebraska, Nevada, New Hampshire, New Jersey, 
New Mexico, New York, North Carolina, North Dakota, Ohio, Oklahoma, Oregon, Pennsylvania, Rhode Island, South Carolina, 
South Dakota, Tennessee, Texas, Utah, Vermont, Virginia, Washington, West Virginia, Wisconsin, Wyoming, and the United 
States of America, does hereby make, constitute and appoint 

State of south Dako ta , its regularly elected Vice President 

as Attorney-in-Fact, with full power and authority hereby conferred upon him to sign, execute, acknowledge and deliver for and on 
its behalf as Surety and as its act and deed, the following bond: 

One..fil!.EERTNTEND.ENT HAMILTON COUNTY SCHOOL 

for ,.,..,._,,.,"'--''""-'"""""......._~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 

as Principal in the penalty amount not to exceed: $ J o o o o o o o 

Western Surety Company further certifies that the following is a true and exact copy of Section 7 of the by-laws of Western Surety Company 
duly adopted and now in force, to-wit: 

Section 7. All bonds, policies, undertakings, Powers of Attorney, or other obligations of the corporation shall be executed in the corporate 
name of the Company by the President, Secretary, any Assistant Secretary, Treasurer, or any Vice President, or by such other officers as the 
Board of Directors may authorize. The President, any Vice President. Secretary, any Assistant Secretary, or the Treasurer may appoint 
Attorneys-in-Fact or agents who shall have authority to issue bonds, policies, or undertakings in the name of the Company. The corporate seal is 
not necessary for the validity of any bonds, policies, undertakings, Powers of Attorney or other obligations of the corporation. The signature of any 
such officer and the corporate seal may be printed by facsimile. 

In Witness Whereof, the said WESTERN SURETY COMPANY has caused these presents to be executed by its 
Vi c e Pres iden with the corporate seal affixed this 2nd day of June 

2015 

ATIEST 

STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA} 
SS 

COUNTY OF MINNEHAHA 

On this 2nd day of June 2015 

Paul T. Br uflat and ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~-

who, being by me duly sworn, acknowledged that they signed the above Power of Attorney as Vice President 
and Assistant Secretary, respectively, of the said WESTERN SURETY COMPANY, and acknowledged said instrument to be the 
voluntarv act and deed of.said Corooration. 

+~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~+ 

~ S. PETRll< ~ 
~~NOTARY PUBLIC~$ 
s~SOUTH DAKOTA~s s s 
+~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~+ 

My Commission ExpiresAugust 11, 2016 
Form F1975-1-2012 

J ~-No-----tary P-ublic 



 MB________ 
 PAGE________ 

REPORT FROM THE OFFICE OF THE COUNTY CLERK 
TO THE HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 

THE BOND OF DEPUTY SHERIFF 
JULY 1, 2015 

 
The individual listed below has submitted to the County Clerk a bond as required by law. 
 

 Amount of Bond Date of Oath 
   

J.W. Hogue $100,000.00 June 9, 2015 
   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



SURETY'S BOND N0. __ "'""'10-'-63'""'1"'-57'""'8~0-- STATE BOND FORM COB-7(82) 

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
COUNTY OF Hamilton 

OFFICIAL STATUTORY BOND 
FOR 

COUNTY PUBLIC OFFICIALS 
OFFICE OF Deputv Sheriff 

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS: 

That J.W. Hogue of Soddy Daisy (City or Town), 
County of Hamilton Tennessee, as Principal, 
and Travelers Casualty and Surety Company of America as Surety, are held and firmly bound unto THE STATE 
OF TENNESSEE in the full amount of One Hundred Thousand no/100 Dollars 
($ 100,000.00 ) lawful money of the United States of America for the full and prompt payment whereof we bind 
ourselves, our representatives, successors and assigns, each jointly and severally, firmly and unequivocally by these presents. 

WHEREAS, The said Principal was duly _elected _K_ appointed to the office of_,D=ep::..:u:::.ty<-=Sh~e .... n .... · f""f _________ of and 
for Hamilton County for the _I_ year term beginning on the 21st day of June 2.Qli__ and ending on 
the~ day of June 2_0_16 __ 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CONDITION OF TIDS OBLIGATION IS SUCH: 
That ifthe said J.W. Hogue , Principal, shall: 
1. Faithfully perform the duties of the office of Deputy Sheriff of Hamilton 

County during his term of office or his continuance therein; and, 
2. Pay over to the persons authorized by law to receive them, all monies, properties, or things of value that may come into his 

hands during his term of office or his continuance therein without fraud or delay, and shall faithfully and safely keep all 
records required of him in his official capacity, and at the expiration of his term, or in case of his resignation or removal from 
office, shall turn over to his successor all records and property which have come into his hands, then this obligation shall be 
null and void; otherwise to remain in full force and effect. 

WITNESS our hands and seals this ---=-9t=h'--__ day of _ __ J_un_e ____ ~ 2 .Q!L. 

WITNESS -ATTEST: P~J.PAL: ~· Hogue 

or;~-= 

Not Needed 

SURETY ~ 

t;£ec~·in-Fact 
COUNTERSIGNED BY: 

Tennessee Resident Agent 

(attach evidence of authority to execute bond) 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF PRINCIPAL 
STATE OF TENNESEE 
COUNTY OF H,//,f/JJ. 7()# 

Before me, a Notary Public, of the State and County aforesaid, personally appeared J W. llo.:tt.1e 
with whom I am personally acquainted and who, upon oath, acknowledged himself to be the individual who executed the 
foregoing bond, and he acknowledged to me that he executed the same. 
Witness my hand and seal this __&____day of Vtv>e 
My Commission Expires: 

ftpril 8 ,20/8 . 

Form Prescribed by the Comptroller of the Treasury, State of Tennessee 
Form Approved by the Attorney General, State of Tennessee 



ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF SURETY 

STATE OF North Carolina 
COUNTY OF _G_u_i_lfo_r~d _________ _ 

Before me, a Notary Public, of the State and County aforesaid, personally appeared -=-M=y'-"e=sh=a,_C=a=nn=on~------
with whom I am personally acquainted and, who, upon oath, acknowledged himself to be the individual who executed the 
foregoing bond on behalf of Travelers Casualty and Surely Company of America , the within named Surety, a 
corporation duly licensed to do business in the State of Tennessee, and that he as such individual being authorized so to do, 
executed the foregoing bond, by signing the name of the corporation by himself as such individual. 
Witness my hand and seal this _!2fu_ day of June ~2015 . 
MY Commission Expires: >" ~ _ _ ,... _ //.A / :' -
De(2Gl'11,Se t< If, , 2 tJ/1 . . ~""", ~ [f!./vtL.-

Notary Public 

APPROVAL AND CERTIFICATION 

SECTION I. (Applicable to all County Officials except Clerks of Chancery and Circuit Courts) 

Bond and Sureties approved by J,M NI· 
County, on this ~day of :Tu.n L 

Co pp' n~e"' , County Executive of J-/-4. no..• l+o ... 
, 2~. 

Si~gn. ,. t'\A ~ "" 

CERTIFICATION: 

- l"\. 1 ~--~.C--

I, County Clerk of County, hereby certify that the 
foregoing bond was approved by the Legislative Body of said county, in open session on the __ day of _______ _, 
2 _, and entered upon the minutes thereof. 

Signed: 

County Clerk 

SECTION II. (Applicable only to Clerks of Chancery and Circuit Courts) 

CERTIFICATION: 

This is to certify that I have examined the foregoing bond and found the same to be sufficient and in conformity to law, that the 
sureties on the same are good and worth the penalty thereof and that the same has been entered upon the minutes of said court. 

Signed: 

Judge of the __ Chancery _ __ Circuit Court of and for said 
County on this day of 2 __ _ 

SECTION III. (Applicable to all County Officials' Bonds) 
FOR USE BY REGISTER OF DEEDS 

SECTION IV. (Applicable to all County Officials' Bonds) 
INDORSEMENT: 

Filed with the Comptroller of the Treasury, State of Tennessee, this ___ day of _ ____ _ _,, 2 __ 
Signed: 

Comptroller of the Treasury 



WARNING: THIS POWER OF ATTORNEY IS INVALID WITHOUT THE RED BORDER 

~ 
TRAVELERS J 

POWER OF ATTORNEY 

Attorney-In Fact No. 

Farmington Casualty Company 
Fidelity and Guaranty Insurance Company 
Fidelity and Guaranty Insurance Underwriters, Inc. 
St. Paul Fire and Marine Insurance Company 
St. Paul Guardian Insurance Company 

229322 

St. Paul Mercury Insurance Company 
Travelers Casualty and Surety Company 
Travelers Casualty and Surety Company of America 
United States Fidelity and Guaranty Company 

Certificate No. 006287543 

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS: That Farmington Casualty Company, St. Paul Fire and Marine Insurance Company, St. Paul Guardian Insurance 
Company, St. Paul Mercury Insurance Company, Travelers Casualty and Surety Company, Travelers Casualty and Surety Company of America, and United States 
Fidelity and Guaranty Company are corporations duly organized under the laws of the State of Connecticut, that Fidelity and Guaranty Insurance Company is a 
corporation duly organized under the laws of the State of Iowa, and that Fidelity and Guaranty Insurance Underwriters, Inc., is a corporation duly organized under the 
laws of the State of Wisconsin (herein collectively called the "Companies"), and that the Companies do hereby make, constitute and appoint 

Kerry Germanoski, Tyran Hooker, Rhonda Cathey, Frankie Hill, Myesha Carmon, Chad Layne, Lisa Clark, and Maia Braswell 

of the City of Raleigh , State of North Carolina , their true and lawful Attorney(s)-in-Fact, 
each in their separate capacity if more than one is named above, to sign, execute, seal and acknowledge any and all bonds, recognizances, conditional undertakings and 
other writings obligatory in the nature thereof on behalf of the Companies in their business of guaranteeing the fidelity of persons, guaranteeing the performance of 
contracts and executing or guaranteeing bonds and undertakings required or permitted in any actions or proceedings allowed by law. 

24th IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Companies have caused this instrument to be signed and their corporate seals to be hereto affixed, this-----------
day of April 2015 

State of Connecticut 
City of Hartford ss. 

Farmington Casualty Company 
Fidelity and Guaranty Insurance Company 
Fidelity and Guaranty Insurance Underwriters, Im;. 
St. Paul Fire and Marine Insurance Company 
St. Paul Guardian Insurance Company 

By: 

St. Paul Mercury Insurance Company 
Travelers Casualty and Surety Company 
Travelers Casualty and Surety Company of America 
United States Fidelity and Guaranty Company 

On this the 24 th day of April 20 15. before me personally appeared Robert L. Raney, who acknowledged himself to 
be the Senior Vice President of Farmington Casualty Company, Fidelity and Guaranty Insurance Company, Fidelity and Guaranty Insurance Underwriters, Inc., St. Paul 
Fire and Marine Insurance Company, St. Paul Guardian Insurance Company, St. Paul Mercury Insurance Company, Travelers Casualty and Surety Company, Travelers 
Casualty and Surety Company of America, and United States Fidelity and Guaranty Company, and that he, as such, being authorized so to do, executed the foregoing 
instrument for the purposes therein contained by signing on behalf of the corporations by himself as a duly authorized officer. 

In Witness Whereof, I hereunto set my hand and official seal. 
My Commission expires the 30th day of June, 2016. 

58440-8-12 Printed in U.S.A. 

c.j~ 
Marie C. Tetreault, Notary Public 

WARNING: THIS POWER OF ATTORNEY IS INVALID WITHOUT THE RED BORDER 



No. 715-2 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
July 1, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION TO CONFIRM THE APPOINTMENT BY THE COUNTY MAYOR 
OF ONE MEMBER TO THE HAMILTON COUNTY WATER & WASTEWATER 
TREATMENT AUTHORITY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS FOR TERM ENDING 
JUNE 2, 2020. 
 
WHEREAS,  pursuant to Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 68-221-601, et seq. and 

Hamilton County Resolutions 493-27, 593-60, 993-50 and 1093-23, 
certain members of the Hamilton County Water & Wastewater 
Treatment Authority Board of Commissioners are appointed by the 
County Mayor and confirmed by the Board of County Commissioners; 
and, 

 
WHEREAS,     the County Mayor has appointed Peter Avisto to a term of (5) years 

beginning June 2, 2015 and ending June 2, 2020; 
 
 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY 
IN SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the appointment of Peter Avisto to the Hamilton County Water & Wastewater Treatment 
Authority Board of Commissioners is hereby confirmed for a term ending June 2, 2020. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM 
AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

July 1, 2015 

  
Date 

 





No. 715-3 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
July 1, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION TO APPOINT FOUR (4) MEMBERS TO THE 
HAMILTON COUNTY HEALTH & SAFETY BOARD AS DESIGNATED 
HEREIN AND FOR TERMS AS INDICATED. 
 

WHEREAS, the Hamilton County Board of Commissioners adopted the 
Health & Safety Rules and Regulations on May 5, 1999; 
and  

 
WHEREAS,  James Owens (the representative from District One (1)) and 

Constance Williams (the representative from District Five 
(5)), and John K. “Bucky” McCulley (the representative 
from District Nine (9)) have submitted their respective 
resignations to said Board; and  

 
WHEREAS,  Andrew C. Mullins has moved from District Eight (8) and 

moved into District Nine (9), but desires to continue to 
serve on said Board and has done a great job in his 
involvement with said Board, and currently serves as its 
Chairman;  

 
WHEREAS,              Commissioner Fairbanks of District One (1) has announced 

his appointment of Ken Foster to serve on said Board for 
the term beginning July 1, 2015, and ending July 3, 2016; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, Commissioner Beck of District Five (5) has announced his 
                                    appointment of George Maffett to serve on said Board for    
                                    the term beginning July 1, 2015, and ending January 19, 

2019; and 
 
WHEREAS,  Commissioner Boyd of District Eight (8) has announced his 



 

 

                                   appointment of Gordon Anderson to serve on said Board for 
the term beginning July 1, 2015, and ending April 18, 2016; 
and 

 
WHEREAS,   Commissioner Bankston of District Nine (9) has announced 

his appointment of Andrew C. Mullins to serve on said 
Board for the term beginning July 1, 2015, and ending 
January 4, 2016;  

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, 
IN SESSION ASSEMBLED; 
 

APPOINTEE   APPOINTED BY 
Ken Foster    Commissioner Fairbanks, District One (1) 
George Maffett  Commissioner Beck, District Five (5) 
Gordon Anderson  Commissioner Boyd, District Eight (8) 
Andrew Mullins  Commissioner Bankston, District Nine (9) 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM 

AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

July 1, 2015 

  
Date 

 



My name is Andrew C. Mullins, better known as Andy.  I am a 34 year East Ridge resident currently 
residing at 1882 Prigmore Road & will be moving to our new home at 6041 Morning Glory Drive, 
Harrison, TN., 37341 within 60-90 days.  My three children attended East Ridge public schools.  I have 
been a TSSAA & NCAA college referee/official since 1987 and currently officiate in the sports of football, 
baseball and volleyball.  I have served at both East Ridge Middle and High Schools as booster club 
president for several years with my proudest accomplishments of my team building and constructing the 
baseball field behind the schools transforming it from an old field to a beautiful facility with brick walls 
and lights to match other schools around the county. 

My wife and I formerly owned Pioneer Sports & Services, Inc. on Ringgold Road for over 12 years until 
God closed our business due to 9/11.  He then opened the door with Aflac and I have been blessed for 
the last 10 years as an Employee Benefits Consultant.  I also am an insurance agent representing Blue 
Cross/Blue Shield of Tennessee.  Earlier years, I served as a federal agent, a police officer in Jefferson 
City, TN., Knoxville TN and finishing my career as an officer with the Chattanooga Police Department. 

I am currently a full-time specialist @ Lowe’s Home Improvement on Gunbarrel Road.  I am a former 
EMT/Paramedic and served over 20 years with various volunteer fire departments and Rescue Squads in 
the state of Tennessee.  I also worked with Eckerd Drugs, Inc. as a Loss Prevention/Security Specialist 
and held a private polygraph examiner’s license for several years. 

I am an active member of East Ridge Baptist Church where I met my wife, Tonya Pendley in 1982, now in 
our 30th year of marriage serving in many capacities and leadership roles.  I am also a Certified 
Tennessee Master Gardener and enjoy volunteering for Crabtree Farms, Siskin Children’s Center, 
Riverbend Festival security, and other community organizations. 

I have been very active in local elections, politics, etc. and currently serve as the Precinct Chairman for 
District 8 in Hamilton County.  I look forward to serving Commissioner Tim Boyd and the citizens of 
Hamilton County in my new role. 

Respectively yours, 

 

Andrew C. Mullins 

AndrewMullins@PrigmorePond.com 
423.867.3033 Home 
423.605.3035 Cell 

mailto:AndrewMullins@PrigmorePond.com


George W. Maffett, Jr. 
6109 Fisk Avenue 
Chattanooga, TN  37421 
423-892-0472 home 
423-320-2900 cell 
 
Education: 
 
1951 - 1963 – Howard High School, Chattanooga TN 
1963 - 1965 – New Tribes Bible Institute, Biblical Studies, Waukesha, WI 
1975 - 1988 – Chattanooga State Technical Community College, Chattanooga TN – Associate          
Degree in Elementary Education 
2006 - 2009 – Covington Theological Seminary, Chattanooga TN – Bachelor Degree in Ministry 
2010 - 2013 – Covington Theological Seminary, Chattanooga TN – Master’s Degree in Ministry 
 
Employment Experience: 
 
1968 – 1974 – United Parcel Service, Chattanooga TN  
1974 – 1975 – City of Chattanooga, Department of Health and Education 
1975 – 2005 – City of Chattanooga Public Works Department 
 
Military Educational and Training: 
 
1965 – 1974 – U.S. Army, Truck Driver 
1977 – 1992 – Tennessee Army National Guards, 181st Field Artillery, Section Chief, NCO Special 
Weapons Nuclear Team 
1990 – 1991 – Desert Storm, Saudi Arabia, Kuwait, Iraq 
1992 – 2003 – U.S. Army Reserves 
 
Church Affiliation: 
 
Vice-Chairman of Deacons – Mount Paran Missionary Baptist Church, Chattanooga TN 
Deacon over Mother’s & Deaconess, Audio Equipment, Kitchen, Choir 
Director, Youth Deacon, Director of Male Chorus and Church Custodian 
 
Other Affiliations: 
 
Vice Chairman and Choir Member – Chattanooga District Laymen Association 
Vice President – Shepherd Community Action Council 
Choir Member – Chattanooga District Association 
Volunteer – CCA Prison 
Member – Vietnam Veterans of America (VVA) Chapter 203 
 
 



Interests & Hobbies: 
 
Singing, cleaning community streets, travel, attend sporting events, managing beatification 
spots in neighborhood, assist the elderly and other people in general, dedicated church 
member 
 
Additional Information: 
 
Presently married for 24 years to Jennifer Maffett; and is the father of four children, Angela L. 
Maffett-Terry, George W. Maffett, III, Paul Dedric Maffett, and Samantha L. Maffett 



Gordon Anderson 
7623 Asherton Lane 
Chattanooga, TN  37421 
423-400-2656 
gordonanderson@epbfi.com 

Resident of Hamilton County since November, 1977 

Spouse of 47 years, Cathy Deloris (Black) Anderson 

Two Children and two Granddaughters 

CURRENTLY: 

Rating Consultant, Unum, Chattanooga, TN – 15 years on July 10, 2015 

Volunteer Service: 

• Trustee, North Georgia Worship Center, Wildwood, GA 
• Board of Directors, Tree Tops Resort Owners Association, Gatlinburg, TN 

Background: 

• Masters Degree, Vocational Education 
• Four years teaching experience in High School Vocational Education 
• Twenty years managing apprenticeship training programs, TVA 

o Director, National Management Association four years 
• 2010 Candidate for District 7, Hamilton County Commission. 

 

 

 

mailto:gordonanderson@epbfi.com


Ken Foster 

Thatsmrfoster2u@gmail.com 

423-602-7428 

 

Born November 1950, at Oceanside, L.I., N.Y. to Kenneth and Anne Foster. 

An idyllic childhood, spent mostly outdoors in the Catskill Mountains and later, Long Island.  

Educated in Catholic schools up until graduating high school.  

Altar boy, Boy Scout, competitive rifle shooter, self-taught mediocre guitar player. 

In college, I wasn't much interested in my studies, but was very interested in a long-haired Canadian girl, 
so...I married the beautiful Catherine Gilbert in 1971 and we were blessed with four children.  

Dan was the first in 1971. He is an organist, singer and conductor who has performed at Carnegie Hall, 
Europe, and the Far East. He is married to singer and teacher Sabrina Manna, and lives in Troy, NY. 

Christine born in 1977, married John Albarelli Jr., works for the New York State Assembly and is the 
mother of two beautiful children, Liliana and John III.  

Erin, born in 1981, is married to Gregory Smith and has two children, Kenneth and Oliviana. The Smiths 
moved to Tennessee about eight months before we did. They live in Soddy-Daisy and own their own 
business, Go-Graphics, a custom printing service. 

Brian, born 1985, now lives in Charleston, SC and supervises a crew at an aluminum extrusion plant. His 
previous experience was at a much bigger plant in New York, where they produced the window frames 
for the new World Trade Center. He has more than doubled the production at the South Carolina plant. 

I worked in machine shops and construction until the bottom fell out of the housing market, then I went 
to a trade school to learn mainframe computer operations.  I spent five years with Farm Family 
Insurance, then five years with Garden Way Mfg.  In 1992 I started with New York State's Department of 
Mental Health and as I worked my way up, went to the Department of Motor Vehicles, and finally the 
New York State Office for Technology. We ran the data processing and printing operations and 
monitored the networks for all of New York State government. 

I was a volunteer firefighter with the Aetna Engine Company #1 in Fultonville, NY from 2005-2012. In 
2012 they elected me as their safety officer. When we moved here I intended to join the Dallas Bay 
Volunteers but tore my rotator cuff during training and decided it was time to leave the job to the young 
guys. 

In 2012, I retired and in 2013 fulfilled my longtime dream of escape from New York. We bought a house 
in Soddy Daisy and joined the All Saints Anglican Catholic Church there. 

mailto:Thatsmrfoster2u@gmail.com


No. 715-4 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
July 1, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION TO APPOINT FOUR (4) MEMBERS TO THE 
HAMILTON COUNTY BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS AS 
DESIGNATED HEREIN AND FOR TERMS AS INDICATED. 
 
 

WHEREAS, the Hamilton County Board of Commissioners adopted the 
Board of Zoning Appeals; and  

 

WHEREAS,  the terms of Ryan K. King, Matthew Hullander, Ethan D. 
Collier, and Wayne Henry have each expired, and the 
respective County Commissioners have desired to reappoint 
each for a respective term as indicated herein  

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, 
IN SESSION ASSEMBLED; 
 

 That the following individuals are hereby reappointed to serve on the 
Hamilton County Board of Zoning Appeals effective from the passing of this resolution 
for a term as herein reflected respectively: 
 

APPOINTEE    FOR A TERM ENDING 
 

             Ryan K. King   October 6, 2019 
             Matthew Hullander   June 21, 2020 
             Ethan D. Collier   August 4, 2020  
             Wayne Henry   October 6, 2019 
 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM 

AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

July 1, 2015 

  
Date 

 



No. 715-5 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
July 1, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BIDS OF SAM TELL & SON, INC., PASCO BROKERAGE, 
INC., THOMPSON & LITTLE, INC. AND CALICO INDUSTRIES, INC. FOR UNIT PRICING FOR 
SMALL KITCHEN ITEMS AND EQUIPMENT FOR THE EAST BRAINERD ELEMENTARY 
SCHOOL FOR THE DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY 
MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, bids were received in response to public advertisement for unit pricing for small 

kitchen items and equipment for the Department of Education; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the bids from Sam Tell & Son, Inc., Pasco Brokerage, Inc., Thompson & Little, Inc. 

and Calico Industries, Inc. were considered to be the lowest and best bids received; 
and, 

 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded through 

the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the requisitioning 
department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bids of Sam Tell & Son, Inc., Pasco Brokerage, Inc., Thompson & Little, Inc. and Calico 
Industries, Inc. for unit pricing for small kitchen items and equipment for the East Brainerd Elementary 
School for the Department of Education is hereby accepted, said bids being the lowest and best bids 
received, and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this 
resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

July 1, 2015 

  
Date 

 













































No. 715-7 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
July 1, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE UNIT PRICE BID OF ABC PROMOS & GIFTS FOR PRIMEX 
WIRELESS CLOCKS FOR THE PERIOD BEGINNING JULY 3, 2015 THROUGH JULY 2, 2016, 
WITH THE OPTION TO RENEW FOR ONE (1) ADDITIONAL ONE YEAR TERM, FOR THE 
TELECOMMUNICATIONS DEPARTMENT AND TO AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY MAYOR TO 
SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 
WHEREAS, bids were received in response to public advertisement for contract unit pricing for one 

(1) year, with the option to renew for one (1) additional (1) one year term, for Primex 
Wireless Clocks for the Telecommunications Department; and, 

 
WHEREAS, the unit price bid from ABC Promos & Gifts was considered to be the lowest and best 

bid received; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded through 

the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the requisitioning 
department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, 
IN SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the unit price bid of ABC Promos & Gifts for Primex Wireless Clocks for the period beginning 
July 3, 2015 through July 2, 2016, with the option to renew for one (1) additional one year term, for the 
Telecommunications Department is hereby accepted, said bid being the lowest and best bid received, 
and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM  
AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

July 1, 2015 

  
Date 

 































No. 715-8 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
July 1, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN A  LEASE AGREEMENT IN THE 
AMOUNT OF $9,445.00 ANNUALLY WITH CHATTANOOGA CHURCH MINISTRIES, INC. D.B.A., 
CHATTANOOGA COMMUNITY KITCHEN FOR SPACE FOR USE BY HAMILTON COUNTY, 
TENNESSEE, THE HEALTH SERVICES DIVISION, OPERATING AS THE CHATTANOOGA-HAMILTON 
COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT’S HOMELESS HEALTH CARE CENTER, FOR THE PERIOD OF 
JANUARY 1, 2015 THROUGH DECEMBER 31, 2015. 
 
WHEREAS:   In 2010, ARRA funds were accepted by the County to renovate 1891 square feet of space 

owned by Chattanooga Church Ministries, and;  
 
WHEREAS:   The utilization of federal funds for that renovation created federal interest in that square 

footage, and; 
 
WHEREAS:    In 2013, the County accepted a grant expansion to provide Outreach and Enrollment workers to 

assist homeless individuals in obtaining health insurance through the Federal Exchange, and; 
 
WHEREAS:   That grant expansion provided federal dollars for rental of office space for the Outreach and 

Enrollment workers, and; 
 
WHEREAS:   Those workers are housed in the renovated 1891 square feet of space owned by Chattanooga  

Church Ministries, and; 
 
WHEREAS:   Chattanooga Church Ministries is willing to lease the aforementioned renovated space to 

Hamilton County for an annual fee of $9,445.00. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
  That the County Mayor is authorized to sign the attached lease for space located  

at 711 E. 11th Street for an amount of $9,445.00 annually for the period of January 1, 2015 
through December 31, 2015. 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER ITS 
PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

July 1, 2015 

  
Date 

 









No. 715-9 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
July 1, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR ON BEHALF OF HAMILTON COUNTY TENNESSEE, 
THE HEALTH SERVICES DIVISION, OPERATING AS THE CHATTANOOGA-HAMILTON COUNTY HEALTH 
DEPARTMENT TO CONTINUE AN AGREEMENT BEGINNING JULY 1, 2015 AND ENDING JUNE 30, 2016, 
BETWEEN HAMILTON COUNTY AND THE TENNESSEE DEPARTMENT OF HUMAN SERVICES TO PROVIDE 
ADULT DAYCARE AND HOMEMAKER SERVICES FOR ELIGIBLE INDIVIDUALS AND FAMILIES AMOUNTING 
TO $338,037.00. 

 
WHEREAS, Hamilton County is committed to improving the plight of its elderly and special needs citizens; 

and, 
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Title XX of the Social Security Act, the Tennessee Department of Human Services 

seeks to enter into a contractual agreement with Hamilton County for social services as 
prescribed by the Tennessee Comprehensive Annual Plan for persons who meet the eligibility 
requirements; and, 

 
WHEREAS, the County subcontracts with Partnership for Families, Children, and Adults Inc., to provide 

Homemaker Services, and Signal Centers, Inc. to provide Adult Daycare Services; and, 
 
WHEREAS,  funding for the period July 1, 2015, through June 30, 2016, is as follows: 
 
   Tennessee Department of Human Services   $270,430.00 
   Hamilton County      $  67,607.00 
          $338,037.00; and, 
 
WHEREAS, these revenues and expenditures have previously been budgeted in the Emergency Services 

Department. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 

That the County Mayor is hereby authorized to continue an agreement (copies available upon 
request) between Hamilton County and the Tennessee Department of Human Services to 
provide social services in the amount of $270,430.00 for eligible individuals and families 
pursuant to Title XX of the Social Security Act, and provide local funds in the amount of 
$67,607.00 previously budgeted in the Emergency Services Department. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE 
PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

July 1, 2015 

  
Date 

 









































































No. 715-10 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
July 1, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR ON BEHALF OF HAMILTON COUNTY 
TENNESSEE, THE HEALTH SERVICES DIVISION, OPERATING AS THE CHATTANOOGA-
HAMILTON COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT TO ACCEPT AN  AGREEMENT BEGINNING 
JULY 1, 2015 AND ENDING ON   JUNE 30, 2016, BETWEEN HAMILTON COUNTY AND THE CITY 
OF CHATTANOOGA IN THE AMOUNT OF $30,000.00 TO PROVIDE FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE TO 
FAMILIES AND INDIVIDUALS TO PREVENT THOSE FAMILIES AND INDIVIDUALS FROM 
BECOMING HOMELESS. 
 
WHEREAS,  the City of Chattanooga has received Emergency Solutions Grant funds  

from the Department of Housing and Urban Development; and 
 

WHEREAS,  these funds are to be used to assist individuals and families imminently at  
risk of homelessness in maintaining permanent housing; and 

 
WHEREAS,  the City of Chattanooga seeks to subcontract with Hamilton County to  

distribute these funds through the Emergency Assistance Program; and 
 
WHEREAS,  the Hamilton County Emergency Assistance Program already provides  

temporary assistance to individuals and families with a mission to prevent 
homelessness and foster self sufficiency. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
  That the County Mayor is authorized to accept an agreement between Hamilton  

County and the City of Chattanooga in the amount of $30,000.00 to provide financial 
assistance to families and individuals for the prevention of homelessness. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER ITS 
PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

July 1, 2015 

  
Date 

 



























































No. 715-11 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
July 1, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 

 A RESOLUTION TO AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY MAYOR TO ENTER INTO AND 
EXECUTE AN AGREEMENT WITH S&ME FOR GEOENVIRONMENTAL 
SERVICES FOR INSPECTION AND TESTING NECESSARY FOR CONSTRUCTION 
OF THE DALLAS BAY FIRE HALL FOR AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED 
$25,000.00. 

 
WHEREAS, Resolution 615-12 was approved by this Legislative Body on June 03, 

2015 approving hourly rates and testing service fees for the 
geoenvironmental services provided by S&ME; and, 

 
WHEREAS,  the total amount of the contract shall not exceed $25,000.00 without 

approval by the County Commission; and, 
 
WHEREAS,  there are sufficient allocated funds available to the requisitioning 

department from bond proceeds. 
 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY 
IN SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 

That the County Mayor is authorized to enter into and execute an 
agreement with S&ME to provide geoenvironmental services for 
inspection and testing for the construction of the Dallas Bay Fire Hall, 
for an amount not to exceed $25,000.00. 

  
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM 
AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

July 1, 2015 

  
Date 

 

















No. 715-12 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
July 1, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 

 A RESOLUTION TO AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY MAYOR TO ENTER INTO AND 
EXECUTE AN AGREEMENT WITH S&ME FOR GEOENVIRONMENTAL 
SERVICES FOR INSPECTION AND TESTING NECESSARY FOR CONSTRUCTION 
OF THE TRI-COMMUNITY FIRE HALL FOR AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED 
$25,522.00. 

 
WHEREAS, Resolution 615-12 was approved by this Legislative Body on June 03, 

2015 approving hourly rates and testing service fees for the 
geoenvironmental services provided by S&ME; and, 

 
WHEREAS,  the total amount of the contract shall not exceed $25,522.00 without 

approval by the County Commission; and, 
 
WHEREAS,  there are sufficient allocated funds available to the requisitioning 

department from bond proceeds. 
 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY 
IN SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 

That the County Mayor is authorized to enter into and execute an 
agreement with S&ME to provide geoenvironmental services for 
inspection and testing for the construction of the Tri-Community Fire 
Hall for an amount not to exceed $25,522.00. 

  
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM 
AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

July 1, 2015 

  
Date 

 

















No. 715-13 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
July 1, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 

 A RESOLUTION TO AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY MAYOR TO ENTER 
INTO AND EXECUTE AN AGREEMENT WITH MORELAND 
ALTOBELLI ASSOCIATES, INC. FOR CONSTRUCTION ENGINEERING 
INSPECTION NECESSARY FOR THE CONSTRUCTION OF THE 
SIGNALIZATION AT HIXSON PIKE (SR-319) AND THRASHER PIKE 
FOR AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $13,415.00. 

 
WHEREAS, Resolution 712-24 was approved by this Legislative Body on 

July 18, 2012 for Agreement No. 120085 with the Tennessee 
Department of Transportation for the improvement and 
signalization of the intersection at Hixson Pike (SR-319) and 
Thrasher Pike; and, 

 
WHEREAS, the Construction Engineering Inspection (CEI) services 

provided by Moreland Altobelli Associates, Inc. are in 
accordance with the qualifications and procurement 
requirements of the State of Tennessee; and, 

 
WHEREAS,  the total amount of the contract shall not exceed $13,415.00 

without approval by the County Commission; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the construction engineering contract is contingent upon 

approval by Tennessee Department of Transportation; and, 
 
WHEREAS,  80% of the cost will be reimbursed to Hamilton County by 

the Federal Highway Administration per Tennessee 
Department of Transportation Agreement No. 120085, and 
the remaining 20% of the cost will be funded by Hamilton 
County. 

 
 



 

 

WHEREAS, there are sufficient allocated funds available to the 
requisitioning department from bond proceeds. 

 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY 
LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 

That the County Mayor is authorized to enter into and 
execute an agreement with Moreland Altobelli Associates, 
Inc. to provide Construction Engineering Inspection for the 
construction of the signalization at Hixson Pike and Thrasher 
Pike, for an amount not to exceed $13,415.00 of which 80% of 
the cost will be reimbursed by the Federal Highway 
Administration. 
 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT 
FROM AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE 
REQUIRING IT. 

 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

July 1, 2015 

  
Date 

 



No. 715-14 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
July 1, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO ENTER INTO AND EXECUTE 
AN "OFFER TO PURCHASE" RELATIVE TO TRACTS 19-C (REVISED) AND 19-D OF THE 
ENTERPRISE SOUTH INDUSTRIAL PARK AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO 
EXECUTE ANCILLARY EASEMENTS, A DEED, AND OTHER NECESSARY CLOSING 
DOCUMENTS CONVEYING SAID PROPERTY TO GESTAMP CHATTANOOGA, LLC, OR 
ASSIGNS. 
 
WHEREAS, Hamilton County and the City of Chattanooga jointly own certain property located 

within the Enterprise South Industrial Park and adjacent to the current Gestamp 
Chattanooga, LLC plant, also identified by State Tax Map No. 130 parcels 1.27 & 
1.28; and,  

 
WHEREAS, in order to facilitate further expansion of its current plant, a proposal has been 

presented in which Gestamp Chattanooga, LLC, desires to acquire the adjoining 
14.286 acres (more or less subject to survey) known as Tracts 19-C (revised) and 
19-D of the Enterprise South Industrial Park, for the purchase price of $100.00; and, 

 
WHEREAS, an “Offer to Purchase” and proposal have been presented by said purchaser, in 

accordance with the attached or similar documents; and, 
 
WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of Hamilton County to accept said offer for the continued 

economic growth of Hamilton County. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the County Mayor is hereby authorized to enter into and execute the attached or similar “Offer to 
Purchase” relative to Tracts 19-C (revised) and 19-D of the Enterprise South Industrial Park, and that 
the County Mayor is hereby authorized to execute ancillary easements, a deed, and other necessary 
closing documents conveying said property to the purchaser listed below. 
 
 
 
 
  TRACT NUMBERS                  ACREAGE                                   PURCHASER                        SALE PRICE 



 

 

19-C (revised) & 19-D       14.286 acres (more or less)           Gestamp Chattanooga, LLC       $100.00 
                                                (subject to survey)                                or assigns 
   
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

July 1, 2015 

  
Date 

 















































No. 715-15 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
July 1, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION TO MAKE CERTAIN FINDINGS RELATING TO THE 1400 
CHESTNUT, LLC PROJECT, TO DELEGATE CERTAIN AUTHORITY TO THE 
HEALTH, EDUCATIONAL, AND HOUSING FACILITY BOARD OF THE CITY OF 
CHATTANOOGA, TENNESSEE, AND TO AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY MAYOR TO 
ENTER INTO AND EXECUTE AN AGREEMENT FOR PAYMENTS IN LIEU OF AD 
VALOREM TAXES. 
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 48-101-312(b) Hamilton 

County (the “County”) is permitted to delegate to The Health, Educational, and 
Housing Facility Board of the City of Chattanooga (the “Corporation”) the 
authority to negotiate and accept payments in lieu of ad valorem taxes from 
lessees of the Corporation upon a finding by the County that such payments are 
deemed to be in furtherance of the Corporation’s public purposes; and, 

WHEREAS, 1400 Chestnut, LLC (the “Company”) is contemplating the construction of 
apartments and other related facilities and improvements in downtown 
Chattanooga, to provide for approximately two hundred (200) residential units 
(collectively, the “Project”), and because of the substantial economic benefits to 
the City and Hamilton County resulting from the Project, has asked the 
Corporation, the County Commission, and the City Council to approve 
payments in lieu of ad valorem taxes; and,  

WHEREAS, the County has determined that payments in lieu of ad valorem taxes from such 
a project would be in furtherance of the Corporation’s public purposes as set 
forth within Chapter 101 of Title 48 of the Tennessee Code Annotated;  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY 
IN SESSION ASSEMBLED: 

That we do hereby find that the Project referenced above is in the best interest of 
the County, and that payments in lieu of ad valorem taxes derived therefrom would 



 

 

be in furtherance of the Corporation’s public purposes; and  

That having made such a finding in this instance, we do hereby delegate to the 
Corporation the authority to negotiate and accept payments in lieu of ad valorem 
taxes from the Company; provided that commercial and/or retail space shall not be 
eligible for a freeze of in lieu of tax payments, and it being further noted that this 
delegation is for this purpose and this project only; and, 

That the County Mayor is hereby authorized to enter into an Agreement for 
Payments In Lieu of Ad Valorem Taxes in the form attached hereto, with such 
changes thereto as he shall approve; and, 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM 
AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

July 1, 2015 

  
Date 

 



1
13300832v1  28029-0001

AGREEMENT FOR PAYMENTS IN LIEU
OF AD VALOREM TAXES

THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into as of the ___ day of ________________,

2015, by and among THE HEALTH, EDUCATIONAL AND HOUSING FACILITY BOARD OF

THE CITY OF CHATTANOOGA, TENNESSEE (the “Board”); 1400 CHESTNUT, LLC, a

[Tennessee] limited liability company (the “Company”); the CITY OF CHATTANOOGA (the

“City”); and HAMILTON COUNTY (the “County”) and is joined in, for purposes of evidencing

their acceptance of the agency relationship established herein, by WILLIAM F. HULLANDER

and his successors, acting in the capacity of HAMILTON COUNTY TRUSTEE (“Trustee”), and

by WILLIAM C. BENNETT and his successors, acting in the capacity of HAMILTON COUNTY

ASSESSOR OF PROPERTY (“Assessor”).

W I T N E S S E T H:

WHEREAS, the Company is contemplating the construction of apartments and other

related facilities and improvements in downtown Chattanooga, to provide for approximately two

hundred (200) residential units (collectively, the “Project”), and has requested the Board’s

assistance in the financing of the Project; and

WHEREAS, substantial public welfare benefits to the City and County will be derived

from the Project; and

WHEREAS, the Board has agreed to take title to certain real and personal property that

constitutes the Project, as described in Exhibit “A” attached hereto (the “Property”), which

Property is to be owned by the Board and leased to the Company; and

WHEREAS, because the Property is to be owned by the Board, which is a public

corporation organized under the provisions of Tennessee Code Annotated, §48-101-301, et seq.,

all such property will be exempt from ad valorem property taxes (“property taxes”) normally paid



2
13300832v1  28029-0001

to the City and to the County, so long as the Property is owned by the Board, pursuant to the

provisions of Tennessee Code Annotated, §48-101-312; and

WHEREAS, for the public benefit of the citizens of the City and the County, the Board has

requested that the Company make certain payments to the Board in lieu of the payment of property

taxes that would otherwise be payable on the Property; and

WHEREAS, the Company has agreed to make such payments to the Board in lieu of the

property taxes otherwise payable on the Property (the “In Lieu Payments”), as more particularly

set forth hereinafter; and

WHEREAS, the Board has been authorized to receive the In Lieu Payments in lieu of

property taxes by resolutions adopted by the City and the County, acting through their duly elected

Council and Commission, respectively, which resolutions delegate to the Board the authority to

accept the In Lieu Payments upon compliance with certain terms and conditions; and

WHEREAS, the Company and the Board have agreed that all In Lieu Payments made to

the Board by the Company shall be paid to the Trustee, who shall disburse such amounts to the

general funds of the City and the County in accordance with the requirements specified herein; and

WHEREAS, the Board wishes to designate the County Assessor as its agent to appraise

the Property and assess a percentage of its value in the manner specified herein; and

WHEREAS, the Board wishes to designate the Trustee as its agent to receive the In Lieu

Payments in accordance with the terms of this Agreement;

NOW, THEREFORE, IN CONSIDERATION OF the mutual covenants and

agreements set forth herein, the parties hereto agree as follows:

1. Designation of Assessor; Appraisal and Assessment of Property.  The Board

hereby designates the Assessor as its agent to appraise and assess the Property.  The Assessor shall



3
13300832v1  28029-0001

appraise and assess the Property in accordance with the Constitution and laws of the State of

Tennessee as though the Property were subject to property taxes.  The Assessor shall give the

Trustee, the City Treasurer, the Board, and the Company written notice of any changes in

appraisals of the Property in the same manner that notices are given to owners of taxable property.

The Assessor shall make available to the Board and the Company all records relating to the

appraisal and assessment of the Property.

2. Designation of Trustee; Computation and Billing of Payments In Lieu of Taxes.

The Board hereby designates the Trustee as its agent to compute the amounts of the In Lieu

Payments, to receive such payments from the Company and to disburse such payments to the City

and the County.  On or about October 1 of each year during the term of this agreement, the Trustee

shall compute the taxes which would be payable on the Property if it were subject to property

taxes, in accordance with the Constitution and laws of the State of Tennessee and in accordance

with the appraisal and assessment of the Assessor.  Each year hereunder, the Trustee shall send the

Board and the Company a bill for appropriate amounts of In Lieu Payments (the “Tax Bill”).

3. Payments in Lieu of Taxes.  After receipt of the Tax Bill, the Company shall pay to

the Trustee the amounts indicated on the Tax Bill to be paid to the County and the Company shall

pay to the City Treasurer the amounts on the Tax Bill to be paid to the City in accordance with the

amount set forth below in Paragraph 4.  The In Lieu Payments shall be made by the Company in

lieu of the property taxes which would otherwise be payable on the Property if it were subject to

property taxes.

4. Amount of Payments by the Company.

(a) Property Exclusive of Improvements.  For each of the years 2017 and

thereafter, the Company shall make payments with respect to the Property in an amount equal to



4
13300832v1  28029-0001

one hundred percent (100%) of all City and County annual ad valorem property taxes levied in the

base year of 2015 (the “Base Year”) on the value of the associated Property (land, buildings, etc.).

The intent is for the City and County to continue receiving throughout the term of this Agreement

all taxes assessed as to the value of the property in the Base Year exclusive of the improvements

made in connection with the Project, which improvements are subject to the payment in lieu of tax

obligations set forth in subsection (b), immediately below.

(b) Improvements.  After construction of the Project is completed and the

Assessor of Property has reassessed the then improved Property, the Company shall make In Lieu

Payments in the amount required to satisfy the Hamilton County Schools portion of the property

taxes that would be due on the improvements to the Property if it were subject to taxation (the

“School Portion”), which the parties acknowledge and agree currently equates to [27.1%] of the

amount of the total City and County taxes that would have been payable on the improvements to

the Property if it were subject to property taxes. Additional In Lieu Payments on the improvements

will be as follows:

Year
City General

Fund(1)
County General

Fund(1)
County School

Fund(1)

2017 – 2026 0% 0% 100%
2027 20% 20% 100%
2028 40% 40% 100%
2029 60% 60% 100%
2030 80% 80% 100%
2031 100% 100% 100%

(1) – The above percentages refer to the percent of the amount of taxes that would have been
payable on the improvements to the Property if it were subject to property taxes.

As noted above, during such years 2017 to 2030, the Company shall continue to pay the

School Portion attributable to the Hamilton County Schools.  For any periods before or after such

14-year period that the Property is owned by the Board, the Company shall make In Lieu Payments



5
13300832v1  28029-0001

in an amount, as determined by the Assessor and the Trustee, equal to one hundred percent (100%)

of the amount of taxes that would have been payable on the Property if it were subject to property

taxes.

(c) For each of the years 2017 to 2030, the Company shall make In Lieu

Payments with respect to any commercial and/or retail portion of the Property in an amount, as

determined by the Assessor and the Trustee, equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the amount of

taxes that would have been payable on the commercial and/or retail portion of the Property, if any,

if it were subject to property taxes.

5. Penalties and Late Charges.  The Company shall make the In Lieu Payments for

each year before March 1 of the following year.  All In Lieu Payments to the City and County shall

be subject to penalties, late charges, fees and interest charges as follows:

(a) If the Company fails to make any In Lieu Payment when due, then a late

charge shall be charged and shall also be immediately due and payable.  The late charge shall be in

the amount of one and one-half percent (1-1/2%) of the owed amount, for each month that each

payment has been unpaid.  Such one and one-half percent (1-1/2%) per month late charge amount

shall accumulate each month and be payable so long as there remains any outstanding unpaid

amount.

(b) If the Company should fail to pay all amounts and late charges due as

provided hereinabove, then the Board, the City or the County may bring suit in the Chancery Court

of Hamilton County to seek to recover the In Lieu Payments due, late charges, expenses and costs

of collection in addition to reasonable attorneys’ fees, and if the Company should fail to pay all

amounts and late charges due as provided hereinabove for more than two (2) years, the City or the

County may, as to their respective In Lieu Payments, terminate the benefits of this Agreement and



6
13300832v1  28029-0001

thereafter require the Company to pay one hundred percent (100%) of the amount of taxes that

would have been payable on the Property for so long as such payment default continues as

determined by the Mayor of the City and the Mayor of the County. In the event of a disagreement

between the parties concerning whether or not the Company has cured a default, a representative

of the Company may request that the City and County, as applicable, each meet to determine

whether such default has been cured, and the Company and the City or the County, as the case may

be, shall meet promptly thereafter attempt in good faith to resolve such dispute.  The Company

may, in addition, file suit in the Chancery Court of Hamilton County to ask that the provisions of

this Agreement be construed or applied to the relevant facts by the Chancery Court in order to

resolve such dispute.

(c) If the Company should fail to reserve for lease at least twenty (20%) percent

of the available units in the Project to persons whose income does not exceed eighty (80%) percent

of the area median income as annually defined in the most recent guidelines published by the

Department of Housing and Urban Development, then the City and the County reserve the right

but are not obligated to adjust the terms and conditions of the tax abatement granted to the

Company under this Agreement for the Tax Abatement Period by requiring the Company to pay an

additional amount of the In Lieu Payments on the Property. The City and the County may then

require the Company to pay an amount up to the difference between the amounts of the In Lieu

Payments required pursuant to Paragraph 4 of this Agreement and the amounts that the Company

would have paid using the pro-rated percentage of the affordable housing units associated with the

Tax Abatement Period. The County and the City shall look solely to the Company for any

repayment obligations.



7
13300832v1  28029-0001

6. Disbursements by the Treasurer and Trustee.  All sums received by the Treasurer

pursuant to Paragraph 4 for the benefit of the City general fund shall be disbursed to the general

funds of the City in accordance with this paragraph and in accordance with the normal

requirements of law governing the settlement and paying over of taxes to counties and

municipalities.  All sums received by the Trustee pursuant to Paragraph 4 for the benefit of the

County general fund shall be disbursed to the general fund of the County in accordance with this

paragraph and in accordance with the normal requirements of law governing the settlement and

paying over of taxes to counties and municipalities.  All such sums received by the Treasurer shall

be placed into an account for the use and benefit of the City. All such sums received by the Trustee

shall be divided into an account for the use and benefit of the County. The account for the use and

benefit of the City shall be funded with the proportionate amount to which the In Lieu Payments

are attributable to property taxes which would otherwise be owed to the City, and the account for

the use and benefit of the County shall be funded with the proportionate amount to which the In

Lieu Payments are attributable to property taxes which would otherwise be owed to the County.

All sums received by the Trustee pursuant to Paragraph 4 for the benefit of the County school

system shall be disbursed to the County and thereafter deposited into an account for the

educational use and benefit of the County schools.  The parties acknowledge and agree that all

disbursements to the City and County pursuant to this Agreement are in furtherance of the Board’s

purposes as set forth in Tennessee Code Annotated §7-53-305.

7. Contest by the Company.  The Company shall have the right to contest the appraisal

or assessment of the Property by the Assessor and the computation by the Trustee of the amount of

the In Lieu Payment.  If the Company contests any such appraisal or assessment, then it shall

present evidence to the Assessor in favor of its position.  Likewise, if the Company contests any



8
13300832v1  28029-0001

such computation, it shall present evidence to the Trustee in favor of its position.  If the In Lieu

Payments being contested shall be or become due and payable, the Company shall make such

payments under protest. The Company and the Assessor or the Trustee, as the case may be, shall

negotiate in good faith to resolve any disputes as to appraisal, assessment or computation.  If the

Company and the Assessor or the Trustee are unable to resolve a dispute, then the Company may

file suit in the Chancery Court of Hamilton County to ask that the provisions of this Agreement,

including those covering appraisal, assessment and computation, be construed or applied to the

relevant facts by the Chancery Court in order to resolve such dispute.

8. Annual Report. The Company will provide, on or before January 31 of each

calendar year during this Agreement, an annual report to the Board, the Mayor of the City, and the

Mayor of the County, summarizing its investment in the Property and a certified rent roll. An

independent audit of the annual report may occur if requested by the City or County during any

calendar year of this Agreement.

9. Lien on Property.  Any amounts which remain payable under this Agreement shall

become a lien on the Property, and such lien shall be enforceable against the Property in the event

that any payment owing hereunder is not timely made in accordance with this Agreement.

10. Term.  This Agreement shall become effective on the date that the Board attains

title to the Property and shall continue for so long as the Board holds title to any of the Property or

the Company has made all payments required hereunder, whichever shall later occur.

11. Leasehold Taxation.  If the leasehold interest of the Company should be subject to

ad valorem taxation, then any amounts assessed as taxes thereon shall be credited against any In

Lieu Payments due hereunder.  The Company agrees to cooperate fully with the Assessor in



9
13300832v1  28029-0001

supplying information for completion of leasehold taxation questionnaires with respect to the

Property.

12. Stormwater Fees.  In addition to other requirements under this Agreement, the

Company shall be responsible for all stormwater fees assessed by the City of Chattanooga against

the Real Property.

13. Notices, etc.  All notices and other communications provided for hereunder shall be

written (including facsimile transmission and telex), and mailed or sent via facsimile transmission

or delivered, if to the City or the Board, c/o Mr. Phillip A. Noblett, Suite 200, 100 E. 11th Street,

Chattanooga, Tennessee 37402; if to the County, c/o Mr. Rheubin M. Taylor, County Attorney,

Hamilton County Government, Room 204, County Courthouse, Chattanooga, Tennessee

37402-1956; if to the Company, 3221 Brookwood Road, Birmingham, Alabama 35223; if to the

Trustee, at his address at Hamilton County Courthouse, Chattanooga, Tennessee 37402; and if to

the Assessor, at his address at Hamilton County Courthouse, Chattanooga, Tennessee 37402; or, as

to each party, at such other address as shall be designated by such party in a written notice to the

other party.  All such notices and communications shall, when mailed by registered and certified

mail, return receipt requested, Express Mail, or facsimile, be effective when deposited in the mails

or if sent upon facsimile transmission, confirmed electronically, respectively, addressed as

aforesaid.

14. No Waiver; Remedies.  No failure on the part of any party hereto, and no delay in

exercising any right under this Agreement shall operate as a waiver thereof; nor shall any single or

partial exercise of any right under this Agreement preclude any other or further exercise thereof or

the exercise of any other right.  The remedies provided in this Agreement are cumulative and are

not exclusive of any remedies provided by law.



10
13300832v1  28029-0001

15. Assignment. Except as provided in this Section, the Company may only assign this

Agreement, or any part hereof, with the prior consent of the Mayor of the City, the Mayor of the

County, and the Board.  The Mayor of the City, the Mayor of the County and/or the Board shall not

withhold such consent upon the occurrence of all of the following conditions: (i) there is no default

under this Agreement at the time of the assignment, (ii) all requirements of the Company under

this Agreement have been satisfied as of the date of the assignment, and (iii) any assignee agrees to

provide proof of sufficient assets to fund the business plan for the Project and agrees to be bound

by the terms of this Agreement from and after the date of assignment (the “Consent

Requirements”).  If the Company provides the Mayor of the City, the Mayor of the County and the

Board (x) a certificate of an officer of the Company certifying that the requirements of (i) and (ii)

have been satisfied and (y) proof of sufficient assets to fund the business plan for the Project and a

copy of an assignment and assumption agreement pursuant to which the assignee agrees to be

bound by the terms of this Agreement, the Mayor of the City, the Mayor of the County and the

Board shall each have the option, upon at least seven (7) days’ prior notice to the Company, to

meet with a representative of the Company within forty-five (45) days of receipt of the Company’s

certificate for purposes of determining whether the Company has satisfied the Consent

Requirements.  Unless the Mayor of the City, the Mayor of the County and the Board meet with the

Company and all state in writing within such forty-five (45) day period that the Company has not

satisfied the Consent Requirements, the Company may assign this Agreement in accordance with

the terms and conditions described in the Company’s certificate without any further action of the

Mayor of the City, the Mayor of the County and/or the Board.  In the event that the Mayor of the

City, the Mayor of the County and the Board timely state in writing that the Company has not

satisfied the Consent Requirements, the Company and the assignee may, upon the Company’s



11
13300832v1  28029-0001

request, appear before the City Council of the City, the Board of Commissioners of the County and

the Board to request approval of such assignment pursuant to the terms of this Section, which

consents shall not be unreasonably withheld. Upon satisfaction of the requirements of this

Section, the assignment shall relieve the Company from liability for any of its obligations

hereunder as of the effective date of the assignment.

16. Severability.  In the event that any clause or provision of this Agreement shall be

held to be invalid by any court or jurisdiction, the invalidity of any such clause or provision shall

not affect any of the remaining provisions of this Agreement.

17. No Liability of Board’s Officers.  No recourse under or upon any obligation,

covenant or agreement contained in this Agreement shall be had against any incorporator,

member, director or officer, as such, of the Board, whether past, present or future, either directly or

through the Board.  Any and all personal liability of every nature, whether at common law or in

equity, or by statute or by constitution or otherwise, of any such incorporator, member, director or

officer, as such, is hereby expressly waived and released as a condition of and consideration for the

execution of this Agreement.

18. Binding Effect.  This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of

each of the parties and signatories hereto and to their respective successors and assigns.

19. Governing Law.  The Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in

accordance with, the laws of the State of Tennessee.

20. Amendments.  This Agreement may be amended only in writing, signed by each of

the parties hereto, except that the Trustee and the Assessor shall not be required to join in

amendments unless such amendments affect their respective duties hereunder.

[Signature Page Follows]



12
13300832v1  28029-0001

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the day

and date first above written.

ATTEST:

By:
Secretary

THE HEALTH, EDUCATIONAL AND
HOUSING FACILITY BOARD OF THE CITY
OF CHATTANOOGA, TENNESSEE

By:
Chairman

1400 CHESTNUT, LLC

By:
Title:

CITY OF CHATTANOOGA, TENNESSEE

By:
Mayor

HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE

By:
County Mayor

WILLIAM F. HULLANDER

By:
Hamilton County Trustee

WILLIAM C. BENNETT

By:
Hamilton County Assessor of
Property



13
13300832v1  28029-0001

EXHIBIT “A”
TO AGREEMENT FOR PAYMENTS IN LIEU OF AD VALOREM TAXES

REAL PROPERTY

[INSERT LEGAL DESCRIPTION]

PERSONAL PROPERTY

All personal property used by the Company in connection with its housing facility located on the
real property described above.



No. 715-16 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
July 1, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION (I) TO MAKE CERTAIN FINDINGS RELATING TO THE 
EXPANSION OF A MANUFACTURING FACILITY PROJECT TO BE 
CONSTRUCTED, EQUIPPED AND OPERATED BY A GESTAMP CHATTANOOGA, 
LLC ("GESTAMP ") IN THE ENTERPRISE SOUTH INDUSTRIAL PARK (THE 
"PROJECT"), (II) TO AUTHORIZE THE MAYOR TO ENTER INTO AND 
EXECUTE AN AGREEMENT FOR PAYMENTS IN LIEU OF AD VALOREM TAXES 
WITH THE INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF 
HAMILTON, TENNESSEE (THE "BOARD"), GESTAMP, AND THE CITY OF 
CHATTANOOGA WITH RESPECT TO THE PROJECT (THE "PILOT 
AGREEMENT") AND AN AMENDMENT TO THE EXISTING PILOT AGREEMENT 
WITH GESTAMP, AND (III) TO DELEGATE CERTAIN AUTHORITY TO THE 
BOARD RELATING TO THE PILOT AGREEMENT AND AMENDMENT. 
 
WHEREAS, Gestamp Chattanooga, LLC is contemplating the construction, equipping and 
operating an expansion of its existing manufacturing facility in the Enterprise South Industrial 
Park in Chattanooga, Hamilton County, Tennessee (the “Project”); and 
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 7-53-305(b), Hamilton County, 
Tennessee (the "County") is permitted to delegate to the Board the authority to negotiate and 
accept payments in lieu of ad valorem taxes from lessees of the Board upon a finding by the 
County that such payments are deemed to be in furtherance of the Board's public purposes; and 
 
WHEREAS, because of the substantial public benefits to the County and the City of 
Chattanooga (the "City") resulting from the Project, Gestamp Chattanooga, LLC (“Gestamp”) 
has asked the Board, the Board of Commissioners of the County and the City Council of the 
City of Chattanooga to approve certain payments in lieu of ad valorem taxes with respect to 
the Project (the “In Lieu Payments”); and 
 
WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners has determined that payments in lieu of ad valorem 
taxes from a project such as the Project would be in furtherance of the Board's public purposes, 
as set forth in Chapter 53 of Title 7 of the Tennessee Code Annotated; and 



 

 

 
WHEREAS, the Project will be located on certain real property (the “Expansion Tracts”) that 
is already covered by that certain Agreement for Payments in Lieu of Ad Valorem Taxes 
among Gestamp, the City and the County dated February 11, 2010, as amended (the "Existing 
PILOT Agreement"); and 
 
WHEREAS, an amendment to the Existing PILOT Agreement will be required to remove the 
Expansion Tracts from the Existing PILOT Agreement, so that they can be included under the 
new PILOT Agreement;  
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
OF HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE, AS FOLLOWS: 
RESOLVED, that we do hereby find that substantial benefits to the County economy will be 
derived from the Project and that the In Lieu Payments contemplated under the PILOT 
Agreement will be in furtherance of the Board's public purposes; and 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that, having made such findings, we do hereby approve the 
PILOT Agreement in the form attached to this Resolution and do hereby authorize the Mayor 
to enter into the PILOT Agreement on behalf of the County, such PILOT Agreement to be 
substantially in the form attached to this Resolution with such changes thereto as he shall 
approve; and 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Board is hereby delegated with the authority to 
negotiate and accept In Lieu Payments from Gestamp, it being further noted that this 
delegation is for this purpose and for this Project only; and  
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that we do hereby approve an amendment to the Existing 
PILOT Agreement to remove the Expansion Tracts from the Existing PILOT Agreement (the 
“PILOT Amendment”) in the form attached to this Resolution and do hereby authorize the 
Mayor to enter into such PILOT Amendment on behalf of the County, such PILOT 
Amendment to be in substantially the form attached to this Resolution with such changes 
thereto as he shall approve; and 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that we do hereby authorize the Board to enter into such 
PILOT leases and amendments to the existing PILOT leases with Gestamp as the Board shall 
deem to be necessary as a result of the PILOT Agreement and the PILOT Amendment. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM 
AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

July 1, 2015 

  
Date 

 



AMENDMENT TO AGREEMENT FOR PAYMENTS IN LIEU 
OF AD VALOREM TAXES 

THIS AMENDMENT TO AGREEMENT FOR PAYMENTS IN LIEU OF TAXES (the 

“Amendment”) is made and entered into as of ___________, 2015, by and among THE 

INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF HAMILTON, TENNESSEE 

(the “Board”); GESTAMP CHATTANOOGA, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company that 

is authorized to do business in Tennessee (the “Company”); the CITY OF CHATTANOOGA, 

TENNESSEE (the “City”); and HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE (the “County”). 

W I T N E S S E T H: 

WHEREAS, the Board, the Company, the City and the County are parties to that certain 

Agreement for Payments in Lieu of Ad Valorem Taxes dated as of February 11, 2010, as 

amended (the “PILOT Agreement”): and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the PILOT Agreement, the Company will make certain 

payments in lieu of ad valorem taxes (the “In Lieu Payments”) on the real property known as Lot 

19-A on the West Campus of the Enterprise South Industrial Park, Chattanooga, Tennessee ("Lot 

19-A") and all buildings and other improvements constructed, acquired and installed on Lot 19-

A by the Company and the equipment and other personal property installed at the Company's 

manufacturing facility located on Lot 19-A; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the PILOT Agreement, upon notice from the Company, the 

Board is required to take title to Lot 19-B on the West Campus of the Enterprise South Industrial 

Park, Chattanooga, Tennessee ("Lot 19-B") and all buildings and other improvements 

constructed, acquired and installed on Lot 19-B by the Company and the equipment and other 

 
C LPS 738526 v 2 
2914883-000003  06/25/2015  

 



personal property installed at the Company's manufacturing facility located on Lot 19-B (Lot 19-

B and all such buildings, improvements, equipment and other personal property collectively 

called the "Lot 19-B Property") to the Board and then lease the Lot 19-B Property to the 

Company; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the PILOT Agreement, following any such transfer of title to the 

Board and lease of the Lot 19-B Property to the Company by the Board, the Company will make 

In Lieu Payments on the Lot 19-B Property; and   

WHEREAS, the Company proposes to expand its manufacturing facility that is now 

located on Lot 19-A and in connection with such expansion (the "Expansion") to acquire Lot 19-

C, Lot 19-D and the unimproved portion of Discovery Drive located between Lot 19-C and Lot 

19-B, all of which are located in the Enterprise South Industrial Park, Chattanooga, Tennessee 

and are shown on the plat attached as Exhibit 1 to this Amendment (the "New Expansion Real 

Property"); and 

WHEREAS, in connection with such Expansion, the Company also proposes to re-

subdivide Lot 19-A and Lot 19-B, so that following such resubdivision, Lot 19-B will include 

the portion of Lot 19-A on which the expansion will be located ("New Lot 19-B") and Lot 19-A 

will include only the portion of Lot 19-A on which the Company's existing manufacturing 

facility is now located ("New Lot 19-A"), a copy of the proposed plat(s) showing New Lot 19-A 

and New Lot 19-B being attached as Exhibit 2 to this Amendment; and 

WHEREAS, the Company has requested that the City and the County enter into a new 

Agreement for Payments In Lieu of Ad Valorem Taxes in connection with the Expansion (the 

2 
C LPS 738526 v 2 
2914883-000003  06/25/2015  

 



"Expansion PILOT Agreement") pursuant to which the Company will make payments in lieu of 

ad valorem taxes on the Expansion Real Property, New Lot 19-B and all buildings and other 

improvements constructed, acquired and installed on such Expansion Real Property and New Lot 

19-B by the Company and the equipment and other personal property installed in the expanded 

manufacturing facility to be located thereon; and 

WHEREAS, the Company has requested that the City, the County and the Board enter 

into this Amendment in order to release New Lot 19-B from the PILOT Agreement and to reflect 

that only New Lot 19-A and all buildings and other improvements constructed, acquired and 

installed on New Lot 19-A by the Company and the equipment and other personal property 

installed in the existing manufacturing facility located thereon are covered by the PILOT 

Agreement; 

NOW, THEREFORE, IN CONSIDERATION OF the premises and the mutual covenants 

set forth herein, the parties agree as follows: 

1. Amendments to PILOT Agreement.  The PILOT Agreement is hereby amended 

as follows: 

a. Exhibit "A" attached to the PILOT Agreement is deleted in its entirety, and 

Exhibit "A" attached to this Amendment is substituted in lieu thereof. 

b. Exhibit "B" attached to the PILOT Agreement is deleted in its entirety, and 

Exhibit "B" attached to this Amendment is substituted in lieu thereof. 

c. The PILOT Agreement is further amended as necessary to reflect that New Lot 

19-B is released from the PILOT Agreement and to reflect that only New Lot 19-A and all 
3 

C LPS 738526 v 2 
2914883-000003  06/25/2015  

 



buildings and other improvements constructed, acquired and installed on New Lot 19-A by the 

Company and the equipment and other personal property installed in the existing manufacturing 

facility located thereon are covered by the PILOT Agreement.   The  

2. Except as set forth in paragraph 1 above, the PILOT Agreement shall remain 

unchanged and in full force and effect. 

3. The Board will enter into such amendments to the PILOT Leases as the Board 

shall deem to be necessary in order to reflect the amendments to the PILOT Agreement set forth 

in this Amendment. 

4. This Amendment may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be 

an original and all of which shall constitute but one and the same instrument. 

[Signatures on following pages.]

4 
C LPS 738526 v 2 
2914883-000003  06/25/2015  

 



 

[The Industrial Development Board of the County of Hamilton, Tennessee – Signature Page to 
Amendment to Agreement for Payments in Lieu of Ad Valorem Taxes] 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, The Industrial Development Board of the County of 

Hamilton, Tennessee has executed this Amendment as of the date first above written. 

THE INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT BOARD 
OF THE COUNTY OF HAMILTON, 
TENNESSEE 

By: ________________________________ 
     Title:       

S-1 
C LPS 738526 v 2 
2914883-000003  06/25/2015  

 



 

[Gestamp Chattanooga, LLC – Signature Page to Amendment to Agreement for Payments in 
Lieu of Ad Valorem Taxes] 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Gestamp Chattanooga, LLC has executed this Amendment 

as of the date first above written. 

GESTAMP CHATTANOOGA, LLC 

By: ________________________________ 
Title:_______________________________ 

S-2 
C LPS 738526 v 2 
2914883-000003  06/25/2015  

 



 
[City of Chattanooga, Tennessee – Signature Page to Amendment to Agreement for Payments in 

Lieu of Ad Valorem Taxes] 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City of Chattanooga, Tennessee has executed this 

Amendment as of the date first above written. 

CITY OF CHATTANOOGA, TENNESSEE 

BY: ________________________________ 
Mayor 

S-3 
C LPS 738526 v 2 
2914883-000003  06/25/2015  

 



 

[Hamilton County, Tennessee – Signature Page to Amendment to Agreement for Payments in 
Lieu of Ad Valorem Taxes] 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Hamilton County, Tennessee has executed this Amendment 

as of the date first above written. 

HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE 

BY: _________________________________ 
County Mayor 

 

S-4 
C LPS 738526 v 2 
2914883-000003  06/25/2015  

 



EXHIBIT "1" 
TO 

 AMENDMENT TO AGREEMENT FOR PAYMENTS IN LIEU OF AD VALOREM TAXES 
 

New Expansion Real Property 

[See attached Final Plat showing Tract 19-C and 19-D, as recorded (2 pages).  May be replaced 
with amended Plat once the Discovery Drive right of way is incorporated into Tract 19-C.] 

1-1 
C LPS 738526 v 2 
2914883-000003  06/25/2015  

 



 

EXHIBIT "2" 
TO 

 AMENDMENT TO AGREEMENT FOR PAYMENTS IN LIEU OF AD VALOREM TAXES 
 

Proposed Plat Showing New Lot 19-A and New Lot 19-B 

[See attached preliminary site plan for the expansion.  To be replaced with the proposed plat 
showing New Lot 19-A and New Lot 19-B when it becomes available.] 

 

2-1 
C LPS 738526 v 2 
2914883-000003  06/25/2015  

 



EXHIBIT "A" 
TO AGREEMENT FOR PAYMENTS IN LIEU OF AD VALOREM TAXES (AS AMENDED) 

Personal Property 

All equipment and other personal property to be installed at the manufacturing facilities to be 
constructed by the Company or its affiliate or a Leasing Company designated by the Company 
on the real property known as [Resubdivided] Lot 19-A on the West Campus of the Enterprise 
South Industrial Park, Chattanooga, Tennessee, during the term of the PILOT Agreement.  

A-1 
C LPS 738526 v 2 
2914883-000003  06/25/2015  

 



 
EXHIBIT "B" 

TO AGREEMENT FOR PAYMENTS IN LIEU OF AD VALOREM TAXES (AS AMENDED) 

Real Property and Improvements 

The real property known as [Resubdivided] Lot 19-A on the West Campus of the Enterprise 
South Industrial Park, Chattanooga, Tennessee and all buildings and other improvements to be 
constructed, acquired and installed thereon by the Company or one of its affiliates or a Leasing 
Company designated by the Company in connection with the manufacturing facilities to be 
operated on such real property by the Company.   

B-1 
C LPS 738526 v 2 
2914883-000003  06/25/2015  

 



AGREEMENT FOR PAYMENTS IN LIEU 
OF AD VALOREM TAXES 

THIS AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is made and entered into as of this the ____day of 
________________, 2015, by and among THE INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT BOARD 
OF THE COUNTY OF HAMILTON, TENNESSEE (the “Board”); GESTAMP 
CHATTANOOGA, LLC (, the “Company”); the CITY OF CHATTANOOGA (the “City”); 
and HAMILTON COUNTY (the “County”) and is joined in, for purposes of evidencing their 
acceptance of the agency relationship established herein, by WILLIAM F. HULLANDER and 
his successors, acting in the capacity of HAMILTON COUNTY TRUSTEE (the “Trustee”), 
and by WILLIAM C. BENNETT and his successors, acting in the capacity of HAMILTON 
COUNTY ASSESSOR OF PROPERTY (the “Assessor”). 

W I T N E S S E T H: 

WHEREAS, the Company is contemplating (i) the acquisition of certain real 
property in Chattanooga, Hamilton County, Tennessee, as more particularly described on Exhibit 
A attached hereto and incorporated herein (the “Land”); (ii) the construction upon the Land of an 
expansion (the “Real Property Improvements”) (the Land and the Real Property Improvements 
shall be collectively referred to as the “Real Property”) to an existing manufacturing facility 
leased to and operated by the Company located adjacent to the Real Property on the existing real 
property described in Exhibit A-1 attached hereto and incorporated herein (the “Existing 
Property”); and (iii) the acquisition of machinery, equipment and other personal property, as 
more particularly described on Exhibit B attached hereto and incorporated herein (the “Personal 
Property”) (the Personal Property and the Real Property shall be collectively referred to as the 
“Property,” and the Real Property Improvements and the Personal Property shall be referred to as 
the “Project”), resulting in an investment of at least $140.9 million and the creation of at least 
374 full-time jobs which jobs shall have an average hourly wage (excluding benefits) equal to at 
least $17.00 between January 1, 2017 and January 1, 2020 (collectively the “Investment, Jobs 
and Wage Projection”), and has requested the Board’s assistance with the Project; and 

WHEREAS, Gestamp Chattanooga II, LLC, a Delaware limited liability 
company (“Related Company”), an entity related to the Company is contemplating the 
construction and operation of a complementary facility on a separate site located in the 
Enterprise South Industrial Park (“Related Project”), which will result in an investment of at 
least Thirty-nine Million One Hundred Thousand Dollars ($39,100,000.00) and the creation of at 
least 136 full-time jobs which shall have an average hourly wage (excluding benefits) equal to at 
least $17.00 between January 1, 2017 and January 1, 2020 (collectively, the “Related Project 
Investment, Jobs and Wage Projection”) upon terms and conditions to be set forth in that certain 
Agreement for Payments In Lieu of Ad Valorem Taxes of even date herewith by and among 
Related Company and the other parties to this Agreement, except the Company (the “Related 
PILOT Agreement”); and 

WHEREAS, substantial economic benefits to the City and County economies 
will be derived from the Project and the Related Project; and 

737488 1 
 



WHEREAS, the Board has agreed to hold title to the Property, together with all 
additions thereto, replacements thereof, and substitutions therefor and (i) to lease the Real 
Property to the Company pursuant to a Real Property Lease Agreement (the “Real Property 
Lease:”), to be entered into between the Board and the Company, and (ii) to lease the Property to 
the Company pursuant to a Personal Property Lease Agreement (the “Personal Property Lease”), 
to be entered into between the Board and the Company (the Real Property Lease and the 
Personal Property Lease collectively called the “Leases”); and 

WHEREAS, because the Property is to be owned by the Board, which is a public 
corporation organized under the provisions of Tennessee Code Annotated, § 7-53-101, et seq., 
the Property will be exempt from ad valorem property taxes (“property taxes”) normally paid to 
the City and to the County, so long as the Property is owned by the Board, pursuant to the 
provisions of Tennessee Code Annotated, § 7-53-305; and 

WHEREAS, for the public benefit of the citizens of the City and the County, the 
Board has requested that the Company make certain payments to the Board in lieu of the 
payment of property taxes that would otherwise be payable on the Property; and 

WHEREAS, the Company has agreed to make such payments to the Board in 
lieu of the property taxes otherwise payable on the Property (the “In Lieu Payments”), as more 
particularly set forth hereinafter; and 

WHEREAS, the Board has been authorized to receive the In Lieu Payments in 
lieu of property taxes by resolutions adopted by the City and the County, acting through their 
duly elected Council and Commission, respectively, which resolutions delegate to the Board the 
authority to accept the In Lieu Payments upon compliance with certain terms and conditions, 
including, without limitation, the requirement that the Board collect and expend such payments 
in furtherance of the public purposes for which the Board was created; and 

WHEREAS, the Company and the Board have agreed that all In Lieu Payments 
made to the Board by the Company shall be paid to the City of Chattanooga Treasurer (the 
“Treasurer”) and the Trustee, who shall disburse such amounts to the City and the County in 
accordance with the requirements specified herein; and 

WHEREAS, the Board wishes to designate the Assessor as its agent to appraise 
the Property and assess a percentage of its value in the manner specified herein; and  

WHEREAS, the Board wishes to designate the Treasurer and the Trustee as its 
agents to receive the In Lieu Payments in accordance with the terms of this Agreement; 

NOW, THEREFORE, IN CONSIDERATION OF the mutual covenants and 
agreements set forth herein, the parties hereto agree as follows: 

1. Designation of Assessor; Appraisal and Assessment of Property.  The 
Board hereby designates the Assessor as its agent to appraise and assess the Property.  The 
Assessor shall appraise and assess the Property in accordance with the Constitution and laws of 
the State of Tennessee as though the Property were subject to property taxes.  The Assessor shall 
give the Treasurer, the Trustee, the Board, and the Company written notice of any changes in 

 2 
 



appraisals of the Property in the same manner that notices are given to owners of taxable 
property.  The Assessor shall make available to the Board and the Company all records relating 
to the appraisal and assessment of the Property.  

2. Computation and Billing of Payments In Lieu of Taxes.  The Board 
hereby designates the Treasurer and the Trustee and as its agents to compute the amounts of the 
In Lieu Payments, to receive such payments from the Company and to disburse such payments to 
the City and the County.  On or about October 1 of each year during the term of this Agreement, 
the Treasurer and the Trustee shall compute the taxes which would be payable on the Property if 
it were subject to property taxes, in accordance with the Constitution and laws of the State of 
Tennessee and in accordance with the appraisal and assessment of the Assessor.  Each year 
hereunder, the Treasurer and the Trustee shall send the Board and the Company a bill for 
appropriate amount of In Lieu Payments (the “Tax Bill”). 

3. Payments in Lieu of Taxes.  After receipt of the Tax Bill, the Company 
shall pay to the Treasurer and the Trustee the amount indicated on the Tax Bill which amount 
shall be determined in accordance with the provisions set forth below in Paragraph 4.  The In 
Lieu Payments shall be made by the Company in lieu of the property taxes which would 
otherwise be payable on the Property if it were subject to property taxes.   

4. Amount of Payments by the Company.  For the ten (10) year period 
covering and inclusive of years 2017 through 2026 (the “Tax Abatement Period”), the Company 
shall make In Lieu Payments with respect to the Project in an amount, as determined by the 
Assessor, the Treasurer and the Trustee, equal to the following percentage of the taxes that 
would have been payable on the Project if it were subject to property taxes for the respective 
years shown: 

 
Year 

City General 
Fund 

County General 
Fund 

County School 
Fund 

2017 0% 0% 100% 
2018 25% 25% 100% 
2019 40% 40% 100% 
2020 50% 50% 100% 
2021 50% 50% 100% 
2022 50% 50% 100% 
2023 50% 50% 100% 
2024 50% 50% 100% 
2025 50% 50% 100% 
2026 50% 50% 100% 

 

For the avoidance of doubt, the parties intend that the Company shall make (i) In Lieu Payments 
in an amount equal to one hundred percent (100%) of all ad valorem taxes that would be 
dedicated to the support of the County school system, which the Company and County  
acknowledge and agree currently equates to 49.64% of the amount of the total County taxes that 
would have been payable on the Project if it were subject to property taxes (the “School 
Portion”), and (ii) In Lieu Payments in an amount equal to the above graduated amounts for all 

 3 
 



other ad valorem taxes of the City and the County, excluding the educational portion of the 
County ad valorem taxes.  

For any of its portion of the Property other than the Project, the Company shall 
make In Lieu Payments in an amount, as determined by the Assessor, the Treasurer and the 
Trustee, equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the amount of taxes that would have been 
payable on such portion of the Property if it were subject to property taxes, except to the extent 
that a portion of such Property is subject to another agreement for payments in lieu of taxes with 
the City, the County and the IDB.  For the avoidance of doubt, the parties intend that the reduced 
In Lieu Payments under this Agreement shall only apply to new investment in the Property that 
is undertaken pursuant to this Agreement.   

For any periods before the Tax Abatement Period or after the Tax Abatement 
Period that the Property is owned by the Board and leased to the Company, the Company shall 
make In Lieu Payments in an amount, as determined by the Assessor, the Treasurer and the 
Trustee, equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the amount of taxes that would have been 
payable on the Property if it were subject to property taxes, except to the extent that a portion of 
such Property is subject to another agreement for payments in lieu of taxes with the City, the 
County and the IDB.   

Notwithstanding the above, any amounts assessed as property taxes against the 
Property shall be credited against any In Lieu Payments due under this Agreement. 

5. Penalties and Late Charges.  The Company shall make its In Lieu 
Payments for each year during the term before March 1 of the following year.  All In Lieu 
Payments shall be subject to penalties, late charges, fees and interest charges as follows: 

(a) If the Company fails to make its In Lieu Payment when due, and 
such failure to pay shall continue and not be fully paid within thirty (30) days after written notice 
of such non-payment has been provided to the Company, then a late charge shall be charged and 
shall also be immediately due and payable.  The late charge shall be in the amount of one and 
one-half percent (1-1/2%) of the owed amount.  Additional late charges of one and one-half 
percent (1-1/2%) of the amount shall accumulate and become immediately due and payable upon 
the expiration of each subsequent thirty (30) day period when there remains any outstanding 
unpaid amount. 

(b) If the Company should fail to pay all amounts and late charges due 
as provided hereinabove, then the Board, the City or the County may bring suit against the 
Company in the Chancery Court of Hamilton County to seek to recover the In Lieu Payments 
due, late charges, expenses and costs of collection in addition to reasonable attorneys’ fees.   

6. Minimum Requirements; Annual Review; Increase in Amount of In Lieu 
Payments.   

(a) Minimum Requirements.  The Company must meet one hundred 
percent (100%) of the Minimum Job Requirement and the Minimum Investment Requirement by 
January 1, 2020 (the “Determination Date”) and during each calendar year thereafter during the 
Tax Abatement Period.  For purposes of this Section, the “Minimum Jobs Requirement” equals 

 4 
 



Three Hundred (300) full-time jobs, and the “Minimum Investment” equals $112,720,000 (One 
Hundred Twelve Million Seven Hundred Twenty Thousand Dollars). In addition, the Related 
Company must meet one hundred percent (100%) of the “Related Project Minimum Jobs 
Requirement” equal to 109 full-time jobs, and the “Related Project Minimum Investment 
Requirement” equal to Thirty-one Million Two Hundred Eighty Thousand Dollars 
($31,280,000.00) by the Determination Date as set forth in the Related PILOT Agreement. 

(b) Annual Employment Review.  If (i) the Company fails to achieve 
the Minimum Jobs Requirement or (ii) the Related Company fails to achieve the Related Project 
Minimum Jobs Requirement, during the calendar year in which the Determination Date occurs or 
during in any calendar year thereafter during the Tax Abatement Period, the City and the County 
reserve the right but are not obligated to increase the amount of the general fund In Lieu 
Payments applicable to the Project and to the Related Project for the same calendar year in which 
such failure occurs by a percentage equal to 100% less the “Company’s Job Performance” or the 
“Related Company’s Job Performance,” as applicable, for such calendar year (the “Job In Lieu 
Payment Percentage Increase”).  The “Company’s Job Performance” or the “Related Company’s 
Job Performance,” as applicable, for any calendar year means the proportion, expressed as a 
percentage, that the average number of full-time jobs actually maintained by the Company or the 
Related Company, as applicable, bears to the Minimum Job Requirement. In no event shall the 
Company’s annual General Fund In Lieu Payments exceed one hundred percent (100%) of the 
general fund taxes that would be assessed against the Project if it were subject to general fund 
taxes. 

Example 1: 

Total number of full-time jobs as of January 1, 2020 = 310 

Minimum Job Requirement = 300 

No increase in In Lieu Payments for 2020 

(Minimum Job Requirement has been exceeded) 

Example 2:  

Total number of full-time jobs as of January 1, 2020 = 290 

Minimum Job Requirement = 300 

Company’s Job Performance = 96.67% 

Job In Lieu Payment Percentage Increase for 2020 = 3.33%  

(In Lieu Payment Percentages for 2020 for City General Fund and County 
General Fund may each be increased by 3.33%) 

(c) Annual Investment Review.  If (i) the Company fails to achieve the 
Minimum Investment Requirement or (ii) the Related Company fails to achieve the Related 
Project Minimum Investment Requirement, during the calendar year in which the Determination 
Date occurs or during in any calendar year thereafter during the Tax Abatement Period, the City 
and the County reserve the right but are not obligated to increase the amount of the general fund 
In Lieu Payments applicable to the Project and to the Related Project for the same calendar year 
in which such failure occurs by a percentage equal to 100% less the “Company’s Investment 
Performance” or the “Related Company’s Investment Performance”, as applicable, for such 

 5 
 



calendar year (the “Investment In Lieu Payment Percentage Increase”).  The “Company’s 
Investment Performance” or the “Related Company’s Investment Performance”, as applicable, 
for any calendar year means the proportion, expressed as a percentage, that the actual aggregate 
capital investment made by the Company or the Related Company, as applicable, through the 
end of such calendar year, including all capital investment made in the preceding calendar years 
in connection with the Project or the Related Company, as applicable, bears to the Minimum 
Investment Requirement.  In no event shall the Company’s annual General Fund In Lieu 
Payments exceed one hundred percent (100%) of the general fund taxes that would be assessed 
against the Project if it were subject to general fund taxes. 

Example 3:   

Total amount of capital investment through January 1, 2020 = $120,000,000 

Minimum Investment Requirement = $112,720,000 

No increase in In Lieu Payments for 2020 (Minimum Investment Requirement 
has been exceeded) 

Example 4:  

Total amount of capital investment through January 1, 2020 = $100,000,000 

Minimum Investment Requirement = $112,720,000 

Company’s Investment Performance = 88.7% 

Investment In Lieu Payment Percentage Increase for 2020 = 11.3% 

(In Lieu Payment Percentages for 2020 for City General Fund and County 
General Fund may each be increased by 11.3%) 

Such formula shall be evaluated on an annual basis until the Minimum Investment Requirement 
has been met or exceeded, whereupon no further evaluations or increase in the amount of the In 
Lieu Payments pursuant to this Section 6(c) shall occur.   

(d) Single Adjustment Regarding Tax Abatement; Issuance of 
Supplemental Bill to the Company.  If both the annual employment review under Section 6(b) 
and the investment review under Section 6(c) for any calendar year indicate an increase in the In 
Lieu Payments for the same calendar year in which such failure occurs, and if the City and the 
County elect to increase the In Lieu Payments for such calendar year, then the City and the 
County shall determine whether the increase under Section 6(b) or Section 6(c) shall apply, 
which shall be the sole remedy for a shortfall in the Investment, Jobs and Wage Projection.  The 
increase under Section 6(b) and Section 6(c) shall not be combined.  If the City and the County 
increase the amount of the In Lieu Payments pursuant to the annual employment review under 
Section 6(b) for any calendar year, then they may not, in the same year, also increase the amount 
of the In Lieu Payments pursuant to Section 6(c), and vice versa.  For example, using Examples 
2 and 4 shown above, the City and the County may elect to either (i) increase the amount of the 
In Lieu Payments to the City General Fund and the County General Fund under Section 6(b) by 
3.33% or (ii) increase the amount of the In Lieu Payments to the City General Fund and the 
County General Fund under Section 6(c) by 11.3%.  In accordance with the foregoing and once a 
determination has been made of the Jobs In Lieu Payment Percentage Increase or the Investment 
In Lieu Payment Percentage Increase, whichever is determined to be applicable, the Treasurer 

 6 
 



and the Trustee shall compute the amount of the additional In Lieu Payment resulting therefrom 
and will issue a supplemental bill to the Company for that payment. 

(e) Credit for Related Project “Excess” Minimum Job Requirement 
and/or Minimum Investment Requirement. For each calendar year, prior to increasing the In Lieu 
Payments arising from the Company’s failure to meet the Minimum Job Requirement or the 
Minimum Investment Requirement, there shall be added to the Company’s job or investment 
figures for the same calendar year the amount, if any, by which the Related Company’s “Total 
number of full-time jobs as of January 1” or “Total amount of capital investment through 
January 1” exceed the Related Company’s Minimum Job Requirement or Minimum Investment 
Requirement calculated pursuant to the Related PILOT Agreement. The combined number of the 
Company’s and the Related Company’s “excess” full-time jobs as of January 1 shall be the 
number used for the purpose of determining whether the Company has met the Minimum Job 
Requirement for that calendar year. The same procedure shall be followed with respect to the 
“excess” amount above the Related Company’s Minimum Investment Requirements for the same 
calendar year. The purpose of this Section 6(e) shall be to treat the Project and the Related 
Project as a single facility for the purpose of measuring whether the combined Minimum Job 
Requirement and/or the combined Minimum Investment Requirement has been satisfied for each 
calendar year. 

(f) Project Closure.  In the event the Project or the Related Project 
closes or moves from the County during the Tax Abatement Period, the City and the County 
reserve the right to immediately terminate the tax abatements provided by this Agreement and 
require the partial repayment of amounts that would have been payable on the Property during 
the Tax Abatement Period as if it were subject to property taxes.  The provisions of this 
subsection (e) shall be the sole remedy for a closure or relocation of the Project or the Related 
Project. 

7. Disbursements by the Treasurer and Trustee.  All sums received by the 
Treasurer pursuant to Paragraph 3 for the benefit of the City general fund shall be disbursed to 
the general funds of the City in accordance with this paragraph and in accordance with the 
normal requirements of law governing the settlement and paying over of taxes to counties and 
municipalities.  All sums received by the Trustee pursuant to Paragraph 3 for the benefit of the 
County general fund shall be disbursed to the general fund of the County in accordance with this 
paragraph and in accordance with the normal requirements of law governing the settlement and 
paying over of taxes to counties and municipalities.  All such sums received by the Treasurer 
shall be placed into an account for the use and benefit of the City. All such sums received by the 
Trustee shall be divided into an account for the use and benefit of the County. The account for 
the use and benefit of the City shall be funded with the proportionate amount to which the In 
Lieu Payments are attributable to property taxes which would otherwise be owed to the City, and 
the account for the use and benefit of the County shall be funded with the proportionate amount 
to which the In Lieu Payments are attributable to property taxes which would otherwise be owed 
to the County. All sums received by the Trustee pursuant to Paragraph 3 for the benefit of the 
County school system shall be disbursed to the County and thereafter deposited into an account 
for the educational use and benefit of the County schools.  The parties acknowledge and agree 
that all disbursements to the City and County pursuant to this Agreement are in furtherance of 
the Board’s purposes as set forth in Tennessee Code Annotated § 7-53-305. 

 7 
 



8. Economic Development Lease Payment  

(a) City of Chattanooga. For each calendar year beginning with 2017 
in which the In Lieu Payment Percentage as to the City General Fund (see chart in Section 4) is 
less than 100%, an economic development lease payment (an “Economic Development 
Payment”) equal to 15% of the City property taxes that would otherwise be payable for such year 
on the Project if it were subject to property taxes as calculated by the Treasurer pursuant to 
Section 2 above shall be computed and collected by the Treasurer; provided, however, in no 
event shall the total of the Company’s annual City General Fund In Lieu Payments plus the 
Economic Development Payment to the City exceed one hundred percent (100%) of City general 
fund taxes that would be assessed against the Project if it were subject to general fund taxes.  
Beginning in 2017, this Economic Development Payment will be paid for each year that the 
Property is owned by the Board through and including 2026 if the In Lieu Payment Percentage as 
to the City General Fund (see chart in Section 4) for such calendar year is less than 100%.  If the 
Board’s ownership ceases during any calendar year, then that year’s Economic Development 
Payment will be prorated.  The Treasurer shall add the Economic Development Payment as a 
separate line item on the Tax Bill, and the Company shall pay the Economic Development 
Payment for each such year during the term before March 1 of the following year.  Any failure to 
pay the Economic Development Payment on or before March 1 shall result in penalties and late 
charges calculated in the same manner as penalties and late charges are calculated for In Lieu 
Payments under this Agreement.  

The Treasurer shall disburse the City’s Economic Development Payment 
to the City of Chattanooga’s Industrial Development Board.  The City of Chattanooga’s 
Industrial Development Board shall hold such funds to be used for economic development 
purposes, as directed by the Mayor of the City. 

(b) Hamilton County. For each calendar year beginning with 2017 in 
which the In Lieu Payment Percentage as to the County General Fund (see chart in Section 4) is 
less than 100%, an Economic Development Payment to the County equal to 12.53% of the 
County general fund property taxes (but, for clarity, expressly excluding the School Portion) that 
would otherwise be payable for such year on the Project if it were subject to property taxes as 
calculated by the Trustee pursuant to Section 2 above, shall be computed and collected by the 
Trustee; provided, however, in no event shall the total of the Company’s annual County General 
Fund In Lieu Payments plus the Economic Development Payment to the County exceed one 
hundred percent (100%) of the County general fund taxes that would be assessed against the 
Project if it were subject to general fund taxes.  Beginning in 2017, this Economic Development 
Payment will be paid for each year that the Property is owned by the Board through and 
including 2026 if the In Lieu Payment Percentage as to the County General Fund (see chart in 
Section 4) for such calendar year is less than 100%.  If the Board’s ownership ceases during any 
calendar year, then that year’s Economic Development Payment will be prorated.  The Trustee 
shall add the Economic Development Payment as a separate line item on the Tax Bill, and the 
Company shall pay the Economic Development Payment for each such year during the term 
before March 1 of the following year.  Any failure to pay the Economic Development Payment 
on or before March 1 shall result in penalties and late charges calculated in the same manner as 
penalties and late charges are calculated for In Lieu Payments under this Agreement.  

 8 
 



The Trustee shall not deduct any part of the Economic Development 
Payment from the School Portion of the In Lieu Payments.  The Trustee shall disburse the 
County’s Economic Development Payment to the County, and the County shall hold such funds 
to be used for economic development purposes as directed by the Mayor of the County.   

9. Contest by the Company.  The Company shall each have the right to 
contest the appraisal or assessment of the Property by the Assessor, the computation by the 
Treasurer and the Trustee of the amount of the In Lieu Payment and the calculation of the 
Economic Development Payments.  If the Company contests any such appraisal or assessment, 
then it shall present evidence to the Assessor in favor of its position.  If the In Lieu Payments, or 
the Economic Development Payments, as applicable, being contested shall be or become due and 
payable, the Company shall make such payments under protest.  The Company and the Assessor, 
the Treasurer or the Trustee, as the case may be, shall negotiate in good faith for a period not to 
exceed sixty (60) days to resolve any disputes as to appraisal, assessment or computation of the 
In Lieu Payment or the Economic Development Payments, as applicable.  If the Company and 
the Assessor, the Treasurer or the Trustee, as the case may be, are unable to resolve a dispute, 
then the Company may file suit in the Chancery Court of Hamilton County to ask that the 
provisions of this Agreement, including those covering appraisal, assessment and computation, 
be construed or applied to the relevant facts by the Chancery Court in order to resolve such 
dispute. 

10. Lien on the Property.  Any amounts which remain payable under this 
Agreement shall become a lien on the Property, and such lien shall be enforceable against the 
Property in the event that any payment owing hereunder is not timely made in accordance with 
this Agreement. 

11. Term.  This Agreement shall become effective on the date that the Board 
leases the Property to the Company and shall continue for so long as the Board holds title to any 
of the Property and leases such property to the Company or the Company has made all payments 
required hereunder, whichever shall later occur. 

12. Leasehold Taxation.  The Board, the City, the County, the Treasurer, the 
Trustee and the Assessor acknowledge and agree that the Company’s personal property leasehold 
interest in the Personal Property under the Leases shall not be subject to assessment for ad 
valorem tax purposes.  The Board, the City, the County, the Treasurer, the Trustee and the 
Assessor further acknowledge and agree that the Company’s real property leasehold interests in 
the Real Property Improvements under the Leases is not expected to be subject to assessment for 
ad valorem tax purposes, as all amounts paid by the Company, including without limitation, rent 
under the Leases, costs for maintenance, insurance, utilities, infrastructure, site preparation, 
acquisition, construction, and other costs for or in connection with the Project, cost of capital for 
or in connection with the Project, and obligations of the Company under the Leases would, at the 
present time, be considered as rent payable under the Leases for purposes of determining the 
Company’s leasehold interests.  As a result, the actual or imputed rent for the real property 
portion of the Property is expected to equal or exceed the fair market rent for purposes of Tenn. 
Code Ann. § 67-5-605.  If the leasehold interest of the Company in the Property should be 
subject to ad valorem taxation for any year hereunder, then any amounts assessed as taxes 
thereon shall be credited against any In Lieu of Tax Payments and Economic Development 

 9 
 



Payments paid under this Agreement and carried forward from year to year until fully utilized. 
Additionally, in the event the Company determines, in the exercise of reasonable discretion, that 
there is a possibility, notwithstanding the foregoing agreement, of a positive taxable leasehold 
interest in the Property, the Company shall have the continuing option to require the Board take 
all reasonable steps, at no additional cost to the Board, to restructure this Agreement and the 
related Lease to eliminate the positive leasehold value and to deliver the same economic benefit 
to the Company as is contemplated under this Agreement without the imposition of any 
ad valorem taxes on such leasehold value.  Such options may include, but are not limited to, an 
arrangement by which the Board issues and the Company purchases industrial revenue bonds to 
finance all or a portion of the Property, provided that such bonds shall be limited obligations of 
the Board and non-recourse to the City and the County. 

13. Notices, etc.  All notices and other communications provided for 
hereunder shall be written (including facsimile transmission and telex), and mailed or sent via 
facsimile transmission or delivered addressed as follows: 

Board Ross I. Schram III 
Baker, Donelson, Bearman, Caldwell & 
Berkowitz 
1800 Republic Centre 
633 Chestnut Street 
Chattanooga, Tennessee 37450 

The City: 
 
 
 
 
 

Wade A. Hinton 
City Attorney 
City of Chattanooga 
Suite 200, 100 E. 11th Street 
Chattanooga, Tennessee 37402 

The County: 
 
 
 
 
 

Rheubin M. Taylor  
County Attorney 
Hamilton County Government 
Room 204, County Courthouse 
Chattanooga, Tennessee 37402 

With a Copy to: Miller & Martin PLLC 
832 Georgia Avenue 
Suite 1000, Volunteer Building 
Chattanooga, Tennessee 37402 
Attention:  Evan Allison 
 

Company: 
 
 
 
 

Gestamp North America, Inc. 
2701 Troy Center Drive, Suite 150 
Troy, Michigan 48084 
Attn: James Barry 

 10 
 



With a Copy to: Gestamp Chattanooga, LLC 
3063 Hickory Valley Road 
Chattanooga, Tennessee  37421 
Attn: Corey Jahn 
 

With a Copy to: Baker, Donelson, Bearman, Caldwell & 
Berkowitz 
1800 Republic Centre 
633 Chestnut Street 
Chattanooga, Tennessee 37450 
Attn: Louann Smith 
 

The Assessor 
 
 
 
The Treasurer: 

Hamilton County Assessor of Property 
Hamilton County Courthouse 
Chattanooga, Tennessee 37402 
 
City of Chattanooga Treasurer 
101 East 11th Street 
Chattanooga, TN 37402 
 

The Trustee Hamilton County Trustee 
Hamilton County Courthouse 
Chattanooga, Tennessee 37402 
 

Any such person may, by notice given hereunder, designate any further or different 
addresses to which subsequent notices, certificates or other communication shall be sent.  All 
such notices and communications shall, when mailed by registered and certified mail, return 
receipt requested, Express Mail, or facsimile, be effective when deposited in the mails or if sent 
upon facsimile transmission, confirmed electronically, respectively, addressed as aforesaid. 

14. No Waiver; Remedies.  No failure on the part of any party hereto, and no 
delay in exercising any right under this Agreement shall operate as a waiver thereof; nor shall 
any single or partial exercise of any right under this Agreement preclude any other or further 
exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right.  The remedies provided in this Agreement are 
cumulative and are not exclusive of any remedies provided by law. 

15. Severability.  In the event that any clause or provision of this Agreement 
shall be held to be invalid by any court or jurisdiction, the invalidity of any such clause or 
provision shall not affect any of the remaining provisions of this Agreement. 

16. No Liability of Board’s Officers.  No recourse under or upon any 
obligation, covenant or agreement contained in this Agreement shall be had against any 
incorporator, member, director or officer, as such, of the Board, whether past, present or future, 
either directly or through the Board.  Any and all personal liability of every nature, whether at 
common law or in equity, or by statute or by constitution or otherwise, of any such incorporator, 
member, director or officer, as such, is hereby expressly waived and released as a condition of 
and consideration for the execution of this Agreement. 

 11 
 



17. Binding Effect.  This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the 
benefit of each of the parties and signatories hereto and to their respective successors and 
assigns. 

18. Governing Law.  The Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in 
accordance with, the laws of the State of Tennessee. 

19. Amendments.  This Agreement may be amended only in writing, signed 
by each of the parties hereto, except that the Treasurer, the Trustee and the Assessor shall not be 
required to join in amendments unless such amendments affect their respective duties hereunder. 

20. Annual Report. On or before January 31 of each year this Agreement is in 
effect, the Company shall provide a report to the Mayor of the City and the Mayor of the County 
summarizing its investment in the Property and the development and operation of the Project for 
purposes of analyzing the Company’s progress in achieving the Investment, Jobs and Wage 
Projection. 

21. Stormwater Fees.  The Company shall be responsible for all stormwater 
fees assessed by the City against the Property. 

[ Signature Pages Follow] 

 

 12 
 



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of 
the day and date first above written. 

ATTEST:     THE INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT BOARD 
OF THE COUNTY OF HAMILTON, 
TENNESSEE 

 
 
By:      By:        

Secretary     Chairman 
 
 

 



GESTAMP CHATTANOOGA, LLC,  
a Delaware limited liability company 
 
 
By:         

Name:        

Title:        
 
 
 

 



CITY OF CHATTANOOGA, TENNESSEE 
 
 
By:        
 Mayor 
 
 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE 
 
 
 
By:        
 County Mayor 
 
 

 
 
WILLIAM F. HULLANDER 
 
 
By:        

Hamilton County Trustee 
 
 
 
WILLIAM C. BENNETT 

 
 
 

By:        
Hamilton County Assessor of Property 

 



EXHIBIT “A” 
TO PILOT AGREEMENT 

 
LAND 

 
[All of Tracts 19-B, as amended, 19-C, as amended, and 19-D] 

  

 



EXHIBIT “A-1” 
TO PILOT AGREEMENT 

 
EXISTING PROPERTY 

 
[Tract 19-A, as amended] 

 

  

 



EXHIBIT “B” 
TO PILOT AGREEMENT 

 
PERSONAL PROPERTY  

During the Tax Abatement Period, the Project shall include all machinery, equipment and other 
tangible personal property that is installed or otherwise located on or about or used in connection 
with the real property described in Exhibit A attached to this Agreement between January 1, 
2017 and January 1, 2026, together with replacements thereof and substitutions therefor, in 
connection with the Company’s operations on such property.   
 
 
 

 

 

 









No. 715-17 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
July 1, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION (I) TO MAKE CERTAIN FINDINGS RELATING TO THE NEW 
MANUFACTURING FACILITY PROJECT TO BE CONSTRUCTED, EQUIPPED 
AND OPERATED BY A TO-BE-FORMED SUBSIDARY OF GESTAMP NORTH 
AMERICA, INC. ("GESTAMP SUBSIDIARY") IN THE ENTERPRISE SOUTH 
INDUSTRIAL PARK (THE "PROJECT"), AND (II) TO AUTHORIZE THE MAYOR 
TO ENTER INTO AND EXECUTE AN AGREEMENT FOR PAYMENTS IN LIEU OF 
AD VALOREM TAXES WITH THE INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT BOARD OF 
THE CITY OF CHATTANOOGA (THE "BOARD"), THE GESTAMP SUBSIDIARY, 
AND THE CITY OF CHATTANOOGA, TENNESSEE WITH RESPECT TO THE 
PROJECT (THE "PILOT AGREEMENT") 
 
WHEREAS,      Gestamp North America, Inc. is contemplating the formation of a new  
                            subsidiary (the "Gestamp Subsidiary") for the purposes of constructing,  
                            equipping and operating a new manufacturing facility in the Enterprise South  
                            Industrial Park in Chattanooga, Hamilton County, Tennessee (the "Project"),  
                            which will require the acquisition of real property (the "Real Property")  
                            currently leased by Volkswagen Group of America Chattanooga Operations,  
                            LLC ("VW") from The Industrial Development Board of the City of  
                            Chattanooga (the "Board"); and 
 
WHEREAS,      VW has indicated its intent to release the Real Property from the lease with  
                           the Board in order for the Board to lease the Real Property to the Gestamp  
                           Subsidiary so that it can be used by the Gestamp Subsidiary for the Project;  
                           and 
 
WHEREAS,      because of the substantial public benefits to Hamilton County, Tennessee (the  
                           "County") and the City of Chattanooga, Tennessee (the "City") resulting from  
                           the Project, Gestamp has asked the Board, the Board of Commissioners of the  
                           County (the "Board of Commissioners") and the City Council to approve  
                           certain payments in lieu of ad valorem taxes with respect to the Project (the  
                           "In Lieu Payments"); and 



 

 

 
WHEREAS,      the Board of Commissioners has determined that payments in lieu of ad  
                           valorem taxes from a project such as the Project would be in furtherance of  
                           the Board's public purposes, as set forth in Chapter 53 of Title 7 of the  
                           Tennessee Code Annotated; 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
OF HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE, AS FOLLOWS: 
 
RESOLVED, that we do hereby find that substantial benefits to the County economy will be 
derived from the Project and that the In Lieu Payments contemplated under the PILOT 
Agreement will be in furtherance of the Board's public purposes; and 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that, having made such findings, we do hereby approve the 
PILOT Agreement in the form attached to this Resolution and do hereby authorize the Mayor 
to enter into the PILOT Agreement on behalf of the County, such PILOT Agreement to be 
substantially in the form attached to this Resolution, with such changes thereto as he shall 
approve; and 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM 
AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

July 1, 2015 

  
Date 

 



AGREEMENT FOR PAYMENTS IN LIEU 
OF AD VALOREM TAXES 

THIS AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is made and entered into as of this the ____day of 
________________, 2015, by and among THE INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT BOARD 
OF THE CITY OF CHATTANOOGA (the “Board”); GESTAMP CHATTANOOGA II, 
LLC (, the “Company”); the CITY OF CHATTANOOGA (the “City”); and HAMILTON 
COUNTY (the “County”) and is joined in, for purposes of evidencing their acceptance of the 
agency relationship established herein, by WILLIAM F. HULLANDER and his successors, 
acting in the capacity of HAMILTON COUNTY TRUSTEE (the “Trustee”), and by 
WILLIAM C. BENNETT and his successors, acting in the capacity of HAMILTON 
COUNTY ASSESSOR OF PROPERTY (the “Assessor”). 

W I T N E S S E T H: 

WHEREAS, the Company is contemplating (i) the acquisition of certain real 
property in Chattanooga, Hamilton County, Tennessee, as more particularly described on Exhibit 
A attached hereto and incorporated herein (the “Land”); (ii) the construction upon the Land of a 
new manufacturing facility (the “Real Property Improvements”) (the Land and the Real Property 
Improvements shall be collectively referred to as the “Real Property”) to be owned and operated 
by the Company; and (iii) the acquisition of machinery, equipment and other personal property, 
as more particularly described on Exhibit B attached hereto and incorporated herein (the 
“Personal Property”) (the Personal Property and the Real Property shall be collectively referred 
to as the “Property,” and the Real Property Improvements and the Personal Property shall be 
referred to as the “Project”), resulting in an investment of at least $39.1 million and the creation 
of at least 136 full-time jobs which jobs shall have an average hourly wage (excluding benefits) 
equal to at least $17.00 between January 1, 2017 and January 1, 2020 (collectively the 
“Investment, Jobs and Wage Projection”), and has requested the Board’s assistance with the 
Project; and 

WHEREAS, Gestamp Chattanooga, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company 
(“Related Company”), an entity related to the Company is contemplating the construction and 
operation of a complementary facility on a separate site located in the Enterprise South Industrial 
Park (“Related Project”), which will result in an investment of at least One Hundred Forty 
Million Nine Hundred Thousand Dollars ($140,900,000.00) and the creation of at least 374 full-
time jobs which shall have an average hourly wage (excluding benefits) equal to at least $17.00 
between January 1, 2017 and January 1, 2020 (collectively, the “Related Project Investment, 
Jobs and Wage Projection”) upon terms and conditions to be set forth in that certain Agreement 
for Payments In Lieu of Ad Valorem Taxes of even date herewith by and among Related 
Company and the other parties to this Agreement, except the Company (the “Related PILOT 
Agreement”); and 

WHEREAS, substantial economic benefits to the City and County economies 
will be derived from the Project and the Related Project; and 

WHEREAS, the Board has agreed to hold title to the Property, together with all 
additions thereto, replacements thereof, and substitutions therefor and (i) to lease the Real 

737513 1 
 



Property to the Company pursuant to a Real Property Lease Agreement (the “Real Property 
Lease:”), to be entered into between the Board and the Company, and (ii) to lease the Property to 
the Company pursuant to a Personal Property Lease Agreement (the “Personal Property Lease”), 
to be entered into between the Board and the Company (the Real Property Lease and the 
Personal Property Lease collectively called the “Leases”); and  

WHEREAS, because the Property is to be owned by the Board, which is a public 
corporation organized under the provisions of Tennessee Code Annotated, § 7-53-101, et seq., 
the Property will be exempt from ad valorem property taxes (“property taxes”) normally paid to 
the City and to the County, so long as the Property is owned by the Board, pursuant to the 
provisions of Tennessee Code Annotated, § 7-53-305; and 

WHEREAS, for the public benefit of the citizens of the City and the County, the 
Board has requested that the Company make certain payments to the Board in lieu of the 
payment of property taxes that would otherwise be payable on the Property; and 

WHEREAS, the Company has agreed to make such payments to the Board in 
lieu of the property taxes otherwise payable on the Property (the “In Lieu Payments”), as more 
particularly set forth hereinafter; and 

WHEREAS, the Board has been authorized to receive the In Lieu Payments in 
lieu of property taxes by resolutions adopted by the City and the County, acting through their 
duly elected Council and Commission, respectively, which resolutions delegate to the Board the 
authority to accept the In Lieu Payments upon compliance with certain terms and conditions, 
including, without limitation, the requirement that the Board collect and expend such payments 
in furtherance of the public purposes for which the Board was created; and 

WHEREAS, the Company and the Board have agreed that all In Lieu Payments 
made to the Board by the Company shall be paid to the City of Chattanooga Treasurer (the 
“Treasurer”) and the Trustee, who shall disburse such amounts to the City and the County in 
accordance with the requirements specified herein; and 

WHEREAS, the Board wishes to designate the Assessor as its agent to appraise 
the Property and assess a percentage of its value in the manner specified herein; and  

WHEREAS, the Board wishes to designate the Treasurer and the Trustee as its 
agents to receive the In Lieu Payments in accordance with the terms of this Agreement; 

NOW, THEREFORE, IN CONSIDERATION OF the mutual covenants and 
agreements set forth herein, the parties hereto agree as follows: 

1. Designation of Assessor; Appraisal and Assessment of Property.  The 
Board hereby designates the Assessor as its agent to appraise and assess the Property.  The 
Assessor shall appraise and assess the Property in accordance with the Constitution and laws of 
the State of Tennessee as though the Property were subject to property taxes.  The Assessor shall 
give the Treasurer, the Trustee, the Board, and the Company written notice of any changes in 
appraisals of the Property in the same manner that notices are given to owners of taxable 

 2 
 



property.  The Assessor shall make available to the Board and the Company all records relating 
to the appraisal and assessment of the Property.  

2. Computation and Billing of Payments In Lieu of Taxes.  The Board 
hereby designates the Treasurer and the Trustee and as its agents to compute the amounts of the 
In Lieu Payments, to receive such payments from the Company and to disburse such payments to 
the City and the County.  On or about October 1 of each year during the term of this Agreement, 
the Treasurer and the Trustee shall compute the taxes which would be payable on the Property if 
it were subject to property taxes, in accordance with the Constitution and laws of the State of 
Tennessee and in accordance with the appraisal and assessment of the Assessor.  Each year 
hereunder, the Treasurer and the Trustee shall send the Board and the Company a bill for 
appropriate amount of In Lieu Payments (the “Tax Bill”). 

3. Payments in Lieu of Taxes.  After receipt of the Tax Bill, the Company 
shall pay to the Treasurer and the Trustee the amount indicated on the Tax Bill which amount 
shall be determined in accordance with the provisions set forth below in Paragraph 4.  The In 
Lieu Payments shall be made by the Company in lieu of the property taxes which would 
otherwise be payable on the Property if it were subject to property taxes.   

4. Amount of Payments by the Company.  For the ten (10) year period 
covering and inclusive of years 2017 through 2026 (the “Tax Abatement Period”), the Company 
shall make In Lieu Payments with respect to the Project in an amount, as determined by the 
Assessor, the Treasurer and the Trustee, equal to the following percentage of the taxes that 
would have been payable on the Project if it were subject to property taxes for the respective 
years shown: 

 
Year 

City General 
Fund 

County General 
Fund 

County School 
Fund 

2017 0% 0% 100% 
2018 25% 25% 100% 
2019 40% 40% 100% 
2020 50% 50% 100% 
2021 50% 50% 100% 
2022 50% 50% 100% 
2023 50% 50% 100% 
2024 50% 50% 100% 
2025 50% 50% 100% 
2026 50% 50% 100% 

 

For the avoidance of doubt, the parties intend that the Company shall make (i) In Lieu Payments 
in an amount equal to one hundred percent (100%) of all ad valorem taxes that would be 
dedicated to the support of the County school system, which the Company and County  
acknowledge and agree currently equates to 49.64% of the amount of the total County taxes that 
would have been payable on the Project if it were subject to property taxes (the “School 
Portion”), and (ii) In Lieu Payments in an amount equal to the above graduated amounts for all 

 3 
 



other ad valorem taxes of the City and the County, excluding the educational portion of the 
County ad valorem taxes.  

For any of its portion of the Property other than the Project, the Company shall 
make In Lieu Payments in an amount, as determined by the Assessor, the Treasurer and the 
Trustee, equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the amount of taxes that would have been 
payable on such portion of the Property if it were subject to property taxes, except to the extent 
that a portion of such Property is subject to another agreement for payments in lieu of taxes with 
the City, the County and the IDB.  For the avoidance of doubt, the parties intend that the reduced 
In Lieu Payments under this Agreement shall only apply to new investment in the Property that 
is undertaken pursuant to this Agreement.   

For any periods before the Tax Abatement Period or after the Tax Abatement 
Period that the Property is owned by the Board and leased to the Company, the Company shall 
make In Lieu Payments in an amount, as determined by the Assessor, the Treasurer and the 
Trustee, equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the amount of taxes that would have been 
payable on the Property if it were subject to property taxes, except to the extent that a portion of 
such Property is subject to another agreement for payments in lieu of taxes with the City, the 
County and the IDB.   

Notwithstanding the above, any amounts assessed as property taxes against the 
Property shall be credited against any In Lieu Payments due under this Agreement. 

5. Penalties and Late Charges.  The Company shall make its In Lieu 
Payments for each year during the term before March 1 of the following year.  All In Lieu 
Payments shall be subject to penalties, late charges, fees and interest charges as follows: 

(a) If the Company fails to make its In Lieu Payment when due, and 
such failure to pay shall continue and not be fully paid within thirty (30) days after written notice 
of such non-payment has been provided to the Company, then a late charge shall be charged and 
shall also be immediately due and payable.  The late charge shall be in the amount of one and 
one-half percent (1-1/2%) of the owed amount.  Additional late charges of one and one-half 
percent (1-1/2%) of the amount shall accumulate and become immediately due and payable upon 
the expiration of each subsequent thirty (30) day period when there remains any outstanding 
unpaid amount. 

(b) If the Company should fail to pay all amounts and late charges due 
as provided hereinabove, then the Board, the City or the County may bring suit against the 
Company in the Chancery Court of Hamilton County to seek to recover the In Lieu Payments 
due, late charges, expenses and costs of collection in addition to reasonable attorneys’ fees.   

6. Minimum Requirements; Annual Review; Increase in Amount of In Lieu 
Payments.   

(a) Minimum Requirements.  The Company must meet one hundred 
percent (100%) of the Minimum Job Requirement and the Minimum Investment Requirement by 
January 1, 2020 (the “Determination Date”) and during each calendar year thereafter during the 
Tax Abatement Period.  For purposes of this Section, the “Minimum Jobs Requirement” equals 

 4 
 



One Hundred Nine (109) full-time jobs, and the “Minimum Investment” equals $31,280,000 
(Thirty-one Million Two Hundred Eighty Thousand Dollars). In addition, the Related Company 
must meet one hundred percent (100%) of the “Related Project Minimum Jobs Requirement” 
equal to 300 full-time jobs, and the “Related Project Minimum Investment Requirement” equal 
to One Hundred Twelve Million Seven Hundred Twenty Thousand Dollars ($112,720,000.00) by 
the Determination Date as set forth in the Related PILOT Agreement. 

(b) Annual Employment Review.  If (i) the Company fails to achieve 
the Minimum Jobs Requirement or (ii) the Related Company fails to achieve the Related Project 
Minimum Jobs Requirement during the calendar year in which the Determination Date occurs or 
during in any calendar year thereafter during the Tax Abatement Period, the City and the County 
reserve the right but are not obligated to increase the amount of the general fund In Lieu 
Payments applicable to the Project and to the Related Project for the same calendar year in which 
such failure occurs by a percentage equal to 100% less the “Company’s Job Performance” or the 
“Related Company’s Job Performance,” as applicable, for such calendar year (the “Job In Lieu 
Payment Percentage Increase”).  The “Company’s Job Performance” or the “Related Company’s 
Job Performance,” as applicable, for any calendar year means the proportion, expressed as a 
percentage, that the average number of full-time jobs actually maintained by the Company or the 
Related Company, as applicable, bears to the Minimum Job Requirement. In no event shall the 
Company’s annual General Fund In Lieu Payments exceed one hundred percent (100%) of the 
general fund taxes that would be assessed against the Project if it were subject to general fund 
taxes. 

Example 1: 

Total number of full-time jobs as of January 1, 2020 = 120 

Minimum Job Requirement = 109 

No increase in In Lieu Payments for 2020 

(Minimum Job Requirement has been exceeded) 

Example 2:  

Total number of full-time jobs as of January 1, 2020 = 100 

Minimum Job Requirement = 109 

Company’s Job Performance = 91.7% 

Job In Lieu Payment Percentage Increase for 2020 = 8.3%  

(In Lieu Payment Percentages for 2020 for City General Fund and County 
General Fund may each be increased by 8.3%) 

(c) Annual Investment Review.  If (i) the Company fails to achieve the 
Minimum Investment Requirement or (ii) the Related Company fails to achieve the Related 
Project Minimum Investment Requirement, during the calendar year in which the Determination 
Date occurs or during in any calendar year thereafter during the Tax Abatement Period, the City 
and the County reserve the right but are not obligated to increase the amount of the general fund 
In Lieu Payments applicable to the Project and to the Related Project for the same calendar year 
in which such failure occurs by a percentage equal to 100% less the “Company’s Investment 
Performance” or the “Related Company’s Investment Performance,” as applicable, for such 

 5 
 



calendar year (the “Investment In Lieu Payment Percentage Increase”).  The “Company’s 
Investment Performance” or the “Related Company’s Job Performance,” as applicable, for any 
calendar year means the proportion, expressed as a percentage, that the actual aggregate capital 
investment made by the Company or the Related Company, as applicable, through the end of 
such calendar year, including all capital investment made in the preceding calendar years in 
connection with the Project or the Related Company, as applicable, bears to the Minimum 
Investment Requirement.  In no event shall the Company’s annual General Fund In Lieu 
Payments exceed one hundred percent (100%) of the general fund taxes that would be assessed 
against the Project if it were subject to general fund taxes. 

Example 3:   

Total amount of capital investment through January 1, 2020 = $35,000,000 

Minimum Investment Requirement = $31,280,000 

No increase in In Lieu Payments for 2020 (Minimum Investment Requirement 
has been exceeded) 

Example 4:  

Total amount of capital investment through January 1, 2020 = $30,000,000 

Minimum Investment Requirement = $31,280,000 

Company’s Investment Performance = 95.9% 

Investment In Lieu Payment Percentage Increase for 2020 = 4.1% 

(In Lieu Payment Percentages for 2020 for City General Fund and County 
General Fund may each be increased by 4.1%) 

Such formula shall be evaluated on an annual basis until the Minimum Investment Requirement 
has been met or exceeded, whereupon no further evaluations or increase in the amount of the In 
Lieu Payments pursuant to this Section 6(c) shall occur.   

(d) Single Adjustment Regarding Tax Abatement; Issuance of 
Supplemental Bill to the Company.  If both the annual employment review under Section 6(b) 
and the investment review under Section 6(c) for any calendar year indicate an increase in the In 
Lieu Payments for the same calendar year in which such failure occurs, and if the City and the 
County elect to increase the In Lieu Payments for such calendar year, then the City and the 
County shall determine whether the increase under Section 6(b) or Section 6(c) shall apply, 
which shall be the sole remedy for a shortfall in the Investment, Jobs and Wage Projection.  The 
increase under Section 6(b) and Section 6(c) shall not be combined.  If the City and the County 
increase the amount of the In Lieu Payments pursuant to the annual employment review under 
Section 6(b) for any calendar year, then they may not, in the same year, also increase the amount 
of the In Lieu Payments pursuant to Section 6(c), and vice versa.  For example, using Examples 
2 and 4 shown above, the City and the County may elect to either (i) increase the amount of the 
In Lieu Payments to the City General Fund and the County General Fund under Section 6(b) by 
8.3% or (ii) increase the amount of the In Lieu Payments to the City General Fund and the 
County General Fund under Section 6(c) by 4.1%.  In accordance with the foregoing and once a 
determination has been made of the Jobs In Lieu Payment Percentage Increase or the Investment 
In Lieu Payment Percentage Increase, whichever is determined to be applicable, the Treasurer 

 6 
 



and the Trustee shall compute the amount of the additional In Lieu Payment resulting therefrom 
and will issue a supplemental bill to the Company for that payment. 

(e) Credit for Related Project “Excess” Minimum Job Requirement 
and/or Minimum Investment Requirement. For each calendar year, prior to increasing the In Lieu 
Payments arising from the Company’s failure to meet the Minimum Job Requirement or the 
Minimum Investment Requirement, there shall be added to the Company’s job or investment 
figures for the same calendar year the amount, if any, by which the Related Company’s “Total 
number of full-time jobs as of January 1” or “Total amount of capital investment through 
January 1” exceed the Related Company’s Minimum Job Requirement or Minimum Investment 
Requirement calculated pursuant to the Related PILOT Agreement. The combined number of the 
Company’s and the Related Company’s “excess” full-time jobs as of January 1 shall be the 
number used for the purpose of determining whether the Company has met the Minimum Job 
Requirement for that calendar year. The same procedure shall be followed with respect to the 
“excess” amount above the Related Company’s Minimum Investment Requirements for the same 
calendar year. The purpose of this Section 6(e) shall be to treat the Project and the Related 
Project as a single facility for the purpose of measuring whether the combined Minimum Job 
Requirement and/or the combined Minimum Investment Requirement has been satisfied for each 
calendar year. 

(f) Project Closure.  In the event the Project or the Related Project 
closes or moves from the County during the Tax Abatement Period, the City and the County 
reserve the right to immediately terminate the tax abatements provided by this Agreement and 
require the partial repayment of amounts that would have been payable on the Property during 
the Tax Abatement Period as if it were subject to property taxes.  The provisions of this 
subsection (e) shall be the sole remedy for a closure or relocation of the Project or the Related 
Project. 

7. Disbursements by the Treasurer and Trustee.  All sums received by the 
Treasurer pursuant to Paragraph 3 for the benefit of the City general fund shall be disbursed to 
the general funds of the City in accordance with this paragraph and in accordance with the 
normal requirements of law governing the settlement and paying over of taxes to counties and 
municipalities.  All sums received by the Trustee pursuant to Paragraph 3 for the benefit of the 
County general fund shall be disbursed to the general fund of the County in accordance with this 
paragraph and in accordance with the normal requirements of law governing the settlement and 
paying over of taxes to counties and municipalities.  All such sums received by the Treasurer 
shall be placed into an account for the use and benefit of the City. All such sums received by the 
Trustee shall be divided into an account for the use and benefit of the County. The account for 
the use and benefit of the City shall be funded with the proportionate amount to which the In 
Lieu Payments are attributable to property taxes which would otherwise be owed to the City, and 
the account for the use and benefit of the County shall be funded with the proportionate amount 
to which the In Lieu Payments are attributable to property taxes which would otherwise be owed 
to the County. All sums received by the Trustee pursuant to Paragraph 3 for the benefit of the 
County school system shall be disbursed to the County and thereafter deposited into an account 
for the educational use and benefit of the County schools.  The parties acknowledge and agree 
that all disbursements to the City and County pursuant to this Agreement are in furtherance of 
the Board’s purposes as set forth in Tennessee Code Annotated § 7-53-305. 

 7 
 



8. Economic Development Lease Payment  

(a) City of Chattanooga. For each calendar year beginning with 2017 
in which the In Lieu Payment Percentage as to the City General Fund (see chart in Section 4) is 
less than 100%, an economic development lease payment (an “Economic Development 
Payment”) equal to 15% of the City property taxes that would otherwise be payable for such year 
on the Project if it were subject to property taxes as calculated by the Treasurer pursuant to 
Section 2 above shall be computed and collected by the Treasurer; provided, however, in no 
event shall the total of the Company’s annual City General Fund In Lieu Payments plus the 
Economic Development Payment to the City exceed one hundred percent (100%) of City general 
fund taxes that would be assessed against the Project if it were subject to general fund taxes.  
Beginning in 2017, this Economic Development Payment will be paid for each year that the 
Property is owned by the Board through and including 2026 if the In Lieu Payment Percentage as 
to the City General Fund (see chart in Section 4) for such calendar year is less than 100%.  If the 
Board’s ownership ceases during any calendar year, then that year’s Economic Development 
Payment will be prorated.  The Treasurer shall add the Economic Development Payment as a 
separate line item on the Tax Bill, and the Company shall pay the Economic Development 
Payment for each such year during the term before March 1 of the following year.  Any failure to 
pay the Economic Development Payment on or before March 1 shall result in penalties and late 
charges calculated in the same manner as penalties and late charges are calculated for In Lieu 
Payments under this Agreement.  

The Treasurer shall disburse the City’s Economic Development Payment 
to the City of Chattanooga’s Industrial Development Board.  The City of Chattanooga’s 
Industrial Development Board shall hold such funds to be used for economic development 
purposes, as directed by the Mayor of the City. 

(b) Hamilton County. For each calendar year beginning with 2017 in 
which the In Lieu Payment Percentage as to the County General Fund (see chart in Section 4) is 
less than 100%, an Economic Development Payment to the County equal to 12.53% of the 
County general fund property taxes (but, for clarity, expressly excluding the School Portion) that 
would otherwise be payable for such year on the Project if it were subject to property taxes as 
calculated by the Trustee pursuant to Section 2 above, shall be computed and collected by the 
Trustee; provided, however, in no event shall the total of the Company’s annual County General 
Fund In Lieu Payments plus the Economic Development Payment to the County exceed one 
hundred percent (100%) of the County general fund taxes that would be assessed against the 
Project if it were subject to general fund taxes.  Beginning in 2017, this Economic Development 
Payment will be paid for each year that the Property is owned by the Board through and 
including 2026 if the In Lieu Payment Percentage as to the County General Fund (see chart in 
Section 4) for such calendar year is less than 100%.  If the Board’s ownership ceases during any 
calendar year, then that year’s Economic Development Payment will be prorated.  The Trustee 
shall add the Economic Development Payment as a separate line item on the Tax Bill, and the 
Company shall pay the Economic Development Payment for each such year during the term 
before March 1 of the following year.  Any failure to pay the Economic Development Payment 
on or before March 1 shall result in penalties and late charges calculated in the same manner as 
penalties and late charges are calculated for In Lieu Payments under this Agreement.  

 8 
 



The Trustee shall not deduct any part of the Economic Development 
Payment from the School Portion of the In Lieu Payments.  The Trustee shall disburse the 
County’s Economic Development Payment to the County, and the County shall hold such funds 
to be used for economic development purposes as directed by the Mayor of the County.   

9. Contest by the Company.  The Company shall each have the right to 
contest the appraisal or assessment of the Property by the Assessor, the computation by the 
Treasurer and the Trustee of the amount of the In Lieu Payment and the calculation of the 
Economic Development Payments.  If the Company contests any such appraisal or assessment, 
then it shall present evidence to the Assessor in favor of its position.  If the In Lieu Payments, or 
the Economic Development Payments, as applicable, being contested shall be or become due and 
payable, the Company shall make such payments under protest.  The Company and the Assessor, 
the Treasurer or the Trustee, as the case may be, shall negotiate in good faith for a period not to 
exceed sixty (60) days to resolve any disputes as to appraisal, assessment or computation of the 
In Lieu Payment or the Economic Development Payments, as applicable.  If the Company and 
the Assessor, the Treasurer or the Trustee, as the case may be, are unable to resolve a dispute, 
then the Company may file suit in the Chancery Court of Hamilton County to ask that the 
provisions of this Agreement, including those covering appraisal, assessment and computation, 
be construed or applied to the relevant facts by the Chancery Court in order to resolve such 
dispute. 

10. Lien on the Property.  Any amounts which remain payable under this 
Agreement shall become a lien on the Property, and such lien shall be enforceable against the 
Property in the event that any payment owing hereunder is not timely made in accordance with 
this Agreement. 

11. Term.  This Agreement shall become effective on the date that the Board 
leases the Property to the Company and shall continue for so long as the Board holds title to any 
of the Property and leases such property to the Company or the Company has made all payments 
required hereunder, whichever shall later occur. 

12. Leasehold Taxation.  The Board, the City, the County, the Treasurer, the 
Trustee and the Assessor acknowledge and agree that the Company’s personal property leasehold 
interest in the Personal Property under the Leases shall not be subject to assessment for ad 
valorem tax purposes.  The Board, the City, the County, the Treasurer, the Trustee and the 
Assessor further acknowledge and agree that the Company’s real property leasehold interests in 
the Real Property Improvements under the Leases is not expected to be subject to assessment for 
ad valorem tax purposes, as all amounts paid by the Company, including without limitation, rent 
under the Leases, costs for maintenance, insurance, utilities, infrastructure, site preparation, 
acquisition, construction, and other costs for or in connection with the Project, cost of capital for 
or in connection with the Project, and obligations of the Company under the Leases would, at the 
present time, be considered as rent payable under the Leases for purposes of determining the 
Company’s leasehold interests.  As a result, the actual or imputed rent for the real property 
portion of the Property is expected to equal or exceed the fair market rent for purposes of Tenn. 
Code Ann. § 67-5-605.  If the leasehold interest of the Company in the Property should be 
subject to ad valorem taxation for any year hereunder, then any amounts assessed as taxes 
thereon shall be credited against any In Lieu of Tax Payments and Economic Development 

 9 
 



Payments paid under this Agreement and carried forward from year to year until fully utilized. 
Additionally, in the event the Company determines, in the exercise of reasonable discretion, that 
there is a possibility, notwithstanding the foregoing agreement, of a positive taxable leasehold 
interest in the Property, the Company shall have the continuing option to require the Board take 
all reasonable steps, at no additional cost to the Board, to restructure this Agreement and the 
related Lease to eliminate the positive leasehold value and to deliver the same economic benefit 
to the Company as is contemplated under this Agreement without the imposition of any 
ad valorem taxes on such leasehold value.  Such options may include, but are not limited to, an 
arrangement by which the Board issues and the Company purchases industrial revenue bonds to 
finance all or a portion of the Property, provided that such bonds shall be limited obligations of 
the Board and non-recourse to the City and the County. 

13. Notices, etc.  All notices and other communications provided for 
hereunder shall be written (including facsimile transmission and telex), and mailed or sent via 
facsimile transmission or delivered addressed as follows: 

Board Wade A. Hinton 
City Attorney 
City of Chattanooga 
Suite 200, 100 E. 11th Street 
Chattanooga, Tennessee 37402 

The City: 
 
 
 
 
 

Wade A. Hinton 
City Attorney 
City of Chattanooga 
Suite 200, 100 E. 11th Street 
Chattanooga, Tennessee 37402 

The County: 
 
 
 
 
 

Rheubin M. Taylor  
County Attorney 
Hamilton County Government 
Room 204, County Courthouse 
Chattanooga, Tennessee 37402 

With a Copy to: Miller & Martin PLLC 
832 Georgia Avenue 
Suite 1000, Volunteer Building 
Chattanooga, Tennessee 37402 
Attention:  Evan Allison 
 

Company: 
 
 
 
 

Gestamp North America, Inc. 
2701 Troy Center Drive, Suite 150 
Troy, Michigan 48084 
Attn: James Barry 

 10 
 



With a Copy to: Gestamp Chattanooga II, LLC 
3063 Hickory Valley Road 
Chattanooga, Tennessee  37421 
Attn: Corey Jahn 
 

With a Copy to: Baker, Donelson, Bearman, Caldwell & 
Berkowitz 
1800 Republic Centre 
633 Chestnut Street 
Chattanooga, Tennessee 37450 
Attn: Louann Smith 
 

The Assessor 
 
 
 
The Treasurer: 

Hamilton County Assessor of Property 
Hamilton County Courthouse 
Chattanooga, Tennessee 37402 
 
City of Chattanooga Treasurer 
101 East 11th Street 
Chattanooga, TN 37402 
 

The Trustee Hamilton County Trustee 
Hamilton County Courthouse 
Chattanooga, Tennessee 37402 
 

Any such person may, by notice given hereunder, designate any further or different 
addresses to which subsequent notices, certificates or other communication shall be sent.  All 
such notices and communications shall, when mailed by registered and certified mail, return 
receipt requested, Express Mail, or facsimile, be effective when deposited in the mails or if sent 
upon facsimile transmission, confirmed electronically, respectively, addressed as aforesaid. 

14. No Waiver; Remedies.  No failure on the part of any party hereto, and no 
delay in exercising any right under this Agreement shall operate as a waiver thereof; nor shall 
any single or partial exercise of any right under this Agreement preclude any other or further 
exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right.  The remedies provided in this Agreement are 
cumulative and are not exclusive of any remedies provided by law. 

15. Severability.  In the event that any clause or provision of this Agreement 
shall be held to be invalid by any court or jurisdiction, the invalidity of any such clause or 
provision shall not affect any of the remaining provisions of this Agreement. 

16. No Liability of Board’s Officers.  No recourse under or upon any 
obligation, covenant or agreement contained in this Agreement shall be had against any 
incorporator, member, director or officer, as such, of the Board, whether past, present or future, 
either directly or through the Board.  Any and all personal liability of every nature, whether at 
common law or in equity, or by statute or by constitution or otherwise, of any such incorporator, 
member, director or officer, as such, is hereby expressly waived and released as a condition of 
and consideration for the execution of this Agreement. 

 11 
 



17. Binding Effect.  This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the 
benefit of each of the parties and signatories hereto and to their respective successors and 
assigns. 

18. Governing Law.  The Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in 
accordance with, the laws of the State of Tennessee. 

19. Amendments.  This Agreement may be amended only in writing, signed 
by each of the parties hereto, except that the Treasurer, the Trustee and the Assessor shall not be 
required to join in amendments unless such amendments affect their respective duties hereunder. 

20. Annual Report. On or before January 31 of each year this Agreement is in 
effect, the Company shall provide a report to the Mayor of the City and the Mayor of the County 
summarizing its investment in the Property and the development and operation of the Project for 
purposes of analyzing the Company’s progress in achieving the Investment, Jobs and Wage 
Projection. 

21. Stormwater Fees.  The Company shall be responsible for all stormwater 
fees assessed by the City against the Property. 

[ Signature Pages Follow] 

 

 12 
 



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of 
the day and date first above written. 

ATTEST:     THE INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT BOARD 
OF THE CITY OF CHATTANOOGA 

 
 
By:      By:        

Secretary     Chairman 
 
 

 



GESTAMP CHATTANOOGA II, LLC,  
a Delaware limited liability company 
 
 
By:         

Name:        

Title:        
 
 
 

 



CITY OF CHATTANOOGA, TENNESSEE 
 
 
By:        
 Mayor 
 
 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE 
 
 
 
By:        
 County Mayor 
 
 

 
 
WILLIAM F. HULLANDER 
 
 
By:        

Hamilton County Trustee 
 
 
 
WILLIAM C. BENNETT 

 
 
 

By:        
Hamilton County Assessor of Property 

 



EXHIBIT “A” 
TO PILOT AGREEMENT 

 
LAND 

 
[59.87 acre parcel] 

  

 



EXHIBIT “B” 
TO PILOT AGREEMENT 

 
PERSONAL PROPERTY  

During the Tax Abatement Period, the Project shall include all machinery, equipment and other 
tangible personal property that is installed or otherwise located on or about or used in connection 
with the real property described in Exhibit A attached to this Agreement between January 1, 
2017 and January 1, 2026, together with replacements thereof and substitutions therefor, in 
connection with the Company’s operations on such property.   
 
 
 

 

 

 



AGREEMENT FOR PAYMENTS IN LIEU 
OF AD VALOREM TAXES 

THIS AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is made and entered into as of this the ____day of 
________________, 2015, by and among THE INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT BOARD 
OF THE CITY OF CHATTANOOGA (the “Board”); GESTAMP CHATTANOOGA II, 
LLC (, the “Company”); the CITY OF CHATTANOOGA (the “City”); and HAMILTON 
COUNTY (the “County”) and is joined in, for purposes of evidencing their acceptance of the 
agency relationship established herein, by WILLIAM F. HULLANDER and his successors, 
acting in the capacity of HAMILTON COUNTY TRUSTEE (the “Trustee”), and by 
WILLIAM C. BENNETT and his successors, acting in the capacity of HAMILTON 
COUNTY ASSESSOR OF PROPERTY (the “Assessor”). 

W I T N E S S E T H: 

WHEREAS, the Company is contemplating (i) the acquisition of certain real 
property in Chattanooga, Hamilton County, Tennessee, as more particularly described on Exhibit 
A attached hereto and incorporated herein (the “Land”); (ii) the construction upon the Land of a 
new manufacturing facility (the “Real Property Improvements”) (the Land and the Real Property 
Improvements shall be collectively referred to as the “Real Property”) to be owned and operated 
by the Company; and (iii) the acquisition of machinery, equipment and other personal property, 
as more particularly described on Exhibit B attached hereto and incorporated herein (the 
“Personal Property”) (the Personal Property and the Real Property shall be collectively referred 
to as the “Property,” and the Real Property Improvements and the Personal Property shall be 
referred to as the “Project”), resulting in an investment of at least $39.1 million and the creation 
of at least 136 full-time jobs which jobs shall have an average hourly wage (excluding benefits) 
equal to at least $17.00 between January 1, 2017 and January 1, 2020 (collectively the 
“Investment, Jobs and Wage Projection”), and has requested the Board’s assistance with the 
Project; and 

WHEREAS, Gestamp Chattanooga, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company 
(“Related Company”), an entity related to the Company is contemplating the construction and 
operation of a complementary facility on a separate site located in the Enterprise South Industrial 
Park (“Related Project”), which will result in an investment of at least One Hundred Forty 
Million Nine Hundred Thousand Dollars ($140,900,000.00) and the creation of at least 374 full-
time jobs which shall have an average hourly wage (excluding benefits) equal to at least $17.00 
between January 1, 2017 and January 1, 2020 (collectively, the “Related Project Investment, 
Jobs and Wage Projection”) upon terms and conditions to be set forth in that certain Agreement 
for Payments In Lieu of Ad Valorem Taxes of even date herewith by and among Related 
Company and the other parties to this Agreement, except the Company (the “Related PILOT 
Agreement”); and 

WHEREAS, substantial economic benefits to the City and County economies 
will be derived from the Project and the Related Project; and 

WHEREAS, the Board has agreed to hold title to the Property, together with all 
additions thereto, replacements thereof, and substitutions therefor and (i) to lease the Real 

737513 1 

     

     



Property to the Company pursuant to a Real Property Lease Agreement (the “Real Property 
Lease:”), to be entered into between the Board and the Company, and (ii) to lease the Property to 
the Company pursuant to a Personal Property Lease Agreement (the “Personal Property Lease”), 
to be entered into between the Board and the Company (the Real Property Lease and the 
Personal Property Lease collectively called the “Leases”); and  

WHEREAS, because the Property is to be owned by the Board, which is a public 
corporation organized under the provisions of Tennessee Code Annotated, § 7-53-101, et seq., 
the Property will be exempt from ad valorem property taxes (“property taxes”) normally paid to 
the City and to the County, so long as the Property is owned by the Board, pursuant to the 
provisions of Tennessee Code Annotated, § 7-53-305; and 

WHEREAS, for the public benefit of the citizens of the City and the County, the 
Board has requested that the Company make certain payments to the Board in lieu of the 
payment of property taxes that would otherwise be payable on the Property; and 

WHEREAS, the Company has agreed to make such payments to the Board in 
lieu of the property taxes otherwise payable on the Property (the “In Lieu Payments”), as more 
particularly set forth hereinafter; and 

WHEREAS, the Board has been authorized to receive the In Lieu Payments in 
lieu of property taxes by resolutions adopted by the City and the County, acting through their 
duly elected Council and Commission, respectively, which resolutions delegate to the Board the 
authority to accept the In Lieu Payments upon compliance with certain terms and conditions, 
including, without limitation, the requirement that the Board collect and expend such payments 
in furtherance of the public purposes for which the Board was created; and 

WHEREAS, the Company and the Board have agreed that all In Lieu Payments 
made to the Board by the Company shall be paid to the City of Chattanooga Treasurer (the 
“Treasurer”) and the Trustee, who shall disburse such amounts to the City and the County in 
accordance with the requirements specified herein; and 

WHEREAS, the Board wishes to designate the Assessor as its agent to appraise 
the Property and assess a percentage of its value in the manner specified herein; and  

WHEREAS, the Board wishes to designate the Treasurer and the Trustee as its 
agents to receive the In Lieu Payments in accordance with the terms of this Agreement; 

NOW, THEREFORE, IN CONSIDERATION OF the mutual covenants and 
agreements set forth herein, the parties hereto agree as follows: 

1. Designation of Assessor; Appraisal and Assessment of Property.  The 
Board hereby designates the Assessor as its agent to appraise and assess the Property.  The 
Assessor shall appraise and assess the Property in accordance with the Constitution and laws of 
the State of Tennessee as though the Property were subject to property taxes.  The Assessor shall 
give the Treasurer, the Trustee, the Board, and the Company written notice of any changes in 
appraisals of the Property in the same manner that notices are given to owners of taxable 

 2 

     

     



property.  The Assessor shall make available to the Board and the Company all records relating 
to the appraisal and assessment of the Property.  

2. Computation and Billing of Payments In Lieu of Taxes.  The Board 
hereby designates the Treasurer and the Trustee and as its agents to compute the amounts of the 
In Lieu Payments, to receive such payments from the Company and to disburse such payments to 
the City and the County.  On or about October 1 of each year during the term of this Agreement, 
the Treasurer and the Trustee shall compute the taxes which would be payable on the Property if 
it were subject to property taxes, in accordance with the Constitution and laws of the State of 
Tennessee and in accordance with the appraisal and assessment of the Assessor.  Each year 
hereunder, the Treasurer and the Trustee shall send the Board and the Company a bill for 
appropriate amount of In Lieu Payments (the “Tax Bill”). 

3. Payments in Lieu of Taxes.  After receipt of the Tax Bill, the Company 
shall pay to the Treasurer and the Trustee the amount indicated on the Tax Bill which amount 
shall be determined in accordance with the provisions set forth below in Paragraph 4.  The In 
Lieu Payments shall be made by the Company in lieu of the property taxes which would 
otherwise be payable on the Property if it were subject to property taxes.   

4. Amount of Payments by the Company.  For the ten (10) year period 
covering and inclusive of years 2017 through 2026 (the “Tax Abatement Period”), the Company 
shall make In Lieu Payments with respect to the Project in an amount, as determined by the 
Assessor, the Treasurer and the Trustee, equal to the following percentage of the taxes that 
would have been payable on the Project if it were subject to property taxes for the respective 
years shown: 

 
Year 

City General 
Fund 

County General 
Fund 

County School 
Fund 

2017 0% 0% 100% 
2018 25% 25% 100% 
2019 40% 40% 100% 
2020 50% 50% 100% 
2021 50% 50% 100% 
2022 50% 50% 100% 
2023 50% 50% 100% 
2024 50% 50% 100% 
2025 50% 50% 100% 
2026 50% 50% 100% 

 

For the avoidance of doubt, the parties intend that the Company shall make (i) In Lieu Payments 
in an amount equal to one hundred percent (100%) of all ad valorem taxes that would be 
dedicated to the support of the County school system, which the Company and County  
acknowledge and agree currently equates to 49.64% of the amount of the total County taxes that 
would have been payable on the Project if it were subject to property taxes (the “School 
Portion”), and (ii) In Lieu Payments in an amount equal to the above graduated amounts for all 

 3 

     

     



other ad valorem taxes of the City and the County, excluding the educational portion of the 
County ad valorem taxes.  

For any of its portion of the Property other than the Project, the Company shall 
make In Lieu Payments in an amount, as determined by the Assessor, the Treasurer and the 
Trustee, equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the amount of taxes that would have been 
payable on such portion of the Property if it were subject to property taxes, except to the extent 
that a portion of such Property is subject to another agreement for payments in lieu of taxes with 
the City, the County and the IDB.  For the avoidance of doubt, the parties intend that the reduced 
In Lieu Payments under this Agreement shall only apply to new investment in the Property that 
is undertaken pursuant to this Agreement.   

For any periods before the Tax Abatement Period or after the Tax Abatement 
Period that the Property is owned by the Board and leased to the Company, the Company shall 
make In Lieu Payments in an amount, as determined by the Assessor, the Treasurer and the 
Trustee, equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the amount of taxes that would have been 
payable on the Property if it were subject to property taxes, except to the extent that a portion of 
such Property is subject to another agreement for payments in lieu of taxes with the City, the 
County and the IDB.   

Notwithstanding the above, any amounts assessed as property taxes against the 
Property shall be credited against any In Lieu Payments due under this Agreement. 

5. Penalties and Late Charges.  The Company shall make its In Lieu 
Payments for each year during the term before March 1 of the following year.  All In Lieu 
Payments shall be subject to penalties, late charges, fees and interest charges as follows: 

(a) If the Company fails to make its In Lieu Payment when due, and 
such failure to pay shall continue and not be fully paid within thirty (30) days after written notice 
of such non-payment has been provided to the Company, then a late charge shall be charged and 
shall also be immediately due and payable.  The late charge shall be in the amount of one and 
one-half percent (1-1/2%) of the owed amount.  Additional late charges of one and one-half 
percent (1-1/2%) of the amount shall accumulate and become immediately due and payable upon 
the expiration of each subsequent thirty (30) day period when there remains any outstanding 
unpaid amount. 

(b) If the Company should fail to pay all amounts and late charges due 
as provided hereinabove, then the Board, the City or the County may bring suit against the 
Company in the Chancery Court of Hamilton County to seek to recover the In Lieu Payments 
due, late charges, expenses and costs of collection in addition to reasonable attorneys’ fees.   

6. Minimum Requirements; Annual Review; Increase in Amount of In Lieu 
Payments.   

(a) Minimum Requirements.  The Company must meet one hundred 
percent (100%) of the Minimum Job Requirement and the Minimum Investment Requirement by 
January 1, 2020 (the “Determination Date”) and during each calendar year thereafter during the 

 4 

     

     



Tax Abatement Period.  For purposes of this Section, the “Minimum Jobs Requirement” equals 
One Hundred Nine (109) full-time jobs, and the “Minimum Investment” equals $31,280,000 
(Thirty-one Million Two Hundred Eighty Thousand Dollars). In addition, the Related Company 
must meet one hundred percent (100%) of the “Related Project Minimum Jobs Requirement” 
equal to 300 full-time jobs, and the “Related Project Minimum Investment Requirement” equal 
to One Hundred Twelve Million Seven Hundred Twenty Thousand Dollars ($112,720,000.00) by 
the Determination Date as set forth in the Related PILOT Agreement. 

(b) Annual Employment Review.  If (i) the Company fails to achieve 
the Minimum Jobs Requirement or (ii) the Related Company fails to achieve the Related Project 
Minimum Jobs Requirement during the calendar year in which the Determination Date occurs or 
during in any calendar year thereafter during the Tax Abatement Period, the City and the County 
reserve the right but are not obligated to increase the amount of the general fund In Lieu 
Payments applicable to the Project and to the Related Project for the same calendar year in which 
such failure occurs by a percentage equal to 100% less the “Company’s Job Performance” or the 
“Related Company’s Job Performance,” as applicable, for such calendar year (the “Job In Lieu 
Payment Percentage Increase”).  The “Company’s Job Performance” or the “Related Company’s 
Job Performance,” as applicable, for any calendar year means the proportion, expressed as a 
percentage, that the average number of full-time jobs actually maintained by the Company or the 
Related Company, as applicable, bears to the Minimum Job Requirement. In no event shall the 
Company’s annual General Fund In Lieu Payments exceed one hundred percent (100%) of the 
general fund taxes that would be assessed against the Project if it were subject to general fund 
taxes. 

Example 1: 

Total number of full-time jobs as of January 1, 2020 = 120 

Minimum Job Requirement = 109 

No increase in In Lieu Payments for 2020 

(Minimum Job Requirement has been exceeded) 

Example 2:  

Total number of full-time jobs as of January 1, 2020 = 100 

Minimum Job Requirement = 109 

Company’s Job Performance = 91.7% 

Job In Lieu Payment Percentage Increase for 2020 = 8.3%  

(In Lieu Payment Percentages for 2020 for City General Fund and County 
General Fund may each be increased by 8.3%) 

(c) Annual Investment Review.  If (i) the Company fails to achieve the 
Minimum Investment Requirement or (ii) the Related Company fails to achieve the Related 
Project Minimum Investment Requirement, during the calendar year in which the Determination 
Date occurs or during in any calendar year thereafter during the Tax Abatement Period, the City 
and the County reserve the right but are not obligated to increase the amount of the general fund 
In Lieu Payments applicable to the Project and to the Related Project for the same calendar year 
in which such failure occurs by a percentage equal to 100% less the “Company’s Investment 
 5 

     

     



Performance” or the “Related Company’s Investment Performance,” as applicable, for such 
calendar year (the “Investment In Lieu Payment Percentage Increase”).  The “Company’s 
Investment Performance” or the “Related Company’s Job Performance,” as applicable, for any 
calendar year means the proportion, expressed as a percentage, that the actual aggregate capital 
investment made by the Company or the Related Company, as applicable, through the end of 
such calendar year, including all capital investment made in the preceding calendar years in 
connection with the Project or the Related Company, as applicable, bears to the Minimum 
Investment Requirement.  In no event shall the Company’s annual General Fund In Lieu 
Payments exceed one hundred percent (100%) of the general fund taxes that would be assessed 
against the Project if it were subject to general fund taxes. 

Example 3:   

Total amount of capital investment through January 1, 2020 = $35,000,000 

Minimum Investment Requirement = $31,280,000 

No increase in In Lieu Payments for 2020 (Minimum Investment Requirement 
has been exceeded) 

Example 4:  

Total amount of capital investment through January 1, 2020 = $30,000,000 

Minimum Investment Requirement = $31,280,000 

Company’s Investment Performance = 95.9% 

Investment In Lieu Payment Percentage Increase for 2020 = 4.1% 

(In Lieu Payment Percentages for 2020 for City General Fund and County 
General Fund may each be increased by 4.1%) 

Such formula shall be evaluated on an annual basis until the Minimum Investment Requirement 
has been met or exceeded, whereupon no further evaluations or increase in the amount of the In 
Lieu Payments pursuant to this Section 6(c) shall occur.   

(d) Single Adjustment Regarding Tax Abatement; Issuance of 
Supplemental Bill to the Company.  If both the annual employment review under Section 6(b) 
and the investment review under Section 6(c) for any calendar year indicate an increase in the In 
Lieu Payments for the same calendar year in which such failure occurs, and if the City and the 
County elect to increase the In Lieu Payments for such calendar year, then the City and the 
County shall determine whether the increase under Section 6(b) or Section 6(c) shall apply, 
which shall be the sole remedy for a shortfall in the Investment, Jobs and Wage Projection.  The 
increase under Section 6(b) and Section 6(c) shall not be combined.  If the City and the County 
increase the amount of the In Lieu Payments pursuant to the annual employment review under 
Section 6(b) for any calendar year, then they may not, in the same year, also increase the amount 
of the In Lieu Payments pursuant to Section 6(c), and vice versa.  For example, using Examples 
2 and 4 shown above, the City and the County may elect to either (i) increase the amount of the 
In Lieu Payments to the City General Fund and the County General Fund under Section 6(b) by 
8.3% or (ii) increase the amount of the In Lieu Payments to the City General Fund and the 
County General Fund under Section 6(c) by 4.1%.  In accordance with the foregoing and once a 
determination has been made of the Jobs In Lieu Payment Percentage Increase or the Investment 

 6 

     

     



In Lieu Payment Percentage Increase, whichever is determined to be applicable, the Treasurer 
and the Trustee shall compute the amount of the additional In Lieu Payment resulting therefrom 
and will issue a supplemental bill to the Company for that payment. 

(e) Credit for Related Project “Excess” Minimum Job Requirement 
and/or Minimum Investment Requirement. For each calendar year, prior to increasing the In Lieu 
Payments arising from the Company’s failure to meet the Minimum Job Requirement or the 
Minimum Investment Requirement, there shall be added to the Company’s job or investment 
figures for the same calendar year the amount, if any, by which the Related Company’s “Total 
number of full-time jobs as of January 1” or “Total amount of capital investment through 
January 1” exceed the Related Company’s Minimum Job Requirement or Minimum Investment 
Requirement calculated pursuant to the Related PILOT Agreement. The combined number of the 
Company’s and the Related Company’s “excess” full-time jobs as of January 1 shall be the 
number used for the purpose of determining whether the Company has met the Minimum Job 
Requirement for that calendar year. The same procedure shall be followed with respect to the 
“excess” amount above the Related Company’s Minimum Investment Requirements for the same 
calendar year. The purpose of this Section 6(e) shall be to treat the Project and the Related 
Project as a single facility for the purpose of measuring whether the combined Minimum Job 
Requirement and/or the combined Minimum Investment Requirement has been satisfied for each 
calendar year. 

(f) Project Closure.  In the event the Project or the Related Project 
closes or moves from the County during the Tax Abatement Period, the City and the County 
reserve the right to immediately terminate the tax abatements provided by this Agreement and 
require the partial repayment of amounts that would have been payable on the Property during 
the Tax Abatement Period as if it were subject to property taxes.  The provisions of this 
subsection (e) shall be the sole remedy for a closure or relocation of the Project or the Related 
Project. 

7. Disbursements by the Treasurer and Trustee.  All sums received by the 
Treasurer pursuant to Paragraph 3 for the benefit of the City general fund shall be disbursed to 
the general funds of the City in accordance with this paragraph and in accordance with the 
normal requirements of law governing the settlement and paying over of taxes to counties and 
municipalities.  All sums received by the Trustee pursuant to Paragraph 3 for the benefit of the 
County general fund shall be disbursed to the general fund of the County in accordance with this 
paragraph and in accordance with the normal requirements of law governing the settlement and 
paying over of taxes to counties and municipalities.  All such sums received by the Treasurer 
shall be placed into an account for the use and benefit of the City. All such sums received by the 
Trustee shall be divided into an account for the use and benefit of the County. The account for 
the use and benefit of the City shall be funded with the proportionate amount to which the In 
Lieu Payments are attributable to property taxes which would otherwise be owed to the City, and 
the account for the use and benefit of the County shall be funded with the proportionate amount 
to which the In Lieu Payments are attributable to property taxes which would otherwise be owed 
to the County. All sums received by the Trustee pursuant to Paragraph 3 for the benefit of the 
County school system shall be disbursed to the County and thereafter deposited into an account 
for the educational use and benefit of the County schools.  The parties acknowledge and agree 

 7 

     

     



that all disbursements to the City and County pursuant to this Agreement are in furtherance of 
the Board’s purposes as set forth in Tennessee Code Annotated § 7-53-305. 

8. Economic Development Lease Payment  

(a) City of Chattanooga. For each calendar year beginning with 2017 
in which the In Lieu Payment Percentage as to the City General Fund (see chart in Section 4) is 
less than 100%, an economic development lease payment (an “Economic Development 
Payment”) equal to 15% of the City property taxes that would otherwise be payable for such year 
on the Project if it were subject to property taxes as calculated by the Treasurer pursuant to 
Section 2 above shall be computed and collected by the Treasurer; provided, however, in no 
event shall the total of the Company’s annual City General Fund In Lieu Payments plus the 
Economic Development Payment to the City exceed one hundred percent (100%) of City general 
fund taxes that would be assessed against the Project if it were subject to general fund taxes.  
Beginning in 20152017, this Economic Development Payment will be paid for each year that the 
Property is owned by the Board through and including 2026 if the In Lieu Payment Percentage as 
to the City General Fund (see chart in Section 4) for such calendar year is less than 100%.  If the 
Board’s ownership ceases during any calendar year, then that year’s Economic Development 
Payment will be prorated.  The Treasurer shall add the Economic Development Payment as a 
separate line item on the Tax Bill, and the Company shall pay the Economic Development 
Payment for each such year during the term before March 1 of the following year.  Any failure to 
pay the Economic Development Payment on or before March 1 shall result in penalties and late 
charges calculated in the same manner as penalties and late charges are calculated for In Lieu 
Payments under this Agreement.  

The Treasurer shall disburse the City’s Economic Development Payment 
to the City of Chattanooga’s Industrial Development Board.  The City of Chattanooga’s 
Industrial Development Board shall hold such funds to be used for economic development 
purposes, as directed by the Mayor of the City. 

(b) Hamilton County. For each calendar year beginning with 2017 in 
which the In Lieu Payment Percentage as to the County General Fund (see chart in Section 4) is 
less than 100%, an Economic Development Payment to the County equal to 12.53% of the 
County general fund property taxes (but, for clarity, expressly excluding the School Portion) that 
would otherwise be payable for such year on the Project if it were subject to property taxes as 
calculated by the Trustee pursuant to Section 2 above, shall be computed and collected by the 
Trustee; provided, however, in no event shall the total of the Company’s annual County General 
Fund In Lieu Payments plus the Economic Development Payment to the County exceed one 
hundred percent (100%) of the County general fund taxes that would be assessed against the 
Project if it were subject to general fund taxes.  Beginning in 2017, this Economic Development 
Payment will be paid for each year that the Property is owned by the Board through and 
including 2026 if the In Lieu Payment Percentage as to the County General Fund (see chart in 
Section 4) for such calendar year is less than 100%.  If the Board’s ownership ceases during any 
calendar year, then that year’s Economic Development Payment will be prorated.  The Trustee 
shall add the Economic Development Payment as a separate line item on the Tax Bill, and the 
Company shall pay the Economic Development Payment for each such year during the term 
before March 1 of the following year.  Any failure to pay the Economic Development Payment 

 8 

     

     



on or before March 1 shall result in penalties and late charges calculated in the same manner as 
penalties and late charges are calculated for In Lieu Payments under this Agreement.  

The Trustee shall not deduct any part of the Economic Development 
Payment from the School Portion of the In Lieu Payments.  The Trustee shall disburse the 
County’s Economic Development Payment to the County, and the County shall hold such funds 
to be used for economic development purposes as directed by the Mayor of the County.   

9. Contest by the Company.  The Company shall each have the right to 
contest the appraisal or assessment of the Property by the Assessor, the computation by the 
Treasurer and the Trustee of the amount of the In Lieu Payment and the calculation of the 
Economic Development Payments.  If the Company contests any such appraisal or assessment, 
then it shall present evidence to the Assessor in favor of its position.  If the In Lieu Payments, or 
the Economic Development Payments, as applicable, being contested shall be or become due and 
payable, the Company shall make such payments under protest.  The Company and the Assessor, 
the Treasurer or the Trustee, as the case may be, shall negotiate in good faith for a period not to 
exceed sixty (60) days to resolve any disputes as to appraisal, assessment or computation of the 
In Lieu Payment or the Economic Development Payments, as applicable.  If the Company and 
the Assessor, the Treasurer or the Trustee, as the case may be, are unable to resolve a dispute, 
then the Company may file suit in the Chancery Court of Hamilton County to ask that the 
provisions of this Agreement, including those covering appraisal, assessment and computation, 
be construed or applied to the relevant facts by the Chancery Court in order to resolve such 
dispute. 

10. Lien on the Property.  Any amounts which remain payable under this 
Agreement shall become a lien on the Property, and such lien shall be enforceable against the 
Property in the event that any payment owing hereunder is not timely made in accordance with 
this Agreement. 

11. Term.  This Agreement shall become effective on the date that the Board 
leases the Property to the Company and shall continue for so long as the Board holds title to any 
of the Property and leases such property to the Company or the Company has made all payments 
required hereunder, whichever shall later occur. 

12. Leasehold Taxation.  The Board, the City, the County, the Treasurer, the 
Trustee and the Assessor acknowledge and agree that the Company’s personal property leasehold 
interest in the Personal Property under the Leases shall not be subject to assessment for ad 
valorem tax purposes.  The Board, the City, the County, the Treasurer, the Trustee and the 
Assessor further acknowledge and agree that the Company’s real property leasehold interests in 
the Real Property Improvements under the Leases is not expected to be subject to assessment for 
ad valorem tax purposes, as all amounts paid by the Company, including without limitation, rent 
under the Leases, costs for maintenance, insurance, utilities, infrastructure, site preparation, 
acquisition, construction, and other costs for or in connection with the Project, cost of capital for 
or in connection with the Project, and obligations of the Company under the Leases would, at the 
present time, be considered as rent payable under the Leases for purposes of determining the 
Company’s leasehold interests.  As a result, the actual or imputed rent for the real property 
portion of the Property is expected to equal or exceed the fair market rent for purposes of Tenn. 

 9 

     

     



Code Ann. § 67-5-605.  If the leasehold interest of the Company in the Property should be 
subject to ad valorem taxation for any year hereunder, then any amounts assessed as taxes 
thereon shall be credited against any In Lieu of Tax Payments and Economic Development 
Payments paid under this Agreement and carried forward from year to year until fully utilized. 
Additionally, in the event the Company determines, in the exercise of reasonable discretion, that 
there is a possibility, notwithstanding the foregoing agreement, of a positive taxable leasehold 
interest in the Property, the Company shall have the continuing option to require the Board take 
all reasonable steps, at no additional cost to the Board, to restructure this Agreement and the 
related Lease to eliminate the positive leasehold value and to deliver the same economic benefit 
to the Company as is contemplated under this Agreement without the imposition of any 
ad valorem taxes on such leasehold value.  Such options may include, but are not limited to, an 
arrangement by which the Board issues and the Company purchases industrial revenue bonds to 
finance all or a portion of the Property, provided that such bonds shall be limited obligations of 
the Board and non-recourse to the City and the County. 

13. Notices, etc.  All notices and other communications provided for 
hereunder shall be written (including facsimile transmission and telex), and mailed or sent via 
facsimile transmission or delivered addressed as follows: 

Board Wade A. Hinton 
City Attorney 
City of Chattanooga 
Suite 200, 100 E. 11th Street 
Chattanooga, Tennessee 37402 

The City: 
 
 
 
 
 

Wade A. Hinton 
City Attorney 
City of Chattanooga 
Suite 200, 100 E. 11th Street 
Chattanooga, Tennessee 37402 

The County: 
 
 
 
 
 

Rheubin M. Taylor  
County Attorney 
Hamilton County Government 
Room 204, County Courthouse 
Chattanooga, Tennessee 37402 

With a Copy to: Miller & Martin PLLC 
832 Georgia Avenue 
Suite 1000, Volunteer Building 
Chattanooga, Tennessee 37402 
Attention:  Evan Allison 
 

 10 

     

     



Company: 
 
 
 
 

Gestamp North America, Inc. 
2701 Troy Center Drive, Suite 150 
Troy, Michigan 48084 
Attn: James Barry 

With a Copy to: Gestamp Chattanooga II, LLC 
3063 Hickory Valley Road 
Chattanooga, Tennessee  37421 
Attn: Corey Jahn 
 

With a Copy to: Baker, Donelson, Bearman, Caldwell & 
Berkowitz 
1800 Republic Centre 
633 Chestnut Street 
Chattanooga, Tennessee 37450 
Attn: Louann Smith 
 

The Assessor 
 
 
 
The Treasurer: 

Hamilton County Assessor of Property 
Hamilton County Courthouse 
Chattanooga, Tennessee 37402 
 
City of Chattanooga Treasurer 
101 East 11th Street 
Chattanooga, TN 37402 
 

The Trustee Hamilton County Trustee 
Hamilton County Courthouse 
Chattanooga, Tennessee 37402 
 

Any such person may, by notice given hereunder, designate any further or different 
addresses to which subsequent notices, certificates or other communication shall be sent.  All 
such notices and communications shall, when mailed by registered and certified mail, return 
receipt requested, Express Mail, or facsimile, be effective when deposited in the mails or if sent 
upon facsimile transmission, confirmed electronically, respectively, addressed as aforesaid. 

14. No Waiver; Remedies.  No failure on the part of any party hereto, and no 
delay in exercising any right under this Agreement shall operate as a waiver thereof; nor shall 
any single or partial exercise of any right under this Agreement preclude any other or further 
exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right.  The remedies provided in this Agreement are 
cumulative and are not exclusive of any remedies provided by law. 

15. Severability.  In the event that any clause or provision of this Agreement 
shall be held to be invalid by any court or jurisdiction, the invalidity of any such clause or 
provision shall not affect any of the remaining provisions of this Agreement. 

16. No Liability of Board’s Officers.  No recourse under or upon any 
obligation, covenant or agreement contained in this Agreement shall be had against any 

 11 

     

     



incorporator, member, director or officer, as such, of the Board, whether past, present or future, 
either directly or through the Board.  Any and all personal liability of every nature, whether at 
common law or in equity, or by statute or by constitution or otherwise, of any such incorporator, 
member, director or officer, as such, is hereby expressly waived and released as a condition of 
and consideration for the execution of this Agreement. 

17. Binding Effect.  This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the 
benefit of each of the parties and signatories hereto and to their respective successors and 
assigns. 

18. Governing Law.  The Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in 
accordance with, the laws of the State of Tennessee. 

19. Amendments.  This Agreement may be amended only in writing, signed 
by each of the parties hereto, except that the Treasurer, the Trustee and the Assessor shall not be 
required to join in amendments unless such amendments affect their respective duties hereunder. 

20. Annual Report. On or before January 31 of each year this Agreement is in 
effect, the Company shall provide a report to the Mayor of the City and the Mayor of the County 
summarizing its investment in the Property and the development and operation of the Project for 
purposes of analyzing the Company’s progress in achieving the Investment, Jobs and Wage 
Projection. 

21. Stormwater Fees.  The Company shall be responsible for all stormwater 
fees assessed by the City against the Property. 

[ Signature Pages Follow] 

 

 12 

     

     



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of 
the day and date first above written. 

ATTEST:     THE INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT BOARD 
OF THE CITY OF CHATTANOOGA 

 
 
By:      By:        

Secretary     Chairman 
 
 


     

     



GESTAMP CHATTANOOGA II, LLC,  
a Delaware limited liability company 
 
 
By:         

Name:        

Title:        
 
 
 


     

     



CITY OF CHATTANOOGA, TENNESSEE 
 
 
By:        
 Mayor 
 
 


     

     



HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE 
 
 
 
By:        
 County Mayor 
 
 

 
 
WILLIAM F. HULLANDER 
 
 
By:        

Hamilton County Trustee 
 
 
 
WILLIAM C. BENNETT 

 
 
 

By:        
Hamilton County Assessor of Property 


     

     



EXHIBIT “A” 
TO PILOT AGREEMENT 

 
LAND 

 
[59.87 acre parcel] 


     

     



 

EXHIBIT “B” 
TO PILOT AGREEMENT 

 
PERSONAL PROPERTY  

During the Tax Abatement Period, the Project shall include all machinery, equipment and other 
tangible personal property that is installed or otherwise located on or about or used in connection 
with the real property described in Exhibit A attached to this Agreement between January 1, 
2017 and January 1, 2026, together with replacements thereof and substitutions therefor, in 
connection with the Company’s operations on such property.   
 
 
 

 

 


     

     



 
 

Comparison Details 
Title pdfDocs compareDocs Comparison Results 
Date & Time 6/25/2015 2:43:47 PM 
Comparison Time 0.26 seconds 
compareDocs version v3.4.12.7 

 
Sources 

Original Document [#737513] [v3] Agreement for Payments in Lieu of Ad Valorem Taxes (Gestamp 
Chattanooga II)DMS Information 

Modified Document [#737513] [v4] Agreement for Payments in Lieu of Ad Valorem Taxes (Gestamp 
Chattanooga II)DMS information 

 
Comparison Statistics 
Insertions 1 
Deletions 3 
Changes 1 
Moves 0 
TOTAL CHANGES 5 
  
  
  
  
  

  
 

compareDocs Settings Used Category Option Selected 
Open Comparison Report after Saving General Always 
Report Type Word Formatting 
Character Level Word False 
Include Headers / Footers Word True 
Include Footnotes / Endnotes Word True 
Include List Numbers Word True 
Include Tables Word True 
Include Field Codes Word True 
Include Moves Word True 
Show Track Changes Toolbar Word True 
Show Reviewing Pane Word True 
Update Automatic Links at Open Word False 
Summary Report Word Separate 
Include Change Detail Report Word Separate 
Document View Word Print 
Remove Personal Information Word False 

 

Word Rendering Set Markup Options 
Name BDBCB Standard 
Insertions  
Deletions  
Moves / Moves  
Inserted cells  
Deleted cells  
Merged cells  

Formatting Color only. 
Changed lines Mark left border. 
Comments color ByAuthorcolor options] 
Balloons True 

 



AGREEMENT FOR PAYMENTS IN LIEU 
OF AD VALOREM TAXES 

THIS AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is made and entered into as of this the ____day of 
________________, 2015, by and among THE INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT BOARD 
OF THE COUNTY OF HAMILTON, TENNESSEE (the “Board”); GESTAMP 
CHATTANOOGA, LLC (, the “Company”); the CITY OF CHATTANOOGA (the “City”); 
and HAMILTON COUNTY (the “County”) and is joined in, for purposes of evidencing their 
acceptance of the agency relationship established herein, by WILLIAM F. HULLANDER and 
his successors, acting in the capacity of HAMILTON COUNTY TRUSTEE (the “Trustee”), 
and by WILLIAM C. BENNETT and his successors, acting in the capacity of HAMILTON 
COUNTY ASSESSOR OF PROPERTY (the “Assessor”). 

W I T N E S S E T H: 

WHEREAS, the Company is contemplating (i) the acquisition of certain real 
property in Chattanooga, Hamilton County, Tennessee, as more particularly described on Exhibit 
A attached hereto and incorporated herein (the “Land”); (ii) the construction upon the Land of an 
expansion (the “Real Property Improvements”) (the Land and the Real Property Improvements 
shall be collectively referred to as the “Real Property”) to an existing manufacturing facility 
leased to and operated by the Company located adjacent to the Real Property on the existing real 
property described in Exhibit A-1 attached hereto and incorporated herein (the “Existing 
Property”); and (iii) the acquisition of machinery, equipment and other personal property, as 
more particularly described on Exhibit B attached hereto and incorporated herein (the “Personal 
Property”) (the Personal Property and the Real Property shall be collectively referred to as the 
“Property,” and the Real Property Improvements and the Personal Property shall be referred to as 
the “Project”), resulting in an investment of at least $140.9 million and the creation of at least 
374 full-time jobs which jobs shall have an average hourly wage (excluding benefits) equal to at 
least $17.00 between January 1, 2017 and January 1, 2020 (collectively the “Investment, Jobs 
and Wage Projection”), and has requested the Board’s assistance with the Project; and 

WHEREAS, Gestamp Chattanooga II, LLC, a Delaware limited liability 
company (“Related Company”), an entity related to the Company is contemplating the 
construction and operation of a complementary facility on a separate site located in the 
Enterprise South Industrial Park (“Related Project”), which will result in an investment of at 
least Thirty-nine Million One Hundred Thousand Dollars ($39,100,000.00) and the creation of at 
least 136 full-time jobs which shall have an average hourly wage (excluding benefits) equal to at 
least $17.00 between January 1, 2017 and January 1, 2020 (collectively, the “Related Project 
Investment, Jobs and Wage Projection”) upon terms and conditions to be set forth in that certain 
Agreement for Payments In Lieu of Ad Valorem Taxes of even date herewith by and among 
Related Company and the other parties to this Agreement, except the Company (the “Related 
PILOT Agreement”); and 

WHEREAS, substantial economic benefits to the City and County economies 
will be derived from the Project and the Related Project; and 

737488 1 
 



WHEREAS, the Board has agreed to hold title to the Property, together with all 
additions thereto, replacements thereof, and substitutions therefor and (i) to lease the Real 
Property to the Company pursuant to a Real Property Lease Agreement (the “Real Property 
Lease:”), to be entered into between the Board and the Company, and (ii) to lease the Property to 
the Company pursuant to a Personal Property Lease Agreement (the “Personal Property Lease”), 
to be entered into between the Board and the Company (the Real Property Lease and the 
Personal Property Lease collectively called the “Leases”); and 

WHEREAS, because the Property is to be owned by the Board, which is a public 
corporation organized under the provisions of Tennessee Code Annotated, § 7-53-101, et seq., 
the Property will be exempt from ad valorem property taxes (“property taxes”) normally paid to 
the City and to the County, so long as the Property is owned by the Board, pursuant to the 
provisions of Tennessee Code Annotated, § 7-53-305; and 

WHEREAS, for the public benefit of the citizens of the City and the County, the 
Board has requested that the Company make certain payments to the Board in lieu of the 
payment of property taxes that would otherwise be payable on the Property; and 

WHEREAS, the Company has agreed to make such payments to the Board in 
lieu of the property taxes otherwise payable on the Property (the “In Lieu Payments”), as more 
particularly set forth hereinafter; and 

WHEREAS, the Board has been authorized to receive the In Lieu Payments in 
lieu of property taxes by resolutions adopted by the City and the County, acting through their 
duly elected Council and Commission, respectively, which resolutions delegate to the Board the 
authority to accept the In Lieu Payments upon compliance with certain terms and conditions, 
including, without limitation, the requirement that the Board collect and expend such payments 
in furtherance of the public purposes for which the Board was created; and 

WHEREAS, the Company and the Board have agreed that all In Lieu Payments 
made to the Board by the Company shall be paid to the City of Chattanooga Treasurer (the 
“Treasurer”) and the Trustee, who shall disburse such amounts to the City and the County in 
accordance with the requirements specified herein; and 

WHEREAS, the Board wishes to designate the Assessor as its agent to appraise 
the Property and assess a percentage of its value in the manner specified herein; and  

WHEREAS, the Board wishes to designate the Treasurer and the Trustee as its 
agents to receive the In Lieu Payments in accordance with the terms of this Agreement; 

NOW, THEREFORE, IN CONSIDERATION OF the mutual covenants and 
agreements set forth herein, the parties hereto agree as follows: 

1. Designation of Assessor; Appraisal and Assessment of Property.  The 
Board hereby designates the Assessor as its agent to appraise and assess the Property.  The 
Assessor shall appraise and assess the Property in accordance with the Constitution and laws of 
the State of Tennessee as though the Property were subject to property taxes.  The Assessor shall 
give the Treasurer, the Trustee, the Board, and the Company written notice of any changes in 

 2 
 



appraisals of the Property in the same manner that notices are given to owners of taxable 
property.  The Assessor shall make available to the Board and the Company all records relating 
to the appraisal and assessment of the Property.  

2. Computation and Billing of Payments In Lieu of Taxes.  The Board 
hereby designates the Treasurer and the Trustee and as its agents to compute the amounts of the 
In Lieu Payments, to receive such payments from the Company and to disburse such payments to 
the City and the County.  On or about October 1 of each year during the term of this Agreement, 
the Treasurer and the Trustee shall compute the taxes which would be payable on the Property if 
it were subject to property taxes, in accordance with the Constitution and laws of the State of 
Tennessee and in accordance with the appraisal and assessment of the Assessor.  Each year 
hereunder, the Treasurer and the Trustee shall send the Board and the Company a bill for 
appropriate amount of In Lieu Payments (the “Tax Bill”). 

3. Payments in Lieu of Taxes.  After receipt of the Tax Bill, the Company 
shall pay to the Treasurer and the Trustee the amount indicated on the Tax Bill which amount 
shall be determined in accordance with the provisions set forth below in Paragraph 4.  The In 
Lieu Payments shall be made by the Company in lieu of the property taxes which would 
otherwise be payable on the Property if it were subject to property taxes.   

4. Amount of Payments by the Company.  For the ten (10) year period 
covering and inclusive of years 2017 through 2026 (the “Tax Abatement Period”), the Company 
shall make In Lieu Payments with respect to the Project in an amount, as determined by the 
Assessor, the Treasurer and the Trustee, equal to the following percentage of the taxes that 
would have been payable on the Project if it were subject to property taxes for the respective 
years shown: 

 
Year 

City General 
Fund 

County General 
Fund 

County School 
Fund 

2017 0% 0% 100% 
2018 25% 25% 100% 
2019 40% 40% 100% 
2020 50% 50% 100% 
2021 50% 50% 100% 
2022 50% 50% 100% 
2023 50% 50% 100% 
2024 50% 50% 100% 
2025 50% 50% 100% 
2026 50% 50% 100% 

 

For the avoidance of doubt, the parties intend that the Company shall make (i) In Lieu Payments 
in an amount equal to one hundred percent (100%) of all ad valorem taxes that would be 
dedicated to the support of the County school system, which the Company and County  
acknowledge and agree currently equates to 49.64% of the amount of the total County taxes that 
would have been payable on the Project if it were subject to property taxes (the “School 
Portion”), and (ii) In Lieu Payments in an amount equal to the above graduated amounts for all 

 3 
 



other ad valorem taxes of the City and the County, excluding the educational portion of the 
County ad valorem taxes.  

For any of its portion of the Property other than the Project, the Company shall 
make In Lieu Payments in an amount, as determined by the Assessor, the Treasurer and the 
Trustee, equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the amount of taxes that would have been 
payable on such portion of the Property if it were subject to property taxes, except to the extent 
that a portion of such Property is subject to another agreement for payments in lieu of taxes with 
the City, the County and the IDB.  For the avoidance of doubt, the parties intend that the reduced 
In Lieu Payments under this Agreement shall only apply to new investment in the Property that 
is undertaken pursuant to this Agreement.   

For any periods before the Tax Abatement Period or after the Tax Abatement 
Period that the Property is owned by the Board and leased to the Company, the Company shall 
make In Lieu Payments in an amount, as determined by the Assessor, the Treasurer and the 
Trustee, equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the amount of taxes that would have been 
payable on the Property if it were subject to property taxes, except to the extent that a portion of 
such Property is subject to another agreement for payments in lieu of taxes with the City, the 
County and the IDB.   

Notwithstanding the above, any amounts assessed as property taxes against the 
Property shall be credited against any In Lieu Payments due under this Agreement. 

5. Penalties and Late Charges.  The Company shall make its In Lieu 
Payments for each year during the term before March 1 of the following year.  All In Lieu 
Payments shall be subject to penalties, late charges, fees and interest charges as follows: 

(a) If the Company fails to make its In Lieu Payment when due, and 
such failure to pay shall continue and not be fully paid within thirty (30) days after written notice 
of such non-payment has been provided to the Company, then a late charge shall be charged and 
shall also be immediately due and payable.  The late charge shall be in the amount of one and 
one-half percent (1-1/2%) of the owed amount.  Additional late charges of one and one-half 
percent (1-1/2%) of the amount shall accumulate and become immediately due and payable upon 
the expiration of each subsequent thirty (30) day period when there remains any outstanding 
unpaid amount. 

(b) If the Company should fail to pay all amounts and late charges due 
as provided hereinabove, then the Board, the City or the County may bring suit against the 
Company in the Chancery Court of Hamilton County to seek to recover the In Lieu Payments 
due, late charges, expenses and costs of collection in addition to reasonable attorneys’ fees.   

6. Minimum Requirements; Annual Review; Increase in Amount of In Lieu 
Payments.   

(a) Minimum Requirements.  The Company must meet one hundred 
percent (100%) of the Minimum Job Requirement and the Minimum Investment Requirement by 
January 1, 2020 (the “Determination Date”) and during each calendar year thereafter during the 
Tax Abatement Period.  For purposes of this Section, the “Minimum Jobs Requirement” equals 

 4 
 



Three Hundred (300) full-time jobs, and the “Minimum Investment” equals $112,720,000 (One 
Hundred Twelve Million Seven Hundred Twenty Thousand Dollars). In addition, the Related 
Company must meet one hundred percent (100%) of the “Related Project Minimum Jobs 
Requirement” equal to 109 full-time jobs, and the “Related Project Minimum Investment 
Requirement” equal to Thirty-one Million Two Hundred Eighty Thousand Dollars 
($31,280,000.00) by the Determination Date as set forth in the Related PILOT Agreement. 

(b) Annual Employment Review.  If (i) the Company fails to achieve 
the Minimum Jobs Requirement or (ii) the Related Company fails to achieve the Related Project 
Minimum Jobs Requirement, during the calendar year in which the Determination Date occurs or 
during in any calendar year thereafter during the Tax Abatement Period, the City and the County 
reserve the right but are not obligated to increase the amount of the general fund In Lieu 
Payments applicable to the Project and to the Related Project for the same calendar year in which 
such failure occurs by a percentage equal to 100% less the “Company’s Job Performance” or the 
“Related Company’s Job Performance,” as applicable, for such calendar year (the “Job In Lieu 
Payment Percentage Increase”).  The “Company’s Job Performance” or the “Related Company’s 
Job Performance,” as applicable, for any calendar year means the proportion, expressed as a 
percentage, that the average number of full-time jobs actually maintained by the Company or the 
Related Company, as applicable, bears to the Minimum Job Requirement. In no event shall the 
Company’s annual General Fund In Lieu Payments exceed one hundred percent (100%) of the 
general fund taxes that would be assessed against the Project if it were subject to general fund 
taxes. 

Example 1: 

Total number of full-time jobs as of January 1, 2020 = 310 

Minimum Job Requirement = 300 

No increase in In Lieu Payments for 2020 

(Minimum Job Requirement has been exceeded) 

Example 2:  

Total number of full-time jobs as of January 1, 2020 = 290 

Minimum Job Requirement = 300 

Company’s Job Performance = 96.67% 

Job In Lieu Payment Percentage Increase for 2020 = 3.33%  

(In Lieu Payment Percentages for 2020 for City General Fund and County 
General Fund may each be increased by 3.33%) 

(c) Annual Investment Review.  If (i) the Company fails to achieve the 
Minimum Investment Requirement or (ii) the Related Company fails to achieve the Related 
Project Minimum Investment Requirement, during the calendar year in which the Determination 
Date occurs or during in any calendar year thereafter during the Tax Abatement Period, the City 
and the County reserve the right but are not obligated to increase the amount of the general fund 
In Lieu Payments applicable to the Project and to the Related Project for the same calendar year 
in which such failure occurs by a percentage equal to 100% less the “Company’s Investment 
Performance” or the “Related Company’s Investment Performance”, as applicable, for such 

 5 
 



calendar year (the “Investment In Lieu Payment Percentage Increase”).  The “Company’s 
Investment Performance” or the “Related Company’s Investment Performance”, as applicable, 
for any calendar year means the proportion, expressed as a percentage, that the actual aggregate 
capital investment made by the Company or the Related Company, as applicable, through the 
end of such calendar year, including all capital investment made in the preceding calendar years 
in connection with the Project or the Related Company, as applicable, bears to the Minimum 
Investment Requirement.  In no event shall the Company’s annual General Fund In Lieu 
Payments exceed one hundred percent (100%) of the general fund taxes that would be assessed 
against the Project if it were subject to general fund taxes. 

Example 3:   

Total amount of capital investment through January 1, 2020 = $120,000,000 

Minimum Investment Requirement = $112,720,000 

No increase in In Lieu Payments for 2020 (Minimum Investment Requirement 
has been exceeded) 

Example 4:  

Total amount of capital investment through January 1, 2020 = $100,000,000 

Minimum Investment Requirement = $112,720,000 

Company’s Investment Performance = 88.7% 

Investment In Lieu Payment Percentage Increase for 2020 = 11.3% 

(In Lieu Payment Percentages for 2020 for City General Fund and County 
General Fund may each be increased by 11.3%) 

Such formula shall be evaluated on an annual basis until the Minimum Investment Requirement 
has been met or exceeded, whereupon no further evaluations or increase in the amount of the In 
Lieu Payments pursuant to this Section 6(c) shall occur.   

(d) Single Adjustment Regarding Tax Abatement; Issuance of 
Supplemental Bill to the Company.  If both the annual employment review under Section 6(b) 
and the investment review under Section 6(c) for any calendar year indicate an increase in the In 
Lieu Payments for the same calendar year in which such failure occurs, and if the City and the 
County elect to increase the In Lieu Payments for such calendar year, then the City and the 
County shall determine whether the increase under Section 6(b) or Section 6(c) shall apply, 
which shall be the sole remedy for a shortfall in the Investment, Jobs and Wage Projection.  The 
increase under Section 6(b) and Section 6(c) shall not be combined.  If the City and the County 
increase the amount of the In Lieu Payments pursuant to the annual employment review under 
Section 6(b) for any calendar year, then they may not, in the same year, also increase the amount 
of the In Lieu Payments pursuant to Section 6(c), and vice versa.  For example, using Examples 
2 and 4 shown above, the City and the County may elect to either (i) increase the amount of the 
In Lieu Payments to the City General Fund and the County General Fund under Section 6(b) by 
3.33% or (ii) increase the amount of the In Lieu Payments to the City General Fund and the 
County General Fund under Section 6(c) by 11.3%.  In accordance with the foregoing and once a 
determination has been made of the Jobs In Lieu Payment Percentage Increase or the Investment 
In Lieu Payment Percentage Increase, whichever is determined to be applicable, the Treasurer 

 6 
 



and the Trustee shall compute the amount of the additional In Lieu Payment resulting therefrom 
and will issue a supplemental bill to the Company for that payment. 

(e) Credit for Related Project “Excess” Minimum Job Requirement 
and/or Minimum Investment Requirement. For each calendar year, prior to increasing the In Lieu 
Payments arising from the Company’s failure to meet the Minimum Job Requirement or the 
Minimum Investment Requirement, there shall be added to the Company’s job or investment 
figures for the same calendar year the amount, if any, by which the Related Company’s “Total 
number of full-time jobs as of January 1” or “Total amount of capital investment through 
January 1” exceed the Related Company’s Minimum Job Requirement or Minimum Investment 
Requirement calculated pursuant to the Related PILOT Agreement. The combined number of the 
Company’s and the Related Company’s “excess” full-time jobs as of January 1 shall be the 
number used for the purpose of determining whether the Company has met the Minimum Job 
Requirement for that calendar year. The same procedure shall be followed with respect to the 
“excess” amount above the Related Company’s Minimum Investment Requirements for the same 
calendar year. The purpose of this Section 6(e) shall be to treat the Project and the Related 
Project as a single facility for the purpose of measuring whether the combined Minimum Job 
Requirement and/or the combined Minimum Investment Requirement has been satisfied for each 
calendar year. 

(f) Project Closure.  In the event the Project or the Related Project 
closes or moves from the County during the Tax Abatement Period, the City and the County 
reserve the right to immediately terminate the tax abatements provided by this Agreement and 
require the partial repayment of amounts that would have been payable on the Property during 
the Tax Abatement Period as if it were subject to property taxes.  The provisions of this 
subsection (e) shall be the sole remedy for a closure or relocation of the Project or the Related 
Project. 

7. Disbursements by the Treasurer and Trustee.  All sums received by the 
Treasurer pursuant to Paragraph 3 for the benefit of the City general fund shall be disbursed to 
the general funds of the City in accordance with this paragraph and in accordance with the 
normal requirements of law governing the settlement and paying over of taxes to counties and 
municipalities.  All sums received by the Trustee pursuant to Paragraph 3 for the benefit of the 
County general fund shall be disbursed to the general fund of the County in accordance with this 
paragraph and in accordance with the normal requirements of law governing the settlement and 
paying over of taxes to counties and municipalities.  All such sums received by the Treasurer 
shall be placed into an account for the use and benefit of the City. All such sums received by the 
Trustee shall be divided into an account for the use and benefit of the County. The account for 
the use and benefit of the City shall be funded with the proportionate amount to which the In 
Lieu Payments are attributable to property taxes which would otherwise be owed to the City, and 
the account for the use and benefit of the County shall be funded with the proportionate amount 
to which the In Lieu Payments are attributable to property taxes which would otherwise be owed 
to the County. All sums received by the Trustee pursuant to Paragraph 3 for the benefit of the 
County school system shall be disbursed to the County and thereafter deposited into an account 
for the educational use and benefit of the County schools.  The parties acknowledge and agree 
that all disbursements to the City and County pursuant to this Agreement are in furtherance of 
the Board’s purposes as set forth in Tennessee Code Annotated § 7-53-305. 

 7 
 



8. Economic Development Lease Payment  

(a) City of Chattanooga. For each calendar year beginning with 2017 
in which the In Lieu Payment Percentage as to the City General Fund (see chart in Section 4) is 
less than 100%, an economic development lease payment (an “Economic Development 
Payment”) equal to 15% of the City property taxes that would otherwise be payable for such year 
on the Project if it were subject to property taxes as calculated by the Treasurer pursuant to 
Section 2 above shall be computed and collected by the Treasurer; provided, however, in no 
event shall the total of the Company’s annual City General Fund In Lieu Payments plus the 
Economic Development Payment to the City exceed one hundred percent (100%) of City general 
fund taxes that would be assessed against the Project if it were subject to general fund taxes.  
Beginning in 2017, this Economic Development Payment will be paid for each year that the 
Property is owned by the Board through and including 2026 if the In Lieu Payment Percentage as 
to the City General Fund (see chart in Section 4) for such calendar year is less than 100%.  If the 
Board’s ownership ceases during any calendar year, then that year’s Economic Development 
Payment will be prorated.  The Treasurer shall add the Economic Development Payment as a 
separate line item on the Tax Bill, and the Company shall pay the Economic Development 
Payment for each such year during the term before March 1 of the following year.  Any failure to 
pay the Economic Development Payment on or before March 1 shall result in penalties and late 
charges calculated in the same manner as penalties and late charges are calculated for In Lieu 
Payments under this Agreement.  

The Treasurer shall disburse the City’s Economic Development Payment 
to the City of Chattanooga’s Industrial Development Board.  The City of Chattanooga’s 
Industrial Development Board shall hold such funds to be used for economic development 
purposes, as directed by the Mayor of the City. 

(b) Hamilton County. For each calendar year beginning with 2017 in 
which the In Lieu Payment Percentage as to the County General Fund (see chart in Section 4) is 
less than 100%, an Economic Development Payment to the County equal to 12.53% of the 
County general fund property taxes (but, for clarity, expressly excluding the School Portion) that 
would otherwise be payable for such year on the Project if it were subject to property taxes as 
calculated by the Trustee pursuant to Section 2 above, shall be computed and collected by the 
Trustee; provided, however, in no event shall the total of the Company’s annual County General 
Fund In Lieu Payments plus the Economic Development Payment to the County exceed one 
hundred percent (100%) of the County general fund taxes that would be assessed against the 
Project if it were subject to general fund taxes.  Beginning in 2017, this Economic Development 
Payment will be paid for each year that the Property is owned by the Board through and 
including 2026 if the In Lieu Payment Percentage as to the County General Fund (see chart in 
Section 4) for such calendar year is less than 100%.  If the Board’s ownership ceases during any 
calendar year, then that year’s Economic Development Payment will be prorated.  The Trustee 
shall add the Economic Development Payment as a separate line item on the Tax Bill, and the 
Company shall pay the Economic Development Payment for each such year during the term 
before March 1 of the following year.  Any failure to pay the Economic Development Payment 
on or before March 1 shall result in penalties and late charges calculated in the same manner as 
penalties and late charges are calculated for In Lieu Payments under this Agreement.  

 8 
 



The Trustee shall not deduct any part of the Economic Development 
Payment from the School Portion of the In Lieu Payments.  The Trustee shall disburse the 
County’s Economic Development Payment to the County, and the County shall hold such funds 
to be used for economic development purposes as directed by the Mayor of the County.   

9. Contest by the Company.  The Company shall each have the right to 
contest the appraisal or assessment of the Property by the Assessor, the computation by the 
Treasurer and the Trustee of the amount of the In Lieu Payment and the calculation of the 
Economic Development Payments.  If the Company contests any such appraisal or assessment, 
then it shall present evidence to the Assessor in favor of its position.  If the In Lieu Payments, or 
the Economic Development Payments, as applicable, being contested shall be or become due and 
payable, the Company shall make such payments under protest.  The Company and the Assessor, 
the Treasurer or the Trustee, as the case may be, shall negotiate in good faith for a period not to 
exceed sixty (60) days to resolve any disputes as to appraisal, assessment or computation of the 
In Lieu Payment or the Economic Development Payments, as applicable.  If the Company and 
the Assessor, the Treasurer or the Trustee, as the case may be, are unable to resolve a dispute, 
then the Company may file suit in the Chancery Court of Hamilton County to ask that the 
provisions of this Agreement, including those covering appraisal, assessment and computation, 
be construed or applied to the relevant facts by the Chancery Court in order to resolve such 
dispute. 

10. Lien on the Property.  Any amounts which remain payable under this 
Agreement shall become a lien on the Property, and such lien shall be enforceable against the 
Property in the event that any payment owing hereunder is not timely made in accordance with 
this Agreement. 

11. Term.  This Agreement shall become effective on the date that the Board 
leases the Property to the Company and shall continue for so long as the Board holds title to any 
of the Property and leases such property to the Company or the Company has made all payments 
required hereunder, whichever shall later occur. 

12. Leasehold Taxation.  The Board, the City, the County, the Treasurer, the 
Trustee and the Assessor acknowledge and agree that the Company’s personal property leasehold 
interest in the Personal Property under the Leases shall not be subject to assessment for ad 
valorem tax purposes.  The Board, the City, the County, the Treasurer, the Trustee and the 
Assessor further acknowledge and agree that the Company’s real property leasehold interests in 
the Real Property Improvements under the Leases is not expected to be subject to assessment for 
ad valorem tax purposes, as all amounts paid by the Company, including without limitation, rent 
under the Leases, costs for maintenance, insurance, utilities, infrastructure, site preparation, 
acquisition, construction, and other costs for or in connection with the Project, cost of capital for 
or in connection with the Project, and obligations of the Company under the Leases would, at the 
present time, be considered as rent payable under the Leases for purposes of determining the 
Company’s leasehold interests.  As a result, the actual or imputed rent for the real property 
portion of the Property is expected to equal or exceed the fair market rent for purposes of Tenn. 
Code Ann. § 67-5-605.  If the leasehold interest of the Company in the Property should be 
subject to ad valorem taxation for any year hereunder, then any amounts assessed as taxes 
thereon shall be credited against any In Lieu of Tax Payments and Economic Development 

 9 
 



Payments paid under this Agreement and carried forward from year to year until fully utilized. 
Additionally, in the event the Company determines, in the exercise of reasonable discretion, that 
there is a possibility, notwithstanding the foregoing agreement, of a positive taxable leasehold 
interest in the Property, the Company shall have the continuing option to require the Board take 
all reasonable steps, at no additional cost to the Board, to restructure this Agreement and the 
related Lease to eliminate the positive leasehold value and to deliver the same economic benefit 
to the Company as is contemplated under this Agreement without the imposition of any 
ad valorem taxes on such leasehold value.  Such options may include, but are not limited to, an 
arrangement by which the Board issues and the Company purchases industrial revenue bonds to 
finance all or a portion of the Property, provided that such bonds shall be limited obligations of 
the Board and non-recourse to the City and the County. 

13. Notices, etc.  All notices and other communications provided for 
hereunder shall be written (including facsimile transmission and telex), and mailed or sent via 
facsimile transmission or delivered addressed as follows: 

Board Ross I. Schram III 
Baker, Donelson, Bearman, Caldwell & 
Berkowitz 
1800 Republic Centre 
633 Chestnut Street 
Chattanooga, Tennessee 37450 

The City: 
 
 
 
 
 

Wade A. Hinton 
City Attorney 
City of Chattanooga 
Suite 200, 100 E. 11th Street 
Chattanooga, Tennessee 37402 

The County: 
 
 
 
 
 

Rheubin M. Taylor  
County Attorney 
Hamilton County Government 
Room 204, County Courthouse 
Chattanooga, Tennessee 37402 

With a Copy to: Miller & Martin PLLC 
832 Georgia Avenue 
Suite 1000, Volunteer Building 
Chattanooga, Tennessee 37402 
Attention:  Evan Allison 
 

Company: 
 
 
 
 

Gestamp North America, Inc. 
2701 Troy Center Drive, Suite 150 
Troy, Michigan 48084 
Attn: James Barry 

 10 
 



With a Copy to: Gestamp Chattanooga, LLC 
3063 Hickory Valley Road 
Chattanooga, Tennessee  37421 
Attn: Corey Jahn 
 

With a Copy to: Baker, Donelson, Bearman, Caldwell & 
Berkowitz 
1800 Republic Centre 
633 Chestnut Street 
Chattanooga, Tennessee 37450 
Attn: Louann Smith 
 

The Assessor 
 
 
 
The Treasurer: 

Hamilton County Assessor of Property 
Hamilton County Courthouse 
Chattanooga, Tennessee 37402 
 
City of Chattanooga Treasurer 
101 East 11th Street 
Chattanooga, TN 37402 
 

The Trustee Hamilton County Trustee 
Hamilton County Courthouse 
Chattanooga, Tennessee 37402 
 

Any such person may, by notice given hereunder, designate any further or different 
addresses to which subsequent notices, certificates or other communication shall be sent.  All 
such notices and communications shall, when mailed by registered and certified mail, return 
receipt requested, Express Mail, or facsimile, be effective when deposited in the mails or if sent 
upon facsimile transmission, confirmed electronically, respectively, addressed as aforesaid. 

14. No Waiver; Remedies.  No failure on the part of any party hereto, and no 
delay in exercising any right under this Agreement shall operate as a waiver thereof; nor shall 
any single or partial exercise of any right under this Agreement preclude any other or further 
exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right.  The remedies provided in this Agreement are 
cumulative and are not exclusive of any remedies provided by law. 

15. Severability.  In the event that any clause or provision of this Agreement 
shall be held to be invalid by any court or jurisdiction, the invalidity of any such clause or 
provision shall not affect any of the remaining provisions of this Agreement. 

16. No Liability of Board’s Officers.  No recourse under or upon any 
obligation, covenant or agreement contained in this Agreement shall be had against any 
incorporator, member, director or officer, as such, of the Board, whether past, present or future, 
either directly or through the Board.  Any and all personal liability of every nature, whether at 
common law or in equity, or by statute or by constitution or otherwise, of any such incorporator, 
member, director or officer, as such, is hereby expressly waived and released as a condition of 
and consideration for the execution of this Agreement. 

 11 
 



17. Binding Effect.  This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the 
benefit of each of the parties and signatories hereto and to their respective successors and 
assigns. 

18. Governing Law.  The Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in 
accordance with, the laws of the State of Tennessee. 

19. Amendments.  This Agreement may be amended only in writing, signed 
by each of the parties hereto, except that the Treasurer, the Trustee and the Assessor shall not be 
required to join in amendments unless such amendments affect their respective duties hereunder. 

20. Annual Report. On or before January 31 of each year this Agreement is in 
effect, the Company shall provide a report to the Mayor of the City and the Mayor of the County 
summarizing its investment in the Property and the development and operation of the Project for 
purposes of analyzing the Company’s progress in achieving the Investment, Jobs and Wage 
Projection. 

21. Stormwater Fees.  The Company shall be responsible for all stormwater 
fees assessed by the City against the Property. 

[ Signature Pages Follow] 

 

 12 
 



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of 
the day and date first above written. 

ATTEST:     THE INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT BOARD 
OF THE COUNTY OF HAMILTON, 
TENNESSEE 

 
 
By:      By:        

Secretary     Chairman 
 
 

 



GESTAMP CHATTANOOGA, LLC,  
a Delaware limited liability company 
 
 
By:         

Name:        

Title:        
 
 
 

 



CITY OF CHATTANOOGA, TENNESSEE 
 
 
By:        
 Mayor 
 
 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE 
 
 
 
By:        
 County Mayor 
 
 

 
 
WILLIAM F. HULLANDER 
 
 
By:        

Hamilton County Trustee 
 
 
 
WILLIAM C. BENNETT 

 
 
 

By:        
Hamilton County Assessor of Property 

 



EXHIBIT “A” 
TO PILOT AGREEMENT 

 
LAND 

 
[All of Tracts 19-B, as amended, 19-C, as amended, and 19-D] 

  

 



EXHIBIT “A-1” 
TO PILOT AGREEMENT 

 
EXISTING PROPERTY 

 
[Tract 19-A, as amended] 

 

  

 



EXHIBIT “B” 
TO PILOT AGREEMENT 

 
PERSONAL PROPERTY  

During the Tax Abatement Period, the Project shall include all machinery, equipment and other 
tangible personal property that is installed or otherwise located on or about or used in connection 
with the real property described in Exhibit A attached to this Agreement between January 1, 
2017 and January 1, 2026, together with replacements thereof and substitutions therefor, in 
connection with the Company’s operations on such property.   
 
 
 

 

 

 



AGREEMENT FOR PAYMENTS IN LIEU 
OF AD VALOREM TAXES 

THIS AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is made and entered into as of this the ____day of 
________________, 2015, by and among THE INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT BOARD 
OF THE COUNTY OF HAMILTON, TENNESSEE (the “Board”); GESTAMP 
CHATTANOOGA, LLC (, the “Company”); the CITY OF CHATTANOOGA (the “City”); 
and HAMILTON COUNTY (the “County”) and is joined in, for purposes of evidencing their 
acceptance of the agency relationship established herein, by WILLIAM F. HULLANDER and 
his successors, acting in the capacity of HAMILTON COUNTY TRUSTEE (the “Trustee”), 
and by WILLIAM C. BENNETT and his successors, acting in the capacity of HAMILTON 
COUNTY ASSESSOR OF PROPERTY (the “Assessor”). 

W I T N E S S E T H: 

WHEREAS, the Company is contemplating (i) the acquisition of certain real 
property in Chattanooga, Hamilton County, Tennessee, as more particularly described on Exhibit 
A attached hereto and incorporated herein (the “Land”); (ii) the construction upon the Land of an 
expansion (the “Real Property Improvements”) (the Land and the Real Property Improvements 
shall be collectively referred to as the “Real Property”) to an existing manufacturing facility 
leased to and operated by the Company located adjacent to the Real Property on the existing real 
property described in Exhibit A-1 attached hereto and incorporated herein (the “Existing 
Property”); and (iii) the acquisition of machinery, equipment and other personal property, as 
more particularly described on Exhibit B attached hereto and incorporated herein (the “Personal 
Property”) (the Personal Property and the Real Property shall be collectively referred to as the 
“Property,” and the Real Property Improvements and the Personal Property shall be referred to as 
the “Project”), resulting in an investment of at least $140.9 million and the creation of at least 
374 full-time jobs which jobs shall have an average hourly wage (excluding benefits) equal to at 
least $17.00 between January 1, 2017 and January 1, 2020 (collectively the “Investment, Jobs 
and Wage Projection”), and has requested the Board’s assistance with the Project; and 

WHEREAS, Gestamp Chattanooga II, LLC, a Delaware limited liability 
company (“Related Company”), an entity related to the Company is contemplating the 
construction and operation of a complementary facility on a separate site located in the 
Enterprise South Industrial Park (“Related Project”), which will result in an investment of at 
least Thirty-nine Million One Hundred Thousand Dollars ($39,100,000.00) and the creation of at 
least 136 full-time jobs which shall have an average hourly wage (excluding benefits) equal to at 
least $17.00 between January 1, 2017 and January 1, 2020 (collectively, the “Related Project 
Investment, Jobs and Wage Projection”) upon terms and conditions to be set forth in that certain 
Agreement for Payments In Lieu of Ad Valorem Taxes of even date herewith by and among 
Related Company and the other parties to this Agreement, except the Company (the “Related 
PILOT Agreement”); and 

WHEREAS, substantial economic benefits to the City and County economies 
will be derived from the Project and the Related Project; and 

737488 1 

     

     



WHEREAS, the Board has agreed to hold title to the Property, together with all 
additions thereto, replacements thereof, and substitutions therefor and (i) to lease the Real 
Property to the Company pursuant to a Real Property Lease Agreement (the “Real Property 
Lease:”), to be entered into between the Board and the Company, and (ii) to lease the Property to 
the Company pursuant to a Personal Property Lease Agreement (the “Personal Property Lease”), 
to be entered into between the Board and the Company (the Real Property Lease and the 
Personal Property Lease collectively called the “Leases”); and 

WHEREAS, because the Property is to be owned by the Board, which is a public 
corporation organized under the provisions of Tennessee Code Annotated, § 7-53-101, et seq., 
the Property will be exempt from ad valorem property taxes (“property taxes”) normally paid to 
the City and to the County, so long as the Property is owned by the Board, pursuant to the 
provisions of Tennessee Code Annotated, § 7-53-305; and 

WHEREAS, for the public benefit of the citizens of the City and the County, the 
Board has requested that the Company make certain payments to the Board in lieu of the 
payment of property taxes that would otherwise be payable on the Property; and 

WHEREAS, the Company has agreed to make such payments to the Board in 
lieu of the property taxes otherwise payable on the Property (the “In Lieu Payments”), as more 
particularly set forth hereinafter; and 

WHEREAS, the Board has been authorized to receive the In Lieu Payments in 
lieu of property taxes by resolutions adopted by the City and the County, acting through their 
duly elected Council and Commission, respectively, which resolutions delegate to the Board the 
authority to accept the In Lieu Payments upon compliance with certain terms and conditions, 
including, without limitation, the requirement that the Board collect and expend such payments 
in furtherance of the public purposes for which the Board was created; and 

WHEREAS, the Company and the Board have agreed that all In Lieu Payments 
made to the Board by the Company shall be paid to the City of Chattanooga Treasurer (the 
“Treasurer”) and the Trustee, who shall disburse such amounts to the City and the County in 
accordance with the requirements specified herein; and 

WHEREAS, the Board wishes to designate the Assessor as its agent to appraise 
the Property and assess a percentage of its value in the manner specified herein; and  

WHEREAS, the Board wishes to designate the Treasurer and the Trustee as its 
agents to receive the In Lieu Payments in accordance with the terms of this Agreement; 

NOW, THEREFORE, IN CONSIDERATION OF the mutual covenants and 
agreements set forth herein, the parties hereto agree as follows: 

1. Designation of Assessor; Appraisal and Assessment of Property.  The 
Board hereby designates the Assessor as its agent to appraise and assess the Property.  The 
Assessor shall appraise and assess the Property in accordance with the Constitution and laws of 
the State of Tennessee as though the Property were subject to property taxes.  The Assessor shall 
give the Treasurer, the Trustee, the Board, and the Company written notice of any changes in 
 2 

     

     



appraisals of the Property in the same manner that notices are given to owners of taxable 
property.  The Assessor shall make available to the Board and the Company all records relating 
to the appraisal and assessment of the Property.  

2. Computation and Billing of Payments In Lieu of Taxes.  The Board 
hereby designates the Treasurer and the Trustee and as its agents to compute the amounts of the 
In Lieu Payments, to receive such payments from the Company and to disburse such payments to 
the City and the County.  On or about October 1 of each year during the term of this Agreement, 
the Treasurer and the Trustee shall compute the taxes which would be payable on the Property if 
it were subject to property taxes, in accordance with the Constitution and laws of the State of 
Tennessee and in accordance with the appraisal and assessment of the Assessor.  Each year 
hereunder, the Treasurer and the Trustee shall send the Board and the Company a bill for 
appropriate amount of In Lieu Payments (the “Tax Bill”). 

3. Payments in Lieu of Taxes.  After receipt of the Tax Bill, the Company 
shall pay to the Treasurer and the Trustee the amount indicated on the Tax Bill which amount 
shall be determined in accordance with the provisions set forth below in Paragraph 4.  The In 
Lieu Payments shall be made by the Company in lieu of the property taxes which would 
otherwise be payable on the Property if it were subject to property taxes.   

4. Amount of Payments by the Company.  For the ten (10) year period 
covering and inclusive of years 2017 through 2026 (the “Tax Abatement Period”), the Company 
shall make In Lieu Payments with respect to the Project in an amount, as determined by the 
Assessor, the Treasurer and the Trustee, equal to the following percentage of the taxes that 
would have been payable on the Project if it were subject to property taxes for the respective 
years shown: 

 
Year 

City General 
Fund 

County General 
Fund 

County School 
Fund 

2017 0% 0% 100% 
2018 25% 25% 100% 
2019 40% 40% 100% 
2020 50% 50% 100% 
2021 50% 50% 100% 
2022 50% 50% 100% 
2023 50% 50% 100% 
2024 50% 50% 100% 
2025 50% 50% 100% 
2026 50% 50% 100% 

 

For the avoidance of doubt, the parties intend that the Company shall make (i) In Lieu Payments 
in an amount equal to one hundred percent (100%) of all ad valorem taxes that would be 
dedicated to the support of the County school system, which the Company and County  
acknowledge and agree currently equates to 49.64% of the amount of the total County taxes that 
would have been payable on the Project if it were subject to property taxes (the “School 
Portion”), and (ii) In Lieu Payments in an amount equal to the above graduated amounts for all 
 3 

     

     



other ad valorem taxes of the City and the County, excluding the educational portion of the 
County ad valorem taxes.  

For any of its portion of the Property other than the Project, the Company shall 
make In Lieu Payments in an amount, as determined by the Assessor, the Treasurer and the 
Trustee, equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the amount of taxes that would have been 
payable on such portion of the Property if it were subject to property taxes, except to the extent 
that a portion of such Property is subject to another agreement for payments in lieu of taxes with 
the City, the County and the IDB.  For the avoidance of doubt, the parties intend that the reduced 
In Lieu Payments under this Agreement shall only apply to new investment in the Property that 
is undertaken pursuant to this Agreement.   

For any periods before the Tax Abatement Period or after the Tax Abatement 
Period that the Property is owned by the Board and leased to the Company, the Company shall 
make In Lieu Payments in an amount, as determined by the Assessor, the Treasurer and the 
Trustee, equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the amount of taxes that would have been 
payable on the Property if it were subject to property taxes, except to the extent that a portion of 
such Property is subject to another agreement for payments in lieu of taxes with the City, the 
County and the IDB.   

Notwithstanding the above, any amounts assessed as property taxes against the 
Property shall be credited against any In Lieu Payments due under this Agreement. 

5. Penalties and Late Charges.  The Company shall make its In Lieu 
Payments for each year during the term before March 1 of the following year.  All In Lieu 
Payments shall be subject to penalties, late charges, fees and interest charges as follows: 

(a) If the Company fails to make its In Lieu Payment when due, and 
such failure to pay shall continue and not be fully paid within thirty (30) days after written notice 
of such non-payment has been provided to the Company, then a late charge shall be charged and 
shall also be immediately due and payable.  The late charge shall be in the amount of one and 
one-half percent (1-1/2%) of the owed amount.  Additional late charges of one and one-half 
percent (1-1/2%) of the amount shall accumulate and become immediately due and payable upon 
the expiration of each subsequent thirty (30) day period when there remains any outstanding 
unpaid amount. 

(b) If the Company should fail to pay all amounts and late charges due 
as provided hereinabove, then the Board, the City or the County may bring suit against the 
Company in the Chancery Court of Hamilton County to seek to recover the In Lieu Payments 
due, late charges, expenses and costs of collection in addition to reasonable attorneys’ fees.   

6. Minimum Requirements; Annual Review; Increase in Amount of In Lieu 
Payments.   

(a) Minimum Requirements.  The Company must meet one hundred 
percent (100%) of the Minimum Job Requirement and the Minimum Investment Requirement by 
January 1, 2020 (the “Determination Date”) and during each calendar year thereafter during the 

 4 

     

     



Tax Abatement Period.  For purposes of this Section, the “Minimum Jobs Requirement” equals 
Three Hundred (300) full-time jobs, and the “Minimum Investment” equals $112,720,000 (One 
Hundred Twelve Million Seven Hundred Twenty Thousand Dollars). In addition, the Related 
Company must meet one hundred percent (100%) of the “Related Project Minimum Jobs 
Requirement” equal to 109 full-time jobs, and the “Related Project Minimum Investment 
Requirement” equal to Thirty-one Million Two Hundred Eighty Thousand Dollars 
($31,280,000.00) by the Determination Date as set forth in the Related PILOT Agreement. 

(b) Annual Employment Review.  If (i) the Company fails to achieve 
the Minimum Jobs Requirement or (ii) the Related Company fails to achieve the Related Project 
Minimum Jobs Requirement, during the calendar year in which the Determination Date occurs or 
during in any calendar year thereafter during the Tax Abatement Period, the City and the County 
reserve the right but are not obligated to increase the amount of the general fund In Lieu 
Payments applicable to the Project and to the Related Project for the same calendar year in which 
such failure occurs by a percentage equal to 100% less the “Company’s Job Performance” or the 
“Related Company’s Job Performance,” as applicable, for such calendar year (the “Job In Lieu 
Payment Percentage Increase”).  The “Company’s Job Performance” or the “Related Company’s 
Job Performance,” as applicable, for any calendar year means the proportion, expressed as a 
percentage, that the average number of full-time jobs actually maintained by the Company or the 
Related Company, as applicable, bears to the Minimum Job Requirement. In no event shall the 
Company’s annual General Fund In Lieu Payments exceed one hundred percent (100%) of the 
general fund taxes that would be assessed against the Project if it were subject to general fund 
taxes. 

Example 1: 

Total number of full-time jobs as of January 1, 2020 = 310 

Minimum Job Requirement = 300 

No increase in In Lieu Payments for 2020 

(Minimum Job Requirement has been exceeded) 

Example 2:  

Total number of full-time jobs as of January 1, 2020 = 290 

Minimum Job Requirement = 300 

Company’s Job Performance = 96.67% 

Job In Lieu Payment Percentage Increase for 2020 = 3.33%  

(In Lieu Payment Percentages for 2020 for City General Fund and County 
General Fund may each be increased by 3.33%) 

(c) Annual Investment Review.  If (i) the Company fails to achieve the 
Minimum Investment Requirement or (ii) the Related Company fails to achieve the Related 
Project Minimum Investment Requirement, during the calendar year in which the Determination 
Date occurs or during in any calendar year thereafter during the Tax Abatement Period, the City 
and the County reserve the right but are not obligated to increase the amount of the general fund 
In Lieu Payments applicable to the Project and to the Related Project for the same calendar year 
in which such failure occurs by a percentage equal to 100% less the “Company’s Investment 
 5 

     

     



Performance” or the “Related Company’s Investment Performance”, as applicable, for such 
calendar year (the “Investment In Lieu Payment Percentage Increase”).  The “Company’s 
Investment Performance” or the “Related Company’s Investment Performance”, as applicable, 
for any calendar year means the proportion, expressed as a percentage, that the actual aggregate 
capital investment made by the Company or the Related Company, as applicable, through the 
end of such calendar year, including all capital investment made in the preceding calendar years 
in connection with the Project or the Related Company, as applicable, bears to the Minimum 
Investment Requirement.  In no event shall the Company’s annual General Fund In Lieu 
Payments exceed one hundred percent (100%) of the general fund taxes that would be assessed 
against the Project if it were subject to general fund taxes. 

Example 3:   

Total amount of capital investment through January 1, 2020 = $120,000,000 

Minimum Investment Requirement = $112,720,000 

No increase in In Lieu Payments for 2020 (Minimum Investment Requirement 
has been exceeded) 

Example 4:  

Total amount of capital investment through January 1, 2020 = $100,000,000 

Minimum Investment Requirement = $112,720,000 

Company’s Investment Performance = 88.7% 

Investment In Lieu Payment Percentage Increase for 2020 = 11.3% 

(In Lieu Payment Percentages for 2020 for City General Fund and County 
General Fund may each be increased by 11.3%) 

Such formula shall be evaluated on an annual basis until the Minimum Investment Requirement 
has been met or exceeded, whereupon no further evaluations or increase in the amount of the In 
Lieu Payments pursuant to this Section 6(c) shall occur.   

(d) Single Adjustment Regarding Tax Abatement; Issuance of 
Supplemental Bill to the Company.  If both the annual employment review under Section 6(b) 
and the investment review under Section 6(c) for any calendar year indicate an increase in the In 
Lieu Payments for the same calendar year in which such failure occurs, and if the City and the 
County elect to increase the In Lieu Payments for such calendar year, then the City and the 
County shall determine whether the increase under Section 6(b) or Section 6(c) shall apply, 
which shall be the sole remedy for a shortfall in the Investment, Jobs and Wage Projection.  The 
increase under Section 6(b) and Section 6(c) shall not be combined.  If the City and the County 
increase the amount of the In Lieu Payments pursuant to the annual employment review under 
Section 6(b) for any calendar year, then they may not, in the same year, also increase the amount 
of the In Lieu Payments pursuant to Section 6(c), and vice versa.  For example, using Examples 
2 and 4 shown above, the City and the County may elect to either (i) increase the amount of the 
In Lieu Payments to the City General Fund and the County General Fund under Section 6(b) by 
3.33% or (ii) increase the amount of the In Lieu Payments to the City General Fund and the 
County General Fund under Section 6(c) by 11.3%.  In accordance with the foregoing and once a 
determination has been made of the Jobs In Lieu Payment Percentage Increase or the Investment 

 6 

     

     



In Lieu Payment Percentage Increase, whichever is determined to be applicable, the Treasurer 
and the Trustee shall compute the amount of the additional In Lieu Payment resulting therefrom 
and will issue a supplemental bill to the Company for that payment. 

(e) Credit for Related Project “Excess” Minimum Job Requirement 
and/or Minimum Investment Requirement. For each calendar year, prior to increasing the In Lieu 
Payments arising from the Company’s failure to meet the Minimum Job Requirement or the 
Minimum Investment Requirement, there shall be added to the Company’s job or investment 
figures for the same calendar year the amount, if any, by which the Related Company’s “Total 
number of full-time jobs as of January 1” or “Total amount of capital investment through 
January 1” exceed the Related Company’s Minimum Job Requirement or Minimum Investment 
Requirement calculated pursuant to the Related PILOT Agreement. The combined number of the 
Company’s and the Related Company’s “excess” full-time jobs as of January 1 shall be the 
number used for the purpose of determining whether the Company has met the Minimum Job 
Requirement for that calendar year. The same procedure shall be followed with respect to the 
“excess” amount above the Related Company’s Minimum Investment Requirements for the same 
calendar year. The purpose of this Section 6(e) shall be to treat the Project and the Related 
Project as a single facility for the purpose of measuring whether the combined Minimum Job 
Requirement and/or the combined Minimum Investment Requirement has been satisfied for each 
calendar year. 

(f) Project Closure.  In the event the Project or the Related Project 
closes or moves from the County during the Tax Abatement Period, the City and the County 
reserve the right to immediately terminate the tax abatements provided by this Agreement and 
require the partial repayment of amounts that would have been payable on the Property during 
the Tax Abatement Period as if it were subject to property taxes.  The provisions of this 
subsection (e) shall be the sole remedy for a closure or relocation of the Project or the Related 
Project. 

7. Disbursements by the Treasurer and Trustee.  All sums received by the 
Treasurer pursuant to Paragraph 3 for the benefit of the City general fund shall be disbursed to 
the general funds of the City in accordance with this paragraph and in accordance with the 
normal requirements of law governing the settlement and paying over of taxes to counties and 
municipalities.  All sums received by the Trustee pursuant to Paragraph 3 for the benefit of the 
County general fund shall be disbursed to the general fund of the County in accordance with this 
paragraph and in accordance with the normal requirements of law governing the settlement and 
paying over of taxes to counties and municipalities.  All such sums received by the Treasurer 
shall be placed into an account for the use and benefit of the City. All such sums received by the 
Trustee shall be divided into an account for the use and benefit of the County. The account for 
the use and benefit of the City shall be funded with the proportionate amount to which the In 
Lieu Payments are attributable to property taxes which would otherwise be owed to the City, and 
the account for the use and benefit of the County shall be funded with the proportionate amount 
to which the In Lieu Payments are attributable to property taxes which would otherwise be owed 
to the County. All sums received by the Trustee pursuant to Paragraph 3 for the benefit of the 
County school system shall be disbursed to the County and thereafter deposited into an account 
for the educational use and benefit of the County schools.  The parties acknowledge and agree 

 7 

     

     



that all disbursements to the City and County pursuant to this Agreement are in furtherance of 
the Board’s purposes as set forth in Tennessee Code Annotated § 7-53-305. 

8. Economic Development Lease Payment  

(a) City of Chattanooga. For each calendar year beginning with 2017 
in which the In Lieu Payment Percentage as to the City General Fund (see chart in Section 4) is 
less than 100%, an economic development lease payment (an “Economic Development 
Payment”) equal to 15% of the City property taxes that would otherwise be payable for such year 
on the Project if it were subject to property taxes as calculated by the Treasurer pursuant to 
Section 2 above shall be computed and collected by the Treasurer; provided, however, in no 
event shall the total of the Company’s annual City General Fund In Lieu Payments plus the 
Economic Development Payment to the City exceed one hundred percent (100%) of City general 
fund taxes that would be assessed against the Project if it were subject to general fund taxes.  
Beginning in 20152017, this Economic Development Payment will be paid for each year that the 
Property is owned by the Board through and including 2026 if the In Lieu Payment Percentage as 
to the City General Fund (see chart in Section 4) for such calendar year is less than 100%.  If the 
Board’s ownership ceases during any calendar year, then that year’s Economic Development 
Payment will be prorated.  The Treasurer shall add the Economic Development Payment as a 
separate line item on the Tax Bill, and the Company shall pay the Economic Development 
Payment for each such year during the term before March 1 of the following year.  Any failure to 
pay the Economic Development Payment on or before March 1 shall result in penalties and late 
charges calculated in the same manner as penalties and late charges are calculated for In Lieu 
Payments under this Agreement.  

The Treasurer shall disburse the City’s Economic Development Payment 
to the City of Chattanooga’s Industrial Development Board.  The City of Chattanooga’s 
Industrial Development Board shall hold such funds to be used for economic development 
purposes, as directed by the Mayor of the City. 

(b) Hamilton County. For each calendar year beginning with 2017 in 
which the In Lieu Payment Percentage as to the County General Fund (see chart in Section 4) is 
less than 100%, an Economic Development Payment to the County equal to 12.53% of the 
County general fund property taxes (but, for clarity, expressly excluding the School Portion) that 
would otherwise be payable for such year on the Project if it were subject to property taxes as 
calculated by the Trustee pursuant to Section 2 above, shall be computed and collected by the 
Trustee; provided, however, in no event shall the total of the Company’s annual County General 
Fund In Lieu Payments plus the Economic Development Payment to the County exceed one 
hundred percent (100%) of the County general fund taxes that would be assessed against the 
Project if it were subject to general fund taxes.  Beginning in 2017, this Economic Development 
Payment will be paid for each year that the Property is owned by the Board through and 
including 2026 if the In Lieu Payment Percentage as to the County General Fund (see chart in 
Section 4) for such calendar year is less than 100%.  If the Board’s ownership ceases during any 
calendar year, then that year’s Economic Development Payment will be prorated.  The Trustee 
shall add the Economic Development Payment as a separate line item on the Tax Bill, and the 
Company shall pay the Economic Development Payment for each such year during the term 
before March 1 of the following year.  Any failure to pay the Economic Development Payment 

 8 

     

     



on or before March 1 shall result in penalties and late charges calculated in the same manner as 
penalties and late charges are calculated for In Lieu Payments under this Agreement.  

The Trustee shall not deduct any part of the Economic Development 
Payment from the School Portion of the In Lieu Payments.  The Trustee shall disburse the 
County’s Economic Development Payment to the County, and the County shall hold such funds 
to be used for economic development purposes as directed by the Mayor of the County.   

9. Contest by the Company.  The Company shall each have the right to 
contest the appraisal or assessment of the Property by the Assessor, the computation by the 
Treasurer and the Trustee of the amount of the In Lieu Payment and the calculation of the 
Economic Development Payments.  If the Company contests any such appraisal or assessment, 
then it shall present evidence to the Assessor in favor of its position.  If the In Lieu Payments, or 
the Economic Development Payments, as applicable, being contested shall be or become due and 
payable, the Company shall make such payments under protest.  The Company and the Assessor, 
the Treasurer or the Trustee, as the case may be, shall negotiate in good faith for a period not to 
exceed sixty (60) days to resolve any disputes as to appraisal, assessment or computation of the 
In Lieu Payment or the Economic Development Payments, as applicable.  If the Company and 
the Assessor, the Treasurer or the Trustee, as the case may be, are unable to resolve a dispute, 
then the Company may file suit in the Chancery Court of Hamilton County to ask that the 
provisions of this Agreement, including those covering appraisal, assessment and computation, 
be construed or applied to the relevant facts by the Chancery Court in order to resolve such 
dispute. 

10. Lien on the Property.  Any amounts which remain payable under this 
Agreement shall become a lien on the Property, and such lien shall be enforceable against the 
Property in the event that any payment owing hereunder is not timely made in accordance with 
this Agreement. 

11. Term.  This Agreement shall become effective on the date that the Board 
leases the Property to the Company and shall continue for so long as the Board holds title to any 
of the Property and leases such property to the Company or the Company has made all payments 
required hereunder, whichever shall later occur. 

12. Leasehold Taxation.  The Board, the City, the County, the Treasurer, the 
Trustee and the Assessor acknowledge and agree that the Company’s personal property leasehold 
interest in the Personal Property under the Leases shall not be subject to assessment for ad 
valorem tax purposes.  The Board, the City, the County, the Treasurer, the Trustee and the 
Assessor further acknowledge and agree that the Company’s real property leasehold interests in 
the Real Property Improvements under the Leases is not expected to be subject to assessment for 
ad valorem tax purposes, as all amounts paid by the Company, including without limitation, rent 
under the Leases, costs for maintenance, insurance, utilities, infrastructure, site preparation, 
acquisition, construction, and other costs for or in connection with the Project, cost of capital for 
or in connection with the Project, and obligations of the Company under the Leases would, at the 
present time, be considered as rent payable under the Leases for purposes of determining the 
Company’s leasehold interests.  As a result, the actual or imputed rent for the real property 
portion of the Property is expected to equal or exceed the fair market rent for purposes of Tenn. 

 9 

     

     



Code Ann. § 67-5-605.  If the leasehold interest of the Company in the Property should be 
subject to ad valorem taxation for any year hereunder, then any amounts assessed as taxes 
thereon shall be credited against any In Lieu of Tax Payments and Economic Development 
Payments paid under this Agreement and carried forward from year to year until fully utilized. 
Additionally, in the event the Company determines, in the exercise of reasonable discretion, that 
there is a possibility, notwithstanding the foregoing agreement, of a positive taxable leasehold 
interest in the Property, the Company shall have the continuing option to require the Board take 
all reasonable steps, at no additional cost to the Board, to restructure this Agreement and the 
related Lease to eliminate the positive leasehold value and to deliver the same economic benefit 
to the Company as is contemplated under this Agreement without the imposition of any 
ad valorem taxes on such leasehold value.  Such options may include, but are not limited to, an 
arrangement by which the Board issues and the Company purchases industrial revenue bonds to 
finance all or a portion of the Property, provided that such bonds shall be limited obligations of 
the Board and non-recourse to the City and the County. 

13. Notices, etc.  All notices and other communications provided for 
hereunder shall be written (including facsimile transmission and telex), and mailed or sent via 
facsimile transmission or delivered addressed as follows: 

Board Ross I. Schram III 
Baker, Donelson, Bearman, Caldwell & 
Berkowitz 
1800 Republic Centre 
633 Chestnut Street 
Chattanooga, Tennessee 37450 

The City: 
 
 
 
 
 

Wade A. Hinton 
City Attorney 
City of Chattanooga 
Suite 200, 100 E. 11th Street 
Chattanooga, Tennessee 37402 

The County: 
 
 
 
 
 

Rheubin M. Taylor  
County Attorney 
Hamilton County Government 
Room 204, County Courthouse 
Chattanooga, Tennessee 37402 

With a Copy to: Miller & Martin PLLC 
832 Georgia Avenue 
Suite 1000, Volunteer Building 
Chattanooga, Tennessee 37402 
Attention:  Evan Allison 
 

 10 

     

     



Company: 
 
 
 
 

Gestamp North America, Inc. 
2701 Troy Center Drive, Suite 150 
Troy, Michigan 48084 
Attn: James Barry 

With a Copy to: Gestamp Chattanooga, LLC 
3063 Hickory Valley Road 
Chattanooga, Tennessee  37421 
Attn: Corey Jahn 
 

With a Copy to: Baker, Donelson, Bearman, Caldwell & 
Berkowitz 
1800 Republic Centre 
633 Chestnut Street 
Chattanooga, Tennessee 37450 
Attn: Louann Smith 
 

The Assessor 
 
 
 
The Treasurer: 

Hamilton County Assessor of Property 
Hamilton County Courthouse 
Chattanooga, Tennessee 37402 
 
City of Chattanooga Treasurer 
101 East 11th Street 
Chattanooga, TN 37402 
 

The Trustee Hamilton County Trustee 
Hamilton County Courthouse 
Chattanooga, Tennessee 37402 
 

Any such person may, by notice given hereunder, designate any further or different 
addresses to which subsequent notices, certificates or other communication shall be sent.  All 
such notices and communications shall, when mailed by registered and certified mail, return 
receipt requested, Express Mail, or facsimile, be effective when deposited in the mails or if sent 
upon facsimile transmission, confirmed electronically, respectively, addressed as aforesaid. 

14. No Waiver; Remedies.  No failure on the part of any party hereto, and no 
delay in exercising any right under this Agreement shall operate as a waiver thereof; nor shall 
any single or partial exercise of any right under this Agreement preclude any other or further 
exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right.  The remedies provided in this Agreement are 
cumulative and are not exclusive of any remedies provided by law. 

15. Severability.  In the event that any clause or provision of this Agreement 
shall be held to be invalid by any court or jurisdiction, the invalidity of any such clause or 
provision shall not affect any of the remaining provisions of this Agreement. 

16. No Liability of Board’s Officers.  No recourse under or upon any 
obligation, covenant or agreement contained in this Agreement shall be had against any 

 11 

     

     



incorporator, member, director or officer, as such, of the Board, whether past, present or future, 
either directly or through the Board.  Any and all personal liability of every nature, whether at 
common law or in equity, or by statute or by constitution or otherwise, of any such incorporator, 
member, director or officer, as such, is hereby expressly waived and released as a condition of 
and consideration for the execution of this Agreement. 

17. Binding Effect.  This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the 
benefit of each of the parties and signatories hereto and to their respective successors and 
assigns. 

18. Governing Law.  The Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in 
accordance with, the laws of the State of Tennessee. 

19. Amendments.  This Agreement may be amended only in writing, signed 
by each of the parties hereto, except that the Treasurer, the Trustee and the Assessor shall not be 
required to join in amendments unless such amendments affect their respective duties hereunder. 

20. Annual Report. On or before January 31 of each year this Agreement is in 
effect, the Company shall provide a report to the Mayor of the City and the Mayor of the County 
summarizing its investment in the Property and the development and operation of the Project for 
purposes of analyzing the Company’s progress in achieving the Investment, Jobs and Wage 
Projection. 

21. Stormwater Fees.  The Company shall be responsible for all stormwater 
fees assessed by the City against the Property. 

[ Signature Pages Follow] 

 

 12 

     

     



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of 
the day and date first above written. 

ATTEST:     THE INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT BOARD 
OF THE COUNTY OF HAMILTON, 
TENNESSEE 

 
 
By:      By:        

Secretary     Chairman 
 
 


     

     



GESTAMP CHATTANOOGA, LLC,  
a Delaware limited liability company 
 
 
By:         

Name:        

Title:        
 
 
 


     

     



CITY OF CHATTANOOGA, TENNESSEE 
 
 
By:        
 Mayor 
 
 


     

     



HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE 
 
 
 
By:        
 County Mayor 
 
 

 
 
WILLIAM F. HULLANDER 
 
 
By:        

Hamilton County Trustee 
 
 
 
WILLIAM C. BENNETT 

 
 
 

By:        
Hamilton County Assessor of Property 


     

     



EXHIBIT “A” 
TO PILOT AGREEMENT 

 
LAND 

 
[All of Tracts 19-B, as amended, 19-C, as amended, and 19-D] 


     

     



 

EXHIBIT “A-1” 
TO PILOT AGREEMENT 

 
EXISTING PROPERTY 

 
[Tract 19-A, as amended] 

 


     

     



 
EXHIBIT “B” 

TO PILOT AGREEMENT 
 

PERSONAL PROPERTY  

During the Tax Abatement Period, the Project shall include all machinery, equipment and other 
tangible personal property that is installed or otherwise located on or about or used in connection 
with the real property described in Exhibit A attached to this Agreement between January 1, 
2017 and January 1, 2026, together with replacements thereof and substitutions therefor, in 
connection with the Company’s operations on such property.   
 
 
 

 

 


     

     



 
 

Comparison Details 
Title pdfDocs compareDocs Comparison Results 
Date & Time 6/25/2015 2:42:27 PM 
Comparison Time 1.19 seconds 
compareDocs version v3.4.12.7 

 
Sources 

Original Document [#737488] [v3] Agreement for Payments in Lieu of Ad Valorem Taxes (Gestamp 
Chattanooga)DMS Information 

Modified Document [#737488] [v4] Agreement for Payments in Lieu of Ad Valorem Taxes (Gestamp 
Chattanooga)DMS information 

 
Comparison Statistics 
Insertions 1 
Deletions 3 
Changes 1 
Moves 0 
TOTAL CHANGES 5 
  
  
  
  
  

  
 

compareDocs Settings Used Category Option Selected 
Open Comparison Report after Saving General Always 
Report Type Word Formatting 
Character Level Word False 
Include Headers / Footers Word True 
Include Footnotes / Endnotes Word True 
Include List Numbers Word True 
Include Tables Word True 
Include Field Codes Word True 
Include Moves Word True 
Show Track Changes Toolbar Word True 
Show Reviewing Pane Word True 
Update Automatic Links at Open Word False 
Summary Report Word Separate 
Include Change Detail Report Word Separate 
Document View Word Print 
Remove Personal Information Word False 

 

Word Rendering Set Markup Options 
Name BDBCB Standard 
Insertions  
Deletions  
Moves / Moves  
Inserted cells  
Deleted cells  
Merged cells  

Formatting Color only. 
Changed lines Mark left border. 
Comments color ByAuthorcolor options] 
Balloons True 

 


	7-1-15 Public Agenda Revised Final
	715-_S_Minutes_Recessed Meeting - June 10, 2015 _1661_06-10-15 Recessed
	715-_S_Minutes_Agenda Session - June 10, 2015 _1662_06-10-15 Agenda
	715-_S_Minutes_Regular Meeting - June 17, 2015 _1663_06-17-15 Regular
	715-_S_Report_Juvenile Court Clerk's Report - March and April 2015_1671_Juvenile Court Clerk's Report - March and April 2015
	715-_S_Report_Trustee Excess Fee Report May 2015_1647_May 2015 Excess Fee Report
	715-_S_Report_Trustee Monthly Report May 2015_1648_May 2015 Monthly Report
	715-1_R_Bill Knowles_Notary_1659_07-01-15
	715-1_S_Bill Knowles_Notary_1659_07-01-15A
	715-2_R_Appointment(s)_Appointment of Peter Avisto to the Hamilton County Water & Wastewater Treatment Authority Board_1652_Appt Peter Avisto Haml Co Water and WWTA Brd Comm
	715-2_S_Appointment(s)_Appointment of Peter Avisto to the Hamilton County Water & Wastewater Treatment Authority Board_1652_Peter Avisto Bio
	715-3_R_Rheubin Taylor_Hamilton County Health & Safety Board appointments_1670_Health and Safety Board Appointments
	715-3_S_Appointment(s)_Hamilton County Health & Safety Board appointments_1670_Andrew Mullins - Bio-Revised
	715-3_S_Rheubin Taylor_Hamilton County Health & Safety Board appointments_1670_George Maffett - bio
	715-3_S_Rheubin Taylor_Hamilton County Health & Safety Board appointments_1670_Gordon Anderson biography
	715-3_S_Rheubin Taylor_Hamilton County Health & Safety Board appointments_1670_Ken Foster - bio
	715-4_R_Rheubin Taylor_Hamilton County Board of Zoning Appeals Re Appointments_1672_Re-Appointment of Zoning Board Members
	715-5_R_Gary Waters_Small Kitchen Items and Equipment for East Brainerd Elementary School_1649_RES. SMALL KITCHEN EQUIP.
	715-5_S_Gary Waters_Small Kitchen Items and Equipment for East Brainerd Elementary School_1649_Small Kitchen Tools and Equipment for East Brainerd Elementary School
	715-7_R_Bill McGriff_Primex Wireless Clocks Contract_1657_RES. PRIMEX WIRELESS CLOCKS CONTRACT
	715-7_S_Bill McGriff_Primex Wireless Clocks Contract_1657_Primex Wireless Clocks Contract
	715-8_R_Becky Barnes_Homeless Lease agreement with the Community Kitchen_1660_Homeless Lease Agreement 2015 Resolution
	715-8_S_Becky Barnes_Homeless Lease agreement with the Community Kitchen_1660_HOMELESS LEASE AGREEMENT 2015.doc
	715-9_R_Becky Barnes_Adult Day Care and Homemaker Services_1665_Adult Day Care Homemaker Services 15-16 Resolution
	715-9_S_Becky Barnes_Adult Day Care and Homemaker Services_1665_Adult Day Care Contract 2016
	715-9_S_Becky Barnes_Adult Day Care and Homemaker Services_1665_Homemaker Services Contract 2016
	715-9_S_Becky Barnes_Adult Day Care and Homemaker Services_1665_Memo of Understanding-Partnership 2015-16
	715-9_S_Becky Barnes_Adult Day Care and Homemaker Services_1665_Memo of Understanding-Signal Centers 2015-16
	715-10_R_Becky Barnes_Emergency Assistance contract to provide financial assistance to citizens of Hamilton County_1666_Emergency Assistance Resolution 2015
	715-10_S_Becky Barnes_Emergency Assistance contract to provide financial assistance to citizens of Hamilton County_1666_Emergency Assistance Contract 2016
	715-11_R_Todd Leamon_Geoenvironmental services for Inspection and Testing for Dallas Bay Fire Hall_1654_officialresolution_sme
	715-11_S_Todd Leamon_Geoenvironmental services for Inspection and Testing for Dallas Bay Fire Hall_1654_Dallas Bay Firestation CMT Proposal
	715-12_R_Todd Leamon_Geoenvironmental services for inspection and testing for Tri Community Fire Hall_1655_officialresolution_sme
	715-12_S_Todd Leamon_Geoenvironmental services for inspection and testing for Tri Community Fire Hall_1655_Tri-Communities CMT Proposal
	715-13_R_Todd Leamon_Construction Engineering Inspection for Hixson Pike and Thrasher Pike Improvements_1656_officialresolution_Moreland
	715-14_R_Todd Leamon_Offer to purchase property at Enterprise South Industrial Park_1664_Res. Gestamp One 6.17.15
	715-14_S_Todd Leamon_Offer to purchase property at Enterprise South Industrial Park_1664_Gestamp Attachments 7.1.2015
	715-15_R_Rheubin Taylor_1400 Chestnut LLC Project PILOT Agreement_1651_1400 Chestnut Street
	715-15_S_Rheubin Taylor_1400 Chestnut LLC Project PILOT Agreement_1651_Chestunut Street PILOT Agreement
	715-16_R_Rheubin Taylor_Gestamp Pilot Agreement_1676_Gestamp Resolution July 1
	715-16_S_Rheubin Taylor_Gestamp Pilot Agreement_1676_Gestamp 1
	By: ________________________________
	GESTAMP CHATTANOOGA, LLC
	By: ________________________________
	Title:_______________________________
	CITY OF CHATTANOOGA, TENNESSEE
	BY: ________________________________
	Mayor
	HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE
	BY: _________________________________
	County Mayor

	715-16_S_Rheubin Taylor_Gestamp Pilot Agreement_1676_Gestamp 2
	1. UDesignation of Assessor; Appraisal and Assessment of PropertyU.  The Board hereby designates the Assessor as its agent to appraise and assess the Property.  The Assessor shall appraise and assess the Property in accordance with the Constitution an...
	2. UComputation and Billing of Payments In Lieu of TaxesU.  The Board hereby designates the Treasurer and the Trustee and as its agents to compute the amounts of the In Lieu Payments, to receive such payments from the Company and to disburse such paym...
	3. UPayments in Lieu of TaxesU.  After receipt of the Tax Bill, the Company shall pay to the Treasurer and the Trustee the amount indicated on the Tax Bill which amount shall be determined in accordance with the provisions set forth below in Paragraph...
	4. UAmount of Payments by the CompanUy.  For the ten (10) year period covering and inclusive of years 2017 through 2026 (the “Tax Abatement Period”), the Company shall make In Lieu Payments with respect to the Project in an amount, as determined by th...
	For the avoidance of doubt, the parties intend that the Company shall make (i) In Lieu Payments in an amount equal to one hundred percent (100%) of all ad valorem taxes that would be dedicated to the support of the County school system, which the Comp...
	For any of its portion of the Property other than the Project, the Company shall make In Lieu Payments in an amount, as determined by the Assessor, the Treasurer and the Trustee, equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the amount of taxes that would ha...
	For any periods before the Tax Abatement Period or after the Tax Abatement Period that the Property is owned by the Board and leased to the Company, the Company shall make In Lieu Payments in an amount, as determined by the Assessor, the Treasurer and...
	Notwithstanding the above, any amounts assessed as property taxes against the Property shall be credited against any In Lieu Payments due under this Agreement.

	5. UPenalties and Late ChargesU.  The Company shall make its In Lieu Payments for each year during the term before March 1 of the following year.  All In Lieu Payments shall be subject to penalties, late charges, fees and interest charges as follows:
	(a) If the Company fails to make its In Lieu Payment when due, and such failure to pay shall continue and not be fully paid within thirty (30) days after written notice of such non-payment has been provided to the Company, then a late charge shall be ...
	(b) If the Company should fail to pay all amounts and late charges due as provided hereinabove, then the Board, the City or the County may bring suit against the Company in the Chancery Court of Hamilton County to seek to recover the In Lieu Payments ...
	6. UMinimum Requirements; Annual Review; Increase in Amount of In Lieu PaymentsU.
	(a) UMinimum RequirementsU.  The Company must meet one hundred percent (100%) of the Minimum Job Requirement and the Minimum Investment Requirement by January 1, 2020 (the “Determination Date”) and during each calendar year thereafter during the Tax A...
	(b) UAnnual Employment Review.U  If (i) the Company fails to achieve the Minimum Jobs Requirement or (ii) the Related Company fails to achieve the Related Project Minimum Jobs Requirement, during the calendar year in which the Determination Date occur...
	UExample 1U:
	Total number of full-time jobs as of January 1, 2020 = 310
	Minimum Job Requirement = 300
	No increase in In Lieu Payments for 2020
	(Minimum Job Requirement has been exceeded)
	UExample 2U:
	Total number of full-time jobs as of January 1, 2020 = 290
	Minimum Job Requirement = 300
	Company’s Job Performance = 96.67%
	Job In Lieu Payment Percentage Increase for 2020 = 3.33%
	(In Lieu Payment Percentages for 2020 for City General Fund and County General Fund may each be increased by 3.33%)
	(c) UAnnual Investment ReviewU.  If (i) the Company fails to achieve the Minimum Investment Requirement or (ii) the Related Company fails to achieve the Related Project Minimum Investment Requirement, during the calendar year in which the Determinatio...
	UExample 3U:
	Total amount of capital investment through January 1, 2020 = $120,000,000
	Minimum Investment Requirement = $112,720,000
	No increase in In Lieu Payments for 2020 (Minimum Investment Requirement has been exceeded)
	UExample 4U:
	Total amount of capital investment through January 1, 2020 = $100,000,000
	Minimum Investment Requirement = $112,720,000
	Company’s Investment Performance = 88.7%
	Investment In Lieu Payment Percentage Increase for 2020 = 11.3%
	(In Lieu Payment Percentages for 2020 for City General Fund and County General Fund may each be increased by 11.3%)
	Such formula shall be evaluated on an annual basis until the Minimum Investment Requirement has been met or exceeded, whereupon no further evaluations or increase in the amount of the In Lieu Payments pursuant to this Section 6(c) shall occur.
	(d) USingle Adjustment Regarding Tax Abatement; Issuance of Supplemental Bill to the CompanyU.  If both the annual employment review under Section 6(b) and the investment review under Section 6(c) for any calendar year indicate an increase in the In L...
	(e) UCredit for Related Project “Excess” Minimum Job Requirement and/or Minimum Investment RequirementU. For each calendar year, prior to increasing the In Lieu Payments arising from the Company’s failure to meet the Minimum Job Requirement or the Min...
	(f) UProject ClosureU.  In the event the Project or the Related Project closes or moves from the County during the Tax Abatement Period, the City and the County reserve the right to immediately terminate the tax abatements provided by this Agreement a...

	7. UDisbursements by the Treasurer and TrusteeU.  All sums received by the Treasurer pursuant to Paragraph 3 for the benefit of the City general fund shall be disbursed to the general funds of the City in accordance with this paragraph and in accordan...
	8. UEconomic Development Lease Payment
	(a) UCity of ChattanoogaU. For each calendar year beginning with 2017 in which the In Lieu Payment Percentage as to the City General Fund (see chart in Section 4) is less than 100%, an economic development lease payment (an “Economic Development Payme...
	The Treasurer shall disburse the City’s Economic Development Payment to the City of Chattanooga’s Industrial Development Board.  The City of Chattanooga’s Industrial Development Board shall hold such funds to be used for economic development purposes,...
	(b) UHamilton CountyU. For each calendar year beginning with 2017 in which the In Lieu Payment Percentage as to the County General Fund (see chart in Section 4) is less than 100%, an Economic Development Payment to the County equal to 12.53% of the Co...
	The Trustee shall not deduct any part of the Economic Development Payment from the School Portion of the In Lieu Payments.  The Trustee shall disburse the County’s Economic Development Payment to the County, and the County shall hold such funds to be ...
	9. UContest by the CompanyU.  The Company shall each have the right to contest the appraisal or assessment of the Property by the Assessor, the computation by the Treasurer and the Trustee of the amount of the In Lieu Payment and the calculation of th...
	10. ULien on the PropertyU.  Any amounts which remain payable under this Agreement shall become a lien on the Property, and such lien shall be enforceable against the Property in the event that any payment owing hereunder is not timely made in accorda...
	11. UTermU.  This Agreement shall become effective on the date that the Board leases the Property to the Company and shall continue for so long as the Board holds title to any of the Property and leases such property to the Company or the Company has ...
	12. ULeasehold TaxationU.  The Board, the City, the County, the Treasurer, the Trustee and the Assessor acknowledge and agree that the Company’s personal property leasehold interest in the Personal Property under the Leases shall not be subject to ass...
	13. UNotices, etcU.  All notices and other communications provided for hereunder shall be written (including facsimile transmission and telex), and mailed or sent via facsimile transmission or delivered addressed as follows:
	Any such person may, by notice given hereunder, designate any further or different addresses to which subsequent notices, certificates or other communication shall be sent.  All such notices and communications shall, when mailed by registered and cert...
	14. UNo Waiver; RemediesU.  No failure on the part of any party hereto, and no delay in exercising any right under this Agreement shall operate as a waiver thereof; nor shall any single or partial exercise of any right under this Agreement preclude an...
	15. USeverabilityU.  In the event that any clause or provision of this Agreement shall be held to be invalid by any court or jurisdiction, the invalidity of any such clause or provision shall not affect any of the remaining provisions of this Agreement.
	16. UNo Liability of Board’s OfficersU.  No recourse under or upon any obligation, covenant or agreement contained in this Agreement shall be had against any incorporator, member, director or officer, as such, of the Board, whether past, present or fu...
	17. UBinding EffectU.  This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of each of the parties and signatories hereto and to their respective successors and assigns.
	18. UGoverning LawU.  The Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of Tennessee.
	19. UAmendmentsU.  This Agreement may be amended only in writing, signed by each of the parties hereto, except that the Treasurer, the Trustee and the Assessor shall not be required to join in amendments unless such amendments affect their respective ...
	20. UAnnual ReportU. On or before January 31 of each year this Agreement is in effect, the Company shall provide a report to the Mayor of the City and the Mayor of the County summarizing its investment in the Property and the development and operation...
	21. UStormwater FeesU.  The Company shall be responsible for all stormwater fees assessed by the City against the Property.

	715-16_S_Rheubin Taylor_Gestamp Pilot Agreement_1676_Gestamp 3
	715-16_S_Rheubin Taylor_Gestamp Pilot Agreement_1676_Gestamp 4
	715-17_R_Rheubin Taylor_Gestamp building Pilot Agreement_1677_Gestamp II
	715-17_S_Rheubin Taylor_Gestamp building Pilot Agreement_1677_Attachement I
	1. UDesignation of Assessor; Appraisal and Assessment of PropertyU.  The Board hereby designates the Assessor as its agent to appraise and assess the Property.  The Assessor shall appraise and assess the Property in accordance with the Constitution an...
	2. UComputation and Billing of Payments In Lieu of TaxesU.  The Board hereby designates the Treasurer and the Trustee and as its agents to compute the amounts of the In Lieu Payments, to receive such payments from the Company and to disburse such paym...
	3. UPayments in Lieu of TaxesU.  After receipt of the Tax Bill, the Company shall pay to the Treasurer and the Trustee the amount indicated on the Tax Bill which amount shall be determined in accordance with the provisions set forth below in Paragraph...
	4. UAmount of Payments by the CompanUy.  For the ten (10) year period covering and inclusive of years 2017 through 2026 (the “Tax Abatement Period”), the Company shall make In Lieu Payments with respect to the Project in an amount, as determined by th...
	For the avoidance of doubt, the parties intend that the Company shall make (i) In Lieu Payments in an amount equal to one hundred percent (100%) of all ad valorem taxes that would be dedicated to the support of the County school system, which the Comp...
	For any of its portion of the Property other than the Project, the Company shall make In Lieu Payments in an amount, as determined by the Assessor, the Treasurer and the Trustee, equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the amount of taxes that would ha...
	For any periods before the Tax Abatement Period or after the Tax Abatement Period that the Property is owned by the Board and leased to the Company, the Company shall make In Lieu Payments in an amount, as determined by the Assessor, the Treasurer and...
	Notwithstanding the above, any amounts assessed as property taxes against the Property shall be credited against any In Lieu Payments due under this Agreement.

	5. UPenalties and Late ChargesU.  The Company shall make its In Lieu Payments for each year during the term before March 1 of the following year.  All In Lieu Payments shall be subject to penalties, late charges, fees and interest charges as follows:
	(a) If the Company fails to make its In Lieu Payment when due, and such failure to pay shall continue and not be fully paid within thirty (30) days after written notice of such non-payment has been provided to the Company, then a late charge shall be ...
	(b) If the Company should fail to pay all amounts and late charges due as provided hereinabove, then the Board, the City or the County may bring suit against the Company in the Chancery Court of Hamilton County to seek to recover the In Lieu Payments ...
	6. UMinimum Requirements; Annual Review; Increase in Amount of In Lieu PaymentsU.
	(a) UMinimum RequirementsU.  The Company must meet one hundred percent (100%) of the Minimum Job Requirement and the Minimum Investment Requirement by January 1, 2020 (the “Determination Date”) and during each calendar year thereafter during the Tax A...
	(b) UAnnual Employment Review.U  If (i) the Company fails to achieve the Minimum Jobs Requirement or (ii) the Related Company fails to achieve the Related Project Minimum Jobs Requirement during the calendar year in which the Determination Date occurs...
	UExample 1U:
	Total number of full-time jobs as of January 1, 2020 = 120
	Minimum Job Requirement = 109
	No increase in In Lieu Payments for 2020
	(Minimum Job Requirement has been exceeded)
	UExample 2U:
	Total number of full-time jobs as of January 1, 2020 = 100
	Minimum Job Requirement = 109
	Company’s Job Performance = 91.7%
	Job In Lieu Payment Percentage Increase for 2020 = 8.3%
	(In Lieu Payment Percentages for 2020 for City General Fund and County General Fund may each be increased by 8.3%)
	(c) UAnnual Investment ReviewU.  If (i) the Company fails to achieve the Minimum Investment Requirement or (ii) the Related Company fails to achieve the Related Project Minimum Investment Requirement, during the calendar year in which the Determinatio...
	UExample 3U:
	Total amount of capital investment through January 1, 2020 = $35,000,000
	Minimum Investment Requirement = $31,280,000
	No increase in In Lieu Payments for 2020 (Minimum Investment Requirement has been exceeded)
	UExample 4U:
	Total amount of capital investment through January 1, 2020 = $30,000,000
	Minimum Investment Requirement = $31,280,000
	Company’s Investment Performance = 95.9%
	Investment In Lieu Payment Percentage Increase for 2020 = 4.1%
	(In Lieu Payment Percentages for 2020 for City General Fund and County General Fund may each be increased by 4.1%)
	Such formula shall be evaluated on an annual basis until the Minimum Investment Requirement has been met or exceeded, whereupon no further evaluations or increase in the amount of the In Lieu Payments pursuant to this Section 6(c) shall occur.
	(d) USingle Adjustment Regarding Tax Abatement; Issuance of Supplemental Bill to the CompanyU.  If both the annual employment review under Section 6(b) and the investment review under Section 6(c) for any calendar year indicate an increase in the In L...
	(e) UCredit for Related Project “Excess” Minimum Job Requirement and/or Minimum Investment RequirementU. For each calendar year, prior to increasing the In Lieu Payments arising from the Company’s failure to meet the Minimum Job Requirement or the Min...
	(f) UProject ClosureU.  In the event the Project or the Related Project closes or moves from the County during the Tax Abatement Period, the City and the County reserve the right to immediately terminate the tax abatements provided by this Agreement a...

	7. UDisbursements by the Treasurer and TrusteeU.  All sums received by the Treasurer pursuant to Paragraph 3 for the benefit of the City general fund shall be disbursed to the general funds of the City in accordance with this paragraph and in accordan...
	8. UEconomic Development Lease Payment
	(a) UCity of ChattanoogaU. For each calendar year beginning with 2017 in which the In Lieu Payment Percentage as to the City General Fund (see chart in Section 4) is less than 100%, an economic development lease payment (an “Economic Development Payme...
	The Treasurer shall disburse the City’s Economic Development Payment to the City of Chattanooga’s Industrial Development Board.  The City of Chattanooga’s Industrial Development Board shall hold such funds to be used for economic development purposes,...
	(b) UHamilton CountyU. For each calendar year beginning with 2017 in which the In Lieu Payment Percentage as to the County General Fund (see chart in Section 4) is less than 100%, an Economic Development Payment to the County equal to 12.53% of the Co...
	The Trustee shall not deduct any part of the Economic Development Payment from the School Portion of the In Lieu Payments.  The Trustee shall disburse the County’s Economic Development Payment to the County, and the County shall hold such funds to be ...
	9. UContest by the CompanyU.  The Company shall each have the right to contest the appraisal or assessment of the Property by the Assessor, the computation by the Treasurer and the Trustee of the amount of the In Lieu Payment and the calculation of th...
	10. ULien on the PropertyU.  Any amounts which remain payable under this Agreement shall become a lien on the Property, and such lien shall be enforceable against the Property in the event that any payment owing hereunder is not timely made in accorda...
	11. UTermU.  This Agreement shall become effective on the date that the Board leases the Property to the Company and shall continue for so long as the Board holds title to any of the Property and leases such property to the Company or the Company has ...
	12. ULeasehold TaxationU.  The Board, the City, the County, the Treasurer, the Trustee and the Assessor acknowledge and agree that the Company’s personal property leasehold interest in the Personal Property under the Leases shall not be subject to ass...
	13. UNotices, etcU.  All notices and other communications provided for hereunder shall be written (including facsimile transmission and telex), and mailed or sent via facsimile transmission or delivered addressed as follows:
	Any such person may, by notice given hereunder, designate any further or different addresses to which subsequent notices, certificates or other communication shall be sent.  All such notices and communications shall, when mailed by registered and cert...
	14. UNo Waiver; RemediesU.  No failure on the part of any party hereto, and no delay in exercising any right under this Agreement shall operate as a waiver thereof; nor shall any single or partial exercise of any right under this Agreement preclude an...
	15. USeverabilityU.  In the event that any clause or provision of this Agreement shall be held to be invalid by any court or jurisdiction, the invalidity of any such clause or provision shall not affect any of the remaining provisions of this Agreement.
	16. UNo Liability of Board’s OfficersU.  No recourse under or upon any obligation, covenant or agreement contained in this Agreement shall be had against any incorporator, member, director or officer, as such, of the Board, whether past, present or fu...
	17. UBinding EffectU.  This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of each of the parties and signatories hereto and to their respective successors and assigns.
	18. UGoverning LawU.  The Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of Tennessee.
	19. UAmendmentsU.  This Agreement may be amended only in writing, signed by each of the parties hereto, except that the Treasurer, the Trustee and the Assessor shall not be required to join in amendments unless such amendments affect their respective ...
	20. UAnnual ReportU. On or before January 31 of each year this Agreement is in effect, the Company shall provide a report to the Mayor of the City and the Mayor of the County summarizing its investment in the Property and the development and operation...
	21. UStormwater FeesU.  The Company shall be responsible for all stormwater fees assessed by the City against the Property.

	715-17_S_Rheubin Taylor_Gestamp building Pilot Agreement_1677_Attachment II
	1. UDesignation of Assessor; Appraisal and Assessment of PropertyU.  The Board hereby designates the Assessor as its agent to appraise and assess the Property.  The Assessor shall appraise and assess the Property in accordance with the Constitution an...
	2. UComputation and Billing of Payments In Lieu of TaxesU.  The Board hereby designates the Treasurer and the Trustee and as its agents to compute the amounts of the In Lieu Payments, to receive such payments from the Company and to disburse such paym...
	3. UPayments in Lieu of TaxesU.  After receipt of the Tax Bill, the Company shall pay to the Treasurer and the Trustee the amount indicated on the Tax Bill which amount shall be determined in accordance with the provisions set forth below in Paragraph...
	4. UAmount of Payments by the CompanUy.  For the ten (10) year period covering and inclusive of years 2017 through 2026 (the “Tax Abatement Period”), the Company shall make In Lieu Payments with respect to the Project in an amount, as determined by th...
	For the avoidance of doubt, the parties intend that the Company shall make (i) In Lieu Payments in an amount equal to one hundred percent (100%) of all ad valorem taxes that would be dedicated to the support of the County school system, which the Comp...
	For any of its portion of the Property other than the Project, the Company shall make In Lieu Payments in an amount, as determined by the Assessor, the Treasurer and the Trustee, equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the amount of taxes that would ha...
	For any periods before the Tax Abatement Period or after the Tax Abatement Period that the Property is owned by the Board and leased to the Company, the Company shall make In Lieu Payments in an amount, as determined by the Assessor, the Treasurer and...
	Notwithstanding the above, any amounts assessed as property taxes against the Property shall be credited against any In Lieu Payments due under this Agreement.

	5. UPenalties and Late ChargesU.  The Company shall make its In Lieu Payments for each year during the term before March 1 of the following year.  All In Lieu Payments shall be subject to penalties, late charges, fees and interest charges as follows:
	(a) If the Company fails to make its In Lieu Payment when due, and such failure to pay shall continue and not be fully paid within thirty (30) days after written notice of such non-payment has been provided to the Company, then a late charge shall be ...
	(b) If the Company should fail to pay all amounts and late charges due as provided hereinabove, then the Board, the City or the County may bring suit against the Company in the Chancery Court of Hamilton County to seek to recover the In Lieu Payments ...
	6. UMinimum Requirements; Annual Review; Increase in Amount of In Lieu PaymentsU.
	(a) UMinimum RequirementsU.  The Company must meet one hundred percent (100%) of the Minimum Job Requirement and the Minimum Investment Requirement by January 1, 2020 (the “Determination Date”) and during each calendar year thereafter during the Tax A...
	(b) UAnnual Employment Review.U  If (i) the Company fails to achieve the Minimum Jobs Requirement or (ii) the Related Company fails to achieve the Related Project Minimum Jobs Requirement during the calendar year in which the Determination Date occurs...
	UExample 1U:
	Total number of full-time jobs as of January 1, 2020 = 120
	Minimum Job Requirement = 109
	No increase in In Lieu Payments for 2020
	(Minimum Job Requirement has been exceeded)
	UExample 2U:
	Total number of full-time jobs as of January 1, 2020 = 100
	Minimum Job Requirement = 109
	Company’s Job Performance = 91.7%
	Job In Lieu Payment Percentage Increase for 2020 = 8.3%
	(In Lieu Payment Percentages for 2020 for City General Fund and County General Fund may each be increased by 8.3%)
	(c) UAnnual Investment ReviewU.  If (i) the Company fails to achieve the Minimum Investment Requirement or (ii) the Related Company fails to achieve the Related Project Minimum Investment Requirement, during the calendar year in which the Determinatio...
	UExample 3U:
	Total amount of capital investment through January 1, 2020 = $35,000,000
	Minimum Investment Requirement = $31,280,000
	No increase in In Lieu Payments for 2020 (Minimum Investment Requirement has been exceeded)
	UExample 4U:
	Total amount of capital investment through January 1, 2020 = $30,000,000
	Minimum Investment Requirement = $31,280,000
	Company’s Investment Performance = 95.9%
	Investment In Lieu Payment Percentage Increase for 2020 = 4.1%
	(In Lieu Payment Percentages for 2020 for City General Fund and County General Fund may each be increased by 4.1%)
	Such formula shall be evaluated on an annual basis until the Minimum Investment Requirement has been met or exceeded, whereupon no further evaluations or increase in the amount of the In Lieu Payments pursuant to this Section 6(c) shall occur.
	(d) USingle Adjustment Regarding Tax Abatement; Issuance of Supplemental Bill to the CompanyU.  If both the annual employment review under Section 6(b) and the investment review under Section 6(c) for any calendar year indicate an increase in the In L...
	(e) UCredit for Related Project “Excess” Minimum Job Requirement and/or Minimum Investment RequirementU. For each calendar year, prior to increasing the In Lieu Payments arising from the Company’s failure to meet the Minimum Job Requirement or the Min...
	(f) UProject ClosureU.  In the event the Project or the Related Project closes or moves from the County during the Tax Abatement Period, the City and the County reserve the right to immediately terminate the tax abatements provided by this Agreement a...

	7. UDisbursements by the Treasurer and TrusteeU.  All sums received by the Treasurer pursuant to Paragraph 3 for the benefit of the City general fund shall be disbursed to the general funds of the City in accordance with this paragraph and in accordan...
	8. UEconomic Development Lease Payment
	(a) UCity of ChattanoogaU. For each calendar year beginning with 2017 in which the In Lieu Payment Percentage as to the City General Fund (see chart in Section 4) is less than 100%, an economic development lease payment (an “Economic Development Payme...
	The Treasurer shall disburse the City’s Economic Development Payment to the City of Chattanooga’s Industrial Development Board.  The City of Chattanooga’s Industrial Development Board shall hold such funds to be used for economic development purposes,...
	(b) UHamilton CountyU. For each calendar year beginning with 2017 in which the In Lieu Payment Percentage as to the County General Fund (see chart in Section 4) is less than 100%, an Economic Development Payment to the County equal to 12.53% of the Co...
	The Trustee shall not deduct any part of the Economic Development Payment from the School Portion of the In Lieu Payments.  The Trustee shall disburse the County’s Economic Development Payment to the County, and the County shall hold such funds to be ...
	9. UContest by the CompanyU.  The Company shall each have the right to contest the appraisal or assessment of the Property by the Assessor, the computation by the Treasurer and the Trustee of the amount of the In Lieu Payment and the calculation of th...
	10. ULien on the PropertyU.  Any amounts which remain payable under this Agreement shall become a lien on the Property, and such lien shall be enforceable against the Property in the event that any payment owing hereunder is not timely made in accorda...
	11. UTermU.  This Agreement shall become effective on the date that the Board leases the Property to the Company and shall continue for so long as the Board holds title to any of the Property and leases such property to the Company or the Company has ...
	12. ULeasehold TaxationU.  The Board, the City, the County, the Treasurer, the Trustee and the Assessor acknowledge and agree that the Company’s personal property leasehold interest in the Personal Property under the Leases shall not be subject to ass...
	13. UNotices, etcU.  All notices and other communications provided for hereunder shall be written (including facsimile transmission and telex), and mailed or sent via facsimile transmission or delivered addressed as follows:
	Any such person may, by notice given hereunder, designate any further or different addresses to which subsequent notices, certificates or other communication shall be sent.  All such notices and communications shall, when mailed by registered and cert...
	14. UNo Waiver; RemediesU.  No failure on the part of any party hereto, and no delay in exercising any right under this Agreement shall operate as a waiver thereof; nor shall any single or partial exercise of any right under this Agreement preclude an...
	15. USeverabilityU.  In the event that any clause or provision of this Agreement shall be held to be invalid by any court or jurisdiction, the invalidity of any such clause or provision shall not affect any of the remaining provisions of this Agreement.
	16. UNo Liability of Board’s OfficersU.  No recourse under or upon any obligation, covenant or agreement contained in this Agreement shall be had against any incorporator, member, director or officer, as such, of the Board, whether past, present or fu...
	17. UBinding EffectU.  This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of each of the parties and signatories hereto and to their respective successors and assigns.
	18. UGoverning LawU.  The Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of Tennessee.
	19. UAmendmentsU.  This Agreement may be amended only in writing, signed by each of the parties hereto, except that the Treasurer, the Trustee and the Assessor shall not be required to join in amendments unless such amendments affect their respective ...
	20. UAnnual ReportU. On or before January 31 of each year this Agreement is in effect, the Company shall provide a report to the Mayor of the City and the Mayor of the County summarizing its investment in the Property and the development and operation...
	21. UStormwater FeesU.  The Company shall be responsible for all stormwater fees assessed by the City against the Property.

	715-17_S_Rheubin Taylor_Gestamp building Pilot Agreement_1677_Attachment III
	1. UDesignation of Assessor; Appraisal and Assessment of PropertyU.  The Board hereby designates the Assessor as its agent to appraise and assess the Property.  The Assessor shall appraise and assess the Property in accordance with the Constitution an...
	2. UComputation and Billing of Payments In Lieu of TaxesU.  The Board hereby designates the Treasurer and the Trustee and as its agents to compute the amounts of the In Lieu Payments, to receive such payments from the Company and to disburse such paym...
	3. UPayments in Lieu of TaxesU.  After receipt of the Tax Bill, the Company shall pay to the Treasurer and the Trustee the amount indicated on the Tax Bill which amount shall be determined in accordance with the provisions set forth below in Paragraph...
	4. UAmount of Payments by the CompanUy.  For the ten (10) year period covering and inclusive of years 2017 through 2026 (the “Tax Abatement Period”), the Company shall make In Lieu Payments with respect to the Project in an amount, as determined by th...
	For the avoidance of doubt, the parties intend that the Company shall make (i) In Lieu Payments in an amount equal to one hundred percent (100%) of all ad valorem taxes that would be dedicated to the support of the County school system, which the Comp...
	For any of its portion of the Property other than the Project, the Company shall make In Lieu Payments in an amount, as determined by the Assessor, the Treasurer and the Trustee, equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the amount of taxes that would ha...
	For any periods before the Tax Abatement Period or after the Tax Abatement Period that the Property is owned by the Board and leased to the Company, the Company shall make In Lieu Payments in an amount, as determined by the Assessor, the Treasurer and...
	Notwithstanding the above, any amounts assessed as property taxes against the Property shall be credited against any In Lieu Payments due under this Agreement.

	5. UPenalties and Late ChargesU.  The Company shall make its In Lieu Payments for each year during the term before March 1 of the following year.  All In Lieu Payments shall be subject to penalties, late charges, fees and interest charges as follows:
	(a) If the Company fails to make its In Lieu Payment when due, and such failure to pay shall continue and not be fully paid within thirty (30) days after written notice of such non-payment has been provided to the Company, then a late charge shall be ...
	(b) If the Company should fail to pay all amounts and late charges due as provided hereinabove, then the Board, the City or the County may bring suit against the Company in the Chancery Court of Hamilton County to seek to recover the In Lieu Payments ...
	6. UMinimum Requirements; Annual Review; Increase in Amount of In Lieu PaymentsU.
	(a) UMinimum RequirementsU.  The Company must meet one hundred percent (100%) of the Minimum Job Requirement and the Minimum Investment Requirement by January 1, 2020 (the “Determination Date”) and during each calendar year thereafter during the Tax A...
	(b) UAnnual Employment Review.U  If (i) the Company fails to achieve the Minimum Jobs Requirement or (ii) the Related Company fails to achieve the Related Project Minimum Jobs Requirement, during the calendar year in which the Determination Date occur...
	UExample 1U:
	Total number of full-time jobs as of January 1, 2020 = 310
	Minimum Job Requirement = 300
	No increase in In Lieu Payments for 2020
	(Minimum Job Requirement has been exceeded)
	UExample 2U:
	Total number of full-time jobs as of January 1, 2020 = 290
	Minimum Job Requirement = 300
	Company’s Job Performance = 96.67%
	Job In Lieu Payment Percentage Increase for 2020 = 3.33%
	(In Lieu Payment Percentages for 2020 for City General Fund and County General Fund may each be increased by 3.33%)
	(c) UAnnual Investment ReviewU.  If (i) the Company fails to achieve the Minimum Investment Requirement or (ii) the Related Company fails to achieve the Related Project Minimum Investment Requirement, during the calendar year in which the Determinatio...
	UExample 3U:
	Total amount of capital investment through January 1, 2020 = $120,000,000
	Minimum Investment Requirement = $112,720,000
	No increase in In Lieu Payments for 2020 (Minimum Investment Requirement has been exceeded)
	UExample 4U:
	Total amount of capital investment through January 1, 2020 = $100,000,000
	Minimum Investment Requirement = $112,720,000
	Company’s Investment Performance = 88.7%
	Investment In Lieu Payment Percentage Increase for 2020 = 11.3%
	(In Lieu Payment Percentages for 2020 for City General Fund and County General Fund may each be increased by 11.3%)
	Such formula shall be evaluated on an annual basis until the Minimum Investment Requirement has been met or exceeded, whereupon no further evaluations or increase in the amount of the In Lieu Payments pursuant to this Section 6(c) shall occur.
	(d) USingle Adjustment Regarding Tax Abatement; Issuance of Supplemental Bill to the CompanyU.  If both the annual employment review under Section 6(b) and the investment review under Section 6(c) for any calendar year indicate an increase in the In L...
	(e) UCredit for Related Project “Excess” Minimum Job Requirement and/or Minimum Investment RequirementU. For each calendar year, prior to increasing the In Lieu Payments arising from the Company’s failure to meet the Minimum Job Requirement or the Min...
	(f) UProject ClosureU.  In the event the Project or the Related Project closes or moves from the County during the Tax Abatement Period, the City and the County reserve the right to immediately terminate the tax abatements provided by this Agreement a...

	7. UDisbursements by the Treasurer and TrusteeU.  All sums received by the Treasurer pursuant to Paragraph 3 for the benefit of the City general fund shall be disbursed to the general funds of the City in accordance with this paragraph and in accordan...
	8. UEconomic Development Lease Payment
	(a) UCity of ChattanoogaU. For each calendar year beginning with 2017 in which the In Lieu Payment Percentage as to the City General Fund (see chart in Section 4) is less than 100%, an economic development lease payment (an “Economic Development Payme...
	The Treasurer shall disburse the City’s Economic Development Payment to the City of Chattanooga’s Industrial Development Board.  The City of Chattanooga’s Industrial Development Board shall hold such funds to be used for economic development purposes,...
	(b) UHamilton CountyU. For each calendar year beginning with 2017 in which the In Lieu Payment Percentage as to the County General Fund (see chart in Section 4) is less than 100%, an Economic Development Payment to the County equal to 12.53% of the Co...
	The Trustee shall not deduct any part of the Economic Development Payment from the School Portion of the In Lieu Payments.  The Trustee shall disburse the County’s Economic Development Payment to the County, and the County shall hold such funds to be ...
	9. UContest by the CompanyU.  The Company shall each have the right to contest the appraisal or assessment of the Property by the Assessor, the computation by the Treasurer and the Trustee of the amount of the In Lieu Payment and the calculation of th...
	10. ULien on the PropertyU.  Any amounts which remain payable under this Agreement shall become a lien on the Property, and such lien shall be enforceable against the Property in the event that any payment owing hereunder is not timely made in accorda...
	11. UTermU.  This Agreement shall become effective on the date that the Board leases the Property to the Company and shall continue for so long as the Board holds title to any of the Property and leases such property to the Company or the Company has ...
	12. ULeasehold TaxationU.  The Board, the City, the County, the Treasurer, the Trustee and the Assessor acknowledge and agree that the Company’s personal property leasehold interest in the Personal Property under the Leases shall not be subject to ass...
	13. UNotices, etcU.  All notices and other communications provided for hereunder shall be written (including facsimile transmission and telex), and mailed or sent via facsimile transmission or delivered addressed as follows:
	Any such person may, by notice given hereunder, designate any further or different addresses to which subsequent notices, certificates or other communication shall be sent.  All such notices and communications shall, when mailed by registered and cert...
	14. UNo Waiver; RemediesU.  No failure on the part of any party hereto, and no delay in exercising any right under this Agreement shall operate as a waiver thereof; nor shall any single or partial exercise of any right under this Agreement preclude an...
	15. USeverabilityU.  In the event that any clause or provision of this Agreement shall be held to be invalid by any court or jurisdiction, the invalidity of any such clause or provision shall not affect any of the remaining provisions of this Agreement.
	16. UNo Liability of Board’s OfficersU.  No recourse under or upon any obligation, covenant or agreement contained in this Agreement shall be had against any incorporator, member, director or officer, as such, of the Board, whether past, present or fu...
	17. UBinding EffectU.  This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of each of the parties and signatories hereto and to their respective successors and assigns.
	18. UGoverning LawU.  The Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of Tennessee.
	19. UAmendmentsU.  This Agreement may be amended only in writing, signed by each of the parties hereto, except that the Treasurer, the Trustee and the Assessor shall not be required to join in amendments unless such amendments affect their respective ...
	20. UAnnual ReportU. On or before January 31 of each year this Agreement is in effect, the Company shall provide a report to the Mayor of the City and the Mayor of the County summarizing its investment in the Property and the development and operation...
	21. UStormwater FeesU.  The Company shall be responsible for all stormwater fees assessed by the City against the Property.

	715-17_S_Rheubin Taylor_Gestamp building Pilot Agreement_1677_Attachment IV
	1. UDesignation of Assessor; Appraisal and Assessment of PropertyU.  The Board hereby designates the Assessor as its agent to appraise and assess the Property.  The Assessor shall appraise and assess the Property in accordance with the Constitution an...
	2. UComputation and Billing of Payments In Lieu of TaxesU.  The Board hereby designates the Treasurer and the Trustee and as its agents to compute the amounts of the In Lieu Payments, to receive such payments from the Company and to disburse such paym...
	3. UPayments in Lieu of TaxesU.  After receipt of the Tax Bill, the Company shall pay to the Treasurer and the Trustee the amount indicated on the Tax Bill which amount shall be determined in accordance with the provisions set forth below in Paragraph...
	4. UAmount of Payments by the CompanUy.  For the ten (10) year period covering and inclusive of years 2017 through 2026 (the “Tax Abatement Period”), the Company shall make In Lieu Payments with respect to the Project in an amount, as determined by th...
	For the avoidance of doubt, the parties intend that the Company shall make (i) In Lieu Payments in an amount equal to one hundred percent (100%) of all ad valorem taxes that would be dedicated to the support of the County school system, which the Comp...
	For any of its portion of the Property other than the Project, the Company shall make In Lieu Payments in an amount, as determined by the Assessor, the Treasurer and the Trustee, equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the amount of taxes that would ha...
	For any periods before the Tax Abatement Period or after the Tax Abatement Period that the Property is owned by the Board and leased to the Company, the Company shall make In Lieu Payments in an amount, as determined by the Assessor, the Treasurer and...
	Notwithstanding the above, any amounts assessed as property taxes against the Property shall be credited against any In Lieu Payments due under this Agreement.

	5. UPenalties and Late ChargesU.  The Company shall make its In Lieu Payments for each year during the term before March 1 of the following year.  All In Lieu Payments shall be subject to penalties, late charges, fees and interest charges as follows:
	(a) If the Company fails to make its In Lieu Payment when due, and such failure to pay shall continue and not be fully paid within thirty (30) days after written notice of such non-payment has been provided to the Company, then a late charge shall be ...
	(b) If the Company should fail to pay all amounts and late charges due as provided hereinabove, then the Board, the City or the County may bring suit against the Company in the Chancery Court of Hamilton County to seek to recover the In Lieu Payments ...
	6. UMinimum Requirements; Annual Review; Increase in Amount of In Lieu PaymentsU.
	(a) UMinimum RequirementsU.  The Company must meet one hundred percent (100%) of the Minimum Job Requirement and the Minimum Investment Requirement by January 1, 2020 (the “Determination Date”) and during each calendar year thereafter during the Tax A...
	(b) UAnnual Employment Review.U  If (i) the Company fails to achieve the Minimum Jobs Requirement or (ii) the Related Company fails to achieve the Related Project Minimum Jobs Requirement, during the calendar year in which the Determination Date occur...
	UExample 1U:
	Total number of full-time jobs as of January 1, 2020 = 310
	Minimum Job Requirement = 300
	No increase in In Lieu Payments for 2020
	(Minimum Job Requirement has been exceeded)
	UExample 2U:
	Total number of full-time jobs as of January 1, 2020 = 290
	Minimum Job Requirement = 300
	Company’s Job Performance = 96.67%
	Job In Lieu Payment Percentage Increase for 2020 = 3.33%
	(In Lieu Payment Percentages for 2020 for City General Fund and County General Fund may each be increased by 3.33%)
	(c) UAnnual Investment ReviewU.  If (i) the Company fails to achieve the Minimum Investment Requirement or (ii) the Related Company fails to achieve the Related Project Minimum Investment Requirement, during the calendar year in which the Determinatio...
	UExample 3U:
	Total amount of capital investment through January 1, 2020 = $120,000,000
	Minimum Investment Requirement = $112,720,000
	No increase in In Lieu Payments for 2020 (Minimum Investment Requirement has been exceeded)
	UExample 4U:
	Total amount of capital investment through January 1, 2020 = $100,000,000
	Minimum Investment Requirement = $112,720,000
	Company’s Investment Performance = 88.7%
	Investment In Lieu Payment Percentage Increase for 2020 = 11.3%
	(In Lieu Payment Percentages for 2020 for City General Fund and County General Fund may each be increased by 11.3%)
	Such formula shall be evaluated on an annual basis until the Minimum Investment Requirement has been met or exceeded, whereupon no further evaluations or increase in the amount of the In Lieu Payments pursuant to this Section 6(c) shall occur.
	(d) USingle Adjustment Regarding Tax Abatement; Issuance of Supplemental Bill to the CompanyU.  If both the annual employment review under Section 6(b) and the investment review under Section 6(c) for any calendar year indicate an increase in the In L...
	(e) UCredit for Related Project “Excess” Minimum Job Requirement and/or Minimum Investment RequirementU. For each calendar year, prior to increasing the In Lieu Payments arising from the Company’s failure to meet the Minimum Job Requirement or the Min...
	(f) UProject ClosureU.  In the event the Project or the Related Project closes or moves from the County during the Tax Abatement Period, the City and the County reserve the right to immediately terminate the tax abatements provided by this Agreement a...

	7. UDisbursements by the Treasurer and TrusteeU.  All sums received by the Treasurer pursuant to Paragraph 3 for the benefit of the City general fund shall be disbursed to the general funds of the City in accordance with this paragraph and in accordan...
	8. UEconomic Development Lease Payment
	(a) UCity of ChattanoogaU. For each calendar year beginning with 2017 in which the In Lieu Payment Percentage as to the City General Fund (see chart in Section 4) is less than 100%, an economic development lease payment (an “Economic Development Payme...
	The Treasurer shall disburse the City’s Economic Development Payment to the City of Chattanooga’s Industrial Development Board.  The City of Chattanooga’s Industrial Development Board shall hold such funds to be used for economic development purposes,...
	(b) UHamilton CountyU. For each calendar year beginning with 2017 in which the In Lieu Payment Percentage as to the County General Fund (see chart in Section 4) is less than 100%, an Economic Development Payment to the County equal to 12.53% of the Co...
	The Trustee shall not deduct any part of the Economic Development Payment from the School Portion of the In Lieu Payments.  The Trustee shall disburse the County’s Economic Development Payment to the County, and the County shall hold such funds to be ...
	9. UContest by the CompanyU.  The Company shall each have the right to contest the appraisal or assessment of the Property by the Assessor, the computation by the Treasurer and the Trustee of the amount of the In Lieu Payment and the calculation of th...
	10. ULien on the PropertyU.  Any amounts which remain payable under this Agreement shall become a lien on the Property, and such lien shall be enforceable against the Property in the event that any payment owing hereunder is not timely made in accorda...
	11. UTermU.  This Agreement shall become effective on the date that the Board leases the Property to the Company and shall continue for so long as the Board holds title to any of the Property and leases such property to the Company or the Company has ...
	12. ULeasehold TaxationU.  The Board, the City, the County, the Treasurer, the Trustee and the Assessor acknowledge and agree that the Company’s personal property leasehold interest in the Personal Property under the Leases shall not be subject to ass...
	13. UNotices, etcU.  All notices and other communications provided for hereunder shall be written (including facsimile transmission and telex), and mailed or sent via facsimile transmission or delivered addressed as follows:
	Any such person may, by notice given hereunder, designate any further or different addresses to which subsequent notices, certificates or other communication shall be sent.  All such notices and communications shall, when mailed by registered and cert...
	14. UNo Waiver; RemediesU.  No failure on the part of any party hereto, and no delay in exercising any right under this Agreement shall operate as a waiver thereof; nor shall any single or partial exercise of any right under this Agreement preclude an...
	15. USeverabilityU.  In the event that any clause or provision of this Agreement shall be held to be invalid by any court or jurisdiction, the invalidity of any such clause or provision shall not affect any of the remaining provisions of this Agreement.
	16. UNo Liability of Board’s OfficersU.  No recourse under or upon any obligation, covenant or agreement contained in this Agreement shall be had against any incorporator, member, director or officer, as such, of the Board, whether past, present or fu...
	17. UBinding EffectU.  This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of each of the parties and signatories hereto and to their respective successors and assigns.
	18. UGoverning LawU.  The Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of Tennessee.
	19. UAmendmentsU.  This Agreement may be amended only in writing, signed by each of the parties hereto, except that the Treasurer, the Trustee and the Assessor shall not be required to join in amendments unless such amendments affect their respective ...
	20. UAnnual ReportU. On or before January 31 of each year this Agreement is in effect, the Company shall provide a report to the Mayor of the City and the Mayor of the County summarizing its investment in the Property and the development and operation...
	21. UStormwater FeesU.  The Company shall be responsible for all stormwater fees assessed by the City against the Property.


